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As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Berkshire Grey” and the 
“Company” refer Berkshire Grey, Inc. (f/k/a Revolution Acceleration Acquisition Corp), a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries following the effective time 
of the Merger Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2021, by and among RAAC, Pickup Merger Corp and Legacy Berkshire Grey (the “Merger Agreement”). Unless the context 
otherwise requires, references to “RAAC” refer to Revolution Acceleration Acquisition Corp, a Delaware corporation, prior to the effective time of the Merger Agreement, and 
references to “Legacy Berkshire Grey” refer to Berkshire Grey, Inc. (currently known as Berkshire Grey Operating Company, Inc.), a Delaware corporation, prior to the 
effective time of the Merger Agreement.
  

CAUTIONARY NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
  

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, our business strategy, the 
realization of our order backlog, plans and prospects, existing and prospective products, research and development costs, timing and likelihood of success, and plans, market 
growth, trends, events and our objectives of management for future operations and results, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
  

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” 
“project,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions. The forward-looking statements 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are only predictions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future 
events and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are subject to a number of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking 
statements. Important factors, among others, that may affect actual results or outcomes include:
  

•the expected benefits from the business combination pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement (the “Business Combination”);

•our plans to develop and commercialize our product candidates;

•our ability to continue to develop new innovations to meet constantly evolving customer demands;

•our expectations regarding the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on our business, industry and the economy;

•our estimates regarding future expenses, revenue, earnings, margin, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

•our expectations regarding the growth of our business, including the potential size of the total addressable market;

•our ability to maintain and establish collaborations or obtain additional funding;

•our ability to obtain funding for our future operations and working capital requirements and expectations regarding the sufficiency of our capital resources;

•the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business following the Business Combination;

•our intellectual property position and the duration of our patent rights;

•developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•our ability to compete in the markets we serve;

•our expectations regarding its entry into new markets;
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•competition in our industry, the advantages of our solutions and technology over competing products and technology existing in the market and competitive factors, 
including with respect to technological capabilities, cost and scalability;

•the impact of government laws and regulations and liabilities thereunder;

•our need to hire additional personnel and our ability to attract and retain such personnel;

•our ability to raise financing in the future; and

•the anticipated use of our cash and cash equivalents.
  

The risks and uncertainties set forth above are not exhaustive. Other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Part II, 
Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” discuss these and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results 
and events to differ materially from such forward-looking statements.  Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of any new information, future events, changed circumstances, or otherwise. 
  
  

SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS
The risk factors detailed in Part I, Item 1A entitled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the risks that we believe are material to our investors, and a 

reader should carefully consider them. Those risks are not all of the risks that we face, and other factors not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial 
may also affect our business if they occur. The following is a summary of the risk factors detailed in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
  

•We have incurred net losses in every year since our inception, we anticipate expenses will increase in the future and we may not be able to achieve or maintain 
profitability.

•We have generated substantially all of our revenue to date, and expect to generate a significant portion of our future revenue, from a limited number of customers.

•The substantial majority of our contracts by revenue permit our customers to terminate their orders or such customer relationship for convenience, and such terminations, 
if effected, would adversely affect our future revenues and could have a significant negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

•We have generated substantially all of our revenue to date from three product solutions. We may experience significant delays in the design, development, production 
and launch of new solutions, and we may be unable to successfully commercialize additional solutions as we expect.

•Our mobile solutions use lithium-ion battery cells, which have been observed to catch fire or vent smoke and flame in limited circumstances, which may lead to concerns 
about the batteries we use and have a negative impact on our sales or our reputation.

•Our business may not grow as rapidly as we expect if we do not successfully develop new sales channels.

•If our limited number of third-party manufacturers experience any delay, disruption or quality control problems in their operations, we could lose market share and our 
brand may be damaged.

•Our existing and planned global operations subject us to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business and operating results.

•Some of our solutions may contain customer-specific provisions that may impact the period in which we recognize the related revenue under GAAP.

•Any unauthorized control or manipulation of our solutions or robots, or theft or vandalism of our robots, could negatively impact our ability to conduct business and 
compromise the integrity of our solutions, resulting in significant data losses to our Company and our customers or the theft of intellectual property, damage to our 
reputation and significant liability to third parties.

•Laws and regulations governing the robotics and AI automation industries are still developing and may restrict our business or increase the costs of our solutions.
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•Global economic, political and social conditions and uncertainties in the markets that we serve, including risks and uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, 
may adversely impact our business.

•We may incur substantial costs and challenges enforcing and defending our intellectual property rights.

•Disruption or failure of our networks, systems or technology as a result of computer viruses or malicious code, cyber-attacks, misappropriation of data or other 
malfeasance or cybersecurity incidents, as well as outages, natural disasters, terrorist attacks, accidental releases of information or similar events could disrupt our 
business or result in the loss of critical and confidential information.

•Litigation or investigations involving our company could result in material settlements, fines or penalties and may adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

•Our solutions have a limited operating history, and any defects in our solutions may give rise to warranty or other claims that could result in material expenses, diversion 
of management time and attention and damage to our reputation.

•If we fail to grow our business as we expect, or if market adoption of AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions does not continue to develop, or develops more 
slowly than we expect, our revenue, gross margin and operating margin will be adversely affected. If we grow our business as we expect but fail to effectively manage 
our growth, our business may be harmed, and our results of operation may be adversely impacted.

•We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

•The competition for qualified personnel is particularly intense in our industry. In addition, we may make changes to our executive personnel as our needs evolve. If we 
are unable to retain or hire executive and other key personnel, we may not be able to sustain or grow our business.

•Our management team will have broad discretion in making strategic decisions to execute their growth plans, and there can be no assurance that our management’s 
decisions will result in successful achievement of our business objectives or will not have unintended consequences that negatively impact our growth prospects.

•We have a broad range of competitors, including automation and robotics suppliers, more diversified technology providers and providers of alternative products, which 
could adversely impact the price of our solutions and our ability to increase our market share.

•Our ability to utilize net operating losses from prior tax years to offset our taxable income may be limited.

•Our warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of our warrants could have a material effect on our financial results.

•In connection with the Business Combination, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 and March 31, 
2021. If we are unable to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely 
manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating results.

•The price of our Class A common stock has fluctuated in the past, has recently been volatile and may be volatile in the future, and as a result, investors in our Class A 
common stock could incur substantial losses.

•Future sales, or the perception of future sales, of our Class A common stock or securities convertible into shares of our Class A common stock by us or our existing 
stockholders in the public market could cause the market price for our Class A common stock and warrants to decline.

•We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and if we take advantage of certain 
exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies or smaller reporting companies, this could make our securities less attractive to 
investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public companies.

•Certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions, in our governing documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us more difficult, limit 
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our Class A common stock and warrants.
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•Our Bylaws designate the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, 
which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees.

 
PART I

Item 1. Business.

Company Overview 

Berkshire Grey is an Intelligent Enterprise Robotics (“IER”) company pioneering and delivering transformative AI-enabled robotic solutions that automate filling 
ecommerce orders for consumers or businesses, filling orders to resupply retail stores and grocery stores, and handling packages shipped to fill those orders. Our solutions 
transform supply chain operations and enable our customers to meet and exceed the demands of today’s connected consumers and businesses. 

Our IER capabilities are grounded in patented and proprietary technologies for robotic picking (each picking or unit handling), robotic sortation (sortation of individual 
products, orders and parcels), robotic movement and mobility (movement and storage of orders and goods), and system orchestration which enables various intelligent 
subsystems to work together so that the right work is being done at the right time to meet our customer’s needs. We are a technology leader in robotics and AI automation with 
an intellectual property position buttressed by trade secrets and protected in part by 120 patents issued and 285 patents pending in technologies including robotic picking, 
mobility, gripping, sensing and perception, general robot control, and differentiated supporting mechanisms. Our proprietary technologies enable us to offer holistic solutions 
that automate supply chain operations. Our solutions include moving goods to robots that then pick and pack ecommerce or retail orders, robotically moving and organizing 
inventory and orders within a warehouse or logistics facility, and robotically sorting packages and shipments. 

We deliver solutions. We are not a component technology company nor are we a conventional systems integrator. Instead, we create products from the technologies we 
pioneer and develop, and then incorporate the products (product modules) into solutions that meet customer performance metrics requirements such as throughput and accuracy 
rates. Once installed, our solutions meet or exceed performance specifications “out-of-the-box” and do not need to be pre-programed to perform its function. Our solutions 
address entire process functions within a warehouse or order fulfilment operation, which enables customers to focus on the core of their business and creates attractive returns 
for them. We also offer our customers post-installation support in the form of software updates as well as professional services including maintenance, system operation, and 
cloud-based monitoring and analytics. Because of our modular approach to solutions and the role of our software, we offer customers the ability to incrementally add to or 
modify solutions, and we can incorporate outside technologies with our product modules if desired. Further, since our solutions are modular, our systems can be implemented in 
both brownfield and greenfield sites while mitigating disruption to existing operations. We offer customers a range of purchase options including a robotics-as-a-service 
(“RaaS”) program that minimizes the up-front capital required when compared to conventional equipment purchase models. We also expect to realize recurring revenues from 
software maintenance and other services offered to our customers post-installation. 

We created these technologies, product modules, and solutions to support our customers at a time that supply chain operations are under increasing competitive 
pressures driven by changes in consumer expectations related to the growth of ecommerce. According to LogistisIQ, global ecommerce sales have grown at a CAGR of 20% 
over the last decade, reaching approximately $3.5 trillion worldwide in 2019 and are expected to grow to approximately $7.5 trillion by 2026. Today’s consumers expect large 
numbers of items to choose from, fast fulfillment, “free” shipping, limited or zero substitutes, and rapid delivery of goods. These consumer expectations put significant 
pressures on conventional supply chain operations, and it is these pressures that Berkshire Grey technologies help customers address. 

Just as consumer expectations have changed, so too must the underlying supply chain technologies. Retailers, eCommerce companies, and logistics companies are 
being asked for increased performance at the same time that competitive pressures and labor availability issues are pronounced. The top three industry challenges, per a recent 
MHI study, are labor availability, increasing consumer demands, and increasing competitive intensity. With our AI-enabled technologies, product modules, and solutions, 
customers can better meet increasing consumer demands and maximize the abilities of human workers, and can do so competitively. 

We believe that the addressable opportunity for Berkshire Grey technology, product modules, and solutions is large. Based on labor consuming approximately 65% of 
warehousing spend (F. Curtis Barry & Company) and total annual global 
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warehouse spend of $350 billion (McKinsey), global annual spending on warehouse labor is approximately $230 billion, which represents manual labor associated with 
processes that can be automated with our technology. Further, according to Mordor Intelligence, $56 billion is spent annually on automated material handling equipment 
globally, representing additional market opportunity for our technology. These two factors together yield an addressable market for our technology, product modules, and 
solutions of approximately $280 billion annually. 

To date, most of our deployments have been with large, Fortune 50 companies, where our technology and solutions in production have achieved targeted metrics 
including throughput, accuracy, equipment effectiveness, and others. Our significant customers include Walmart, Target, FedEx,  and TJX. Since inception, our customers have 
ordered approximately $200 million of systems from us, and as of December 31, 2021 we had orders of approximately $105 million in backlog that we expect to deliver and 
install during 2022 and early 2023. In 2021 Target Corporation, TJX, and FedEx, comprised approximately 32%, 27%, and 14% of our revenue, respectively, and in 2020 Target 
Corporation and SoftBank Robotics Corp., an affiliate of SB SVF II, a related party of Berkshire Grey, comprised approximately 70% and 30% of our revenue, respectively. 

While we have more than a dozen product module offerings incorporating AI and other advanced technologies, we continue to develop new technologies and product 
modules. The strength of our team enables this continuous development — of our approximately 400 employees as of December 31, 2021, approximately 85% have technical 
degrees, approximately 55% have advanced degrees and over 30 employees have PhD’s. Our engineering team has well over 1,000 years of combined robotics experience. 

Industry Background 

According to Statistica, there are almost 19,000 warehouse facilities in the United States, and it is these facilities that represent a critical link in the commerce supply 
chain. The flow of goods throughout a warehouse or logistics facility typically starts with receiving products in bulk and ends with items exiting the facility by shipping items 
either in different bulk bundles or as single units depending on the use case. When items arrive at the warehouse they are generally unpacked, counted, and stored. When an 
ecommerce or store order arrives, goods are picked to meet that order, which is typically in batches of several orders at a time. The batches of picked goods are then sorted into 
their respective orders, packed into boxes, and shipped to stores or individual consumers. The process is generally similar for ecommerce and retail replenishment purposes and 
there are many similarities and parallels in package sortation facilities used by logistics companies. Today, most facilities utilize human labor to perform these functions, which 
creates challenges for businesses when labor is scarce or when labor requirements fluctuate during peak seasons. The figure below illustrates the prototypical flow of goods 
within a warehouse. 
  

 

These are all processes that can be made more efficient with automation, in whole or in part, with our IER capabilities and specific solutions. Movement and mobility 
provide a common underlying substrate that enable goods to flow through the various processes while picking provides the ability to automate the item or smaller unit handling 
steps. Other providers’ systems or components that address only a portion of the value chain, e.g., a unique robotic gripper or even an individual mobile robot that, for example, 
only carries picked totes, by definition, support only that specific operation and have less potential to support the customer and have a smaller total addressable market. 

Over the last several years, there has been a significant evolution of the retail industry, driven by changing demographics and a shift from shopping in conventional 
brick-and-mortar stores to online to omnichannel commerce fulfillment. Fundamental changes in consumer buying behavior have substantially increased the complexities of 
supply chains, order fulfillment processes and logistics. Consumers are demanding greater product choice and availability, shorter delivery times, free delivery, and simpler 
return processes. Just as consumer behaviors have changed, the underlying supply 
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chain operations and supporting technologies must change too. Ecommerce is a driving factor in these changes — even impacting brick-and-mortar operations and their 
evolution such as ordering online for pick-up at store and related services. 

Ecommerce is expected to continue to grow rapidly. The COVID-19 pandemic has provided added energy to that growth and transition. Such growth requires 
businesses to innovate their supply chains. Large companies such as Amazon have accelerated this phenomenon. Amazon has grown into the largest ecommerce business in the 
United States and according to Bank of America, Amazon captured more than 44% of the ecommerce market in the United States in 2019. Amazon’s investment in automation 
has enabled this growth. By investing in automation, Amazon has been able to offer its customers a large selection of items with fast fulfillment at competitive cost levels. 
Disruption due to Amazon pertains not just to the consumer behaviors and expectations but to the underlying supply chain operations as well. Other retailers, ecommerce 
companies, grocers, and logistics companies that participate in the same markets must compete. At Berkshire Grey we offer these companies our technology, product modules, 
and solutions to support these needs. 

Intelligent Enterprise Robotics (IER) 

Berkshire Grey has the full portfolio of the capabilities that we believe are necessary to automate supply-chain and logistics enterprises today and enables a fully 
automated potential future. We call this set of capabilities Intelligent Enterprise Robotics, or IER, and we have these capabilities in house and offer solutions that combine these 
capabilities to our customers: 

•Intelligence Software — software platforms which provide AI-enabled capabilities for individual modules, such as picking and mobility, but also that provide 
system-level intelligences and orchestration of such robots to achieve overall system-wide performance. 

•Automated Picking Platform — a platform capable of picking and packing individual items (“eaches”) or units of varying shapes, sizes, density, and material 
types, combined with thoughtful placement and the ability to meet specific requirements such as container density. 

•Intelligent Mobile Robotic Platform — mobile robots which enable goods, bins, totes, cases, orders, boxes, etc., to be efficiently routed and moved utilizing multi-
channel workflow sortation and aisle-friendly sequencing. 

•Amplification Robotics & Automation — amplification and support robots which enact physical work and multiply the benefits of more complex subsystems such 
as picking and autonomous mobility. 

•Cloud Analytics Platform — global data aggregation with multi-modal access providing analytics and reporting on a range of attributes including system 
performance and goods processed. 

•Cloud AI — the AI that operates the various systems and subsystems must be cloud enabled so that they can operate from locations ranging from customer’s server 
rooms to remote hosted platforms. 

•Holistic Sensing and Perception — systems must be capable of understanding the task world, in real time, and responding intelligently to items, situation, and 
context. This includes being able to understand thousands of SKUs and items of different types, understand boxes, bins, and totes, and even difficult to process items 
like polybags, and to determine the state of the broader warehouse and supply chain around them. 

•Enterprise APIs — systems must be able to integrate and communicate with a variety of warehouse management systems (WMS, WES, WCS). 

•Wrapping & Incorporation of Third-Party and Other Legacy Systems — to enable enterprise transformation, systems and product modules must be designed to 
accommodate third-party systems, including robots, and legacy systems, e.g., existing AS/RS systems, where possible, and software must be able to interface with 
said software systems. 

•Brownfield and Greenfield Installation — systems and products must be amenable to both brownfield and greenfield installation. 

•Modularity, Flexibility, and Scalability — systems and products must be incrementally scalable and changeable to meet ever changing needs of the customers by 
adding new modules and robots. 

•Dynamically Adjustable Performance — solutions must have the ability to change performance characteristics of individual modules or the overall system via 
software to accommodate changes as the enterprise grows and changes. 
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•Mobile Data Access for Customers — systems must support mobile monitoring data and analytics so that customers can see and understand operations in real time 
even if offsite and be able to access this information via mobile device such as a cell phone. 

In addition, we believe to best utilize IER capabilities, a company must offer customers a full spectrum of services. Our portfolio of services includes: 

•Full Analysis & Design — we start with an analysis of the customer’s processes, product flows, goods handled, and even the physical layout of their existing 
systems, and use proprietary analysis methodologies and simulation to create solutions using our product modules and technological capabilities for our customers. 

•Installation & Commissioning — we manufacture, install, and commission our systems. At the customer’s request, we can also modify or remove existing 
infrastructure. 

•Professional Services — we offer a full suite of professional services from software updates, to maintenance, to remote monitoring, and even system operation. 

Technology 

While robots are physical and do physical work, algorithms and software produce much of the differentiated performance. Our intelligent algorithms and software 
differentiate Berkshire Grey systems from conventional robotic automation systems and enable us to automate tasks within warehouse and fulfillment center operations that 
have until recently not been automatable.  For example, in manufacturing settings, conventional robotic tasks may include a robot painting a car. Here, the robots are generally 
executing plans by rote – plans that are often simply programmed in advance by a human engineer. The car shape is known, the position of the car is known, and where the 
paint needs to be applied is known. In these cases, the capabilities are not about the robot being intelligent but are instead about the robot being a well-designed device which 
repeats these predefined steps on a predefined shape by rote and does so with high precision. In contrast, robotic systems must self-determine movements and operations online, 
as they operate, because they process many different types of items with one system and the items are presented chaotically in bins, totes, on conveyor belts, etc. In addition, the 
items themselves are not perfectly and consistently modeled or known, e.g., a small change in a label will make an item look slightly different. Where items must be placed in an 
outgoing box, for instance, is also situationally dependent e.g., considering what other items were ordered and what is already in the box are questions the robot must determine 
on its own as it works. 

To produce the returns that our systems generate for our customers, Berkshire Grey employs a wide variety of proprietary AI techniques to enable the robots to scan a 
bin or tote, identify the contents, decide where and how to pick an item up, plan motions to pick up the item, plan motions to the outgoing receptacle, determine where in the 
outgoing receptacle to place the item, and then deposit the item in the determined location. To do this, our systems employ multiple AI subsystems for several key tasks, 
including perception and sensor interpretation, motion planning to move the robot, planning for where and how to pick-up an item, for tracking the system’s execution, and 
other critical aspects of the system’s operation. Our AI technologies also employ machine learning to improve performance over time. However, it is important to note that our 
systems are designed to meet the customers’ performance goals out of the box, and improvements achieved 
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though machine learning benefit the customer over the long-term. We do not require months, years, or even minutes of teleoperation (also known as remote control of the robot 
by manual means) in advance to be effective. 
  

 

To create product modules and solutions that perform useful work in an intelligent fashion, our AI algorithms and software are combined with differentiated hardware 
(which include our robotic pick cells, SpectrumGrippers, Hyperscanners, vision systems, mobile robots, among others) to form product modules as referenced in the figure 
below. Differentiated hardware is important to enable the AI and to enable high-performance execution of the physical task. Patented grippers equipped with sensing and 
compliance in key areas, for instance, inform the AI and unlock its ability to perform the task well. Patented sensors enable the systems to see and process certain items, e.g., 
polybags which are notoriously difficult to handle and process. Our differentiated hardware is protected in part by 120 patents issued and 285 patents pending. The AI 
algorithms and software are trade secrets. These AI algorithms and software are combined with the differentiated hardware, along with selected off-the-shelf components, e.g., 
motors, in specific ways to create product modules. These product modules are generally manufactured by contract manufacturers, to our standards, which enables Berkshire 
Grey to scale more quickly by utilizing multiple contract manufacturers as appropriate. Solutions for our customers are then generated by analyzing customer goods, their 
processes and infrastructure, available physical space, etc., to determine which product modules to utilize and the corresponding appropriate layout and product flow. 
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Product Modules 

Our defined IER product module portfolio includes more than a dozen offerings which are combined to create solutions for our customers. To create product modules 
and solutions that perform useful work in an intelligent fashion, our AI algorithms and software are combined with differentiated hardware to form product modules. Our 
product modules include: 
 

 

Benefits Of Our Solutions 

We believe Berkshire Grey’s technology, product modules, and solutions provide material benefits including: 

•Versatility — Our proprietary hardware and artificial intelligence driven software enables our solutions to handle SKUs, parcels and packaging of many types, 
shapes, colors, and patterns, including polybags, tubes, envelopes, mailers, odd-shaped boxes, containers, apparel, electronics, housewares, packaged food, childcare 
products, pet care items, health and beauty items, and other general merchandise. Our vision systems, AI and machine learning algorithms combined with haptics and 
gripping technology enable our solutions to handle wide ranges of products without the need for pre-programming or other manual processes to “teach” our robots. 
Further, our technology and product modules industry agnostic — they can be applied broadly to businesses that fill orders or perform logistics. 

•Speed and Accuracy — The need to process items faster and more accurately has become increasingly more important for retailers and logistics businesses. Our 
solutions help in both regards. For example, some of our solutions automate work equal to that performed by many people — amplifying what human staff at a 
customer facility can process. As our solutions increase in size, the amount of support provided by the automation increases generally with the potential to automate 
the work of substantially more workers, reducing reliance on labor when labor availability is an issue. Our proprietary hardware and AI driven software also delivers 
highly accurate performance in the range of over 99%. 

•Reliability — Our technology, product modules, and solutions are designed to be robust and to minimize downtime and require little human intervention when 
operating in production environments. Our solutions are designed to minimize single points of failure, and our system uptime often ranges over 99%. 

•Flexibility and Scalability — Our product modules and solutions are designed to be modular both technically and physically. This means they can fit easily into 
different layouts within our customers’ facilities. Software combined with this modularity also means our product modules are incrementally changeable, scalable, 
and adaptable via software. As customers’ needs increase, additional modules or robots can be added as appropriate. 
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•Efficiency and Economic Benefits — Our solutions are used by Fortune 50 companies and other customers to improve their overall efficiency, reduce costs, increase 
processing accuracy and increase flexibility. Our customers have experienced improvements in operating efficiencies, labor costs, and  throughput. 

These benefits enable tangible competitive advantages for our customers, which we see as creating a flywheel of economic transformation for our customers. Generally, 
investment in our AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions provides customers with increased operational capabilities which allows them to offer more (choices, 
performance, etc.) to their customers, while doing so at a lower overall cost. Growing the topline through better customer satisfaction at a lower cost profile creates economic 
competitive advantage, and the cycle continues. 
  

 

Our Market Opportunity 

Historically, conventional automation was implemented primarily to reduce operating costs. In the last several years, the rapid growth of ecommerce has accelerated the 
need for distribution centers, logistics facilities and warehouses to adopt robotics and AI automation technologies to not only reduce operating costs, but to keep up with changes 
in consumer buying behavior and to remain competitive. We believe our technology, product modules, and solutions can be used in many businesses with order fulfillment, 
distribution and logistics facilities in a variety of industries, and our technology plays a key role in improving operational efficiencies, reducing labor dependencies, improving 
flexibility and increasing speed. We sell into a variety of market verticals, including ecommerce, retail, grocery, package handling, and third-party logistics. We market globally, 
and our deployments to date have been in the United States, Japan and Canada. In addition, we recently expanded our sales and marketing efforts in Europe. 

We believe we are well positioned to capitalize on the large and expected rapid growth of the robotics and AI automation market and that only a limited amount of 
automation penetration has occurred to date. Based on labor consuming approximately 65% of warehousing spend (F. Curtis Barry & Company) and total annual global 
warehouse spend of $350 billion (McKinsey), global annual spending on warehouse labor is approximately $230 billion, which represents manual labor associated with 
processes that can be automated with our technology. Further, according to Mordor Intelligence, $56 billion is spent annually on automated material handling equipment 
globally, representing additional market opportunity for our technology. Therefore, our technology could provide solutions for an addressable market of over $280 billion 
annually. 

Our Growth Strategy 

The key elements of our strategy for growth include the following: 

Expand existing relationships with large anchor customers 

To date, most of our deployments have been with large, Fortune 50 companies, where our technology and solutions in production have achieved targeted metrics 
including throughput, accuracy, equipment effectiveness, and others. Our customers include Walmart, Target, FedEx, and TJX with solutions in operation or being installed. 
These customers have thousands of stores and hundreds of fulfillment and logistics centers in which our solutions can be implemented. Our goal is 

10



  

to continue our collaborative relationship with our large customers and to continue to help them add new levels of technology and automation throughout their network of 
operations. The underlying modular and flexible product modules that we combine to create solutions, which can be deployed in both brownfield and greenfield situations, help 
to support this model. 

Invest in sales and marketing to build a diverse, global customer base and expand geographically 

We intend to continue to invest in our sales and marketing efforts to rapidly expand our customer base. We currently focus on five market verticals with our technology: 
retail, ecommerce, grocery, package handling and 3PL. We believe that these market verticals provide the largest immediate opportunity for us due to the growth and challenges 
businesses face with the fundamental changes in consumer buying behavior, and we have developed our solutions to address these challenges. We believe nearly every 
ecommerce company, retailer, grocer, and logistics business is a potential customer. 

Our deployments to date have been in the United States, Japan, and Canada. We expect to expand our installations with customers in other regions internationally. We 
also intend to expand our sales and marketing efforts into Europe and Asia, and we have established offices in the UK and Japan to scale our efforts in those regions. 

Continue to invest in technology 

We intend to expand our engineering efforts to create increasingly more powerful artificial intelligence software platforms and differentiated hardware. This will 
continually increase product module and solution productivity and expand our market opportunity and enable our customers to enjoy the benefits of AI-enabled robotics and 
automation solutions at scale. We also intend to expand our product module and solution offerings to other applications throughout the customer value chain. By providing 
robust, holistic solutions for a variety of market verticals and applications, we believe we will be able to penetrate our target markets further. 

Expand Robotics-as-a-Service and other recurring and re-occurring revenue streams 

To date, our revenues are primarily generated from the sale of our solutions. Customers have the option to buy our solutions outright or under a subscription-based 
model, RaaS. We believe the RaaS model will be financially attractive to many customers and will contribute to our growth. Additionally, we offer certain post-installation 
services which can renewed annually for a fee. We believe there is growth potential for recurring and re-occurring revenue streams, and we intend to accelerate offering 
additional value-add services, aftermarket component replacement programs, and expanding our software capabilities and services to maximize revenue from our installed base. 

Pursue strategic partnerships 

We intend to pursue strategic partnerships with systems integrators, companies with complimentary technologies, software application providers, distributors, and 
consulting firms to expand the channels in which our solutions are marketed. We believe working with these partners will allow us to accelerate our brand awareness within a 
variety of industries, provide complementary capabilities, and differentiation that will attract new customers, while helping us to expand our customer base. 

Our Competitive Strengths 

Our IER capabilities are grounded in patented and proprietary technologies for robotic picking (each picking or unit handling), robotic movement and mobility 
(movement and storage of orders and goods), and system orchestration which enables various intelligent subsystems to work together so that the right work is being done at the 
right time to meet our customer’s needs. These are combined with the full suite of IER capabilities, defined above, which include cloud attributes, the ability to install in 
brownfield and greenfield settings, and a full spectrum of services from manufacturing of our product modules through to installation through to system operation. We 
incorporate our differentiated technologies into products (product modules) which are then incorporated into customer solutions — solutions that are designed by us to meet 
customer performance metrics like throughput and accuracy rates. This performant, whole-enterprise solution view, which includes differentiated technologies and a full IER 
suite of capabilities, enables customers to focus on the core of their business and creates attractive returns for them. We believe that these strengths provide us with competitive 
advantages now and into the future. 
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Proven technology — our solutions are in use today by large customers 

To date, most of our deployments have been with large, Fortune 50 companies, where our technology and solutions in production have achieved targeted metrics 
including throughput, accuracy, equipment effectiveness, and others. Many of our customers have placed follow-on orders and are deploying our technology throughout their 
networks. 

Asset-light operations 

Our core hardware product modules are manufactured via third-party contract manufacturers. This is a deliberate strategy and we believe our investment in our 
processes will enable us to scale production rapidly. We therefore do not have plans to build factories to produce our product modules. We intend to continue to utilize a 
network of contract manufacturers to leverage their expertise in scaling production systems, sourcing key raw materials and implementing world-class quality control processes. 
This approach reduces scaling risk and allows us to focus our resources on designing solutions, continuously improving our artificial intelligence platforms and ensuring 
customer satisfaction. 

Creative pricing models 

We offer the option for our customers to purchase our solutions outright or under a subscription-based RaaS pricing model. RaaS pricing models enable some customers 
easier access to our technology and to automate today and support their plans for tomorrow. RaaS makes it possible to address labor availability challenges, avoid costly new 
warehouse buildouts, and secure the fiscal benefits of complete AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions without requiring significant upfront capital requirements. 

Experienced management team and deep technological engineering capabilities 

Our management team has operational experience bringing emerging technologies to market across the hardware and software sectors. Members of our management 
and engineering teams have significant experience at various companies and institutions focusing on robotics, artificial intelligence, and other automation technologies. Our 
ability to innovate and develop AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions is essential to our success. Of our approximately 400 employees as of December 31, 2021, 
approximately 85% have technical degrees, 55% have advanced degrees and over 30 employees have PhD’s. Our engineering team has well over 1,000 years of combined 
robotics experience and have developed artificial intelligence-based technology, product modules, and solutions to enable our customers to keep pace with the rapid rate of 
change in consumer buying behavior. 

Competition 

Today, we primarily compete against conventional, manual systems supported by human labor despite fundamental issues impacting businesses including labor 
availability, increasing consumer expectations, and increasing competitive pressures. This is partly due to the current low penetration of automation technology and partly due 
to the familiarity with existing manual systems and processes. When it comes to conventional equipment providers in this space, some provide equipment to support these 
manual processes such as conveyor belts and static manual shelving units that we, at Berkshire Grey, do not manufacture or sell as a primary solution. Some traditional material 
handling companies also offer AS/RS solutions which store and move goods in support of manual processes. In addition to traditional equipment providers, there are also 
development stage companies endeavoring to produce new technology for some of our targeted verticals and segments where many are focusing on component technologies, 
e.g., novel grippers, or even a mobile robot that, for example, performs only the specific task of carrying a batch picked-bin. There are also mature companies that provide 
component technologies such as vision or camera systems. Component technologies can be useful though from a whole solution perspective, these are elements of a solution, 
not a whole solution. At Berkshire Grey, we both pioneer new AI-enabled technologies and approach the customers from an enterprise perspective with our IER portfolio of 
capabilities, where solutions can include our technologies for picking, movement and mobility, and whole system orchestration — and where our services include full analysis 
and design, installation, and even system operation at the customers’ option. In addition to the discussion above, see Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors, of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for a discussion of material risks to us relating to our competitive position. 

Customers 

Our customers include some of the largest retailers and logistics companies in the world and include Walmart, Target, TJX and FedEx. We have also secured additional 
medium sized customers within our five market verticals: retail, ecommerce, grocery, package handling and 3PL. Since inception, our customers have ordered approximately 
$200 million of 
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solutions from us, and as of December 31, 2021, we had orders of approximately $105 million in backlog that we expect to deliver and install during 2022 and early 2023. 

Research and Development 

We believe our research and development capability provides us with a key competitive advantage. Our team of engineers has well over 1,000 years of combined 
advanced robotics experience and have backgrounds at many of the world-leading robotics, artificial intelligence and research organizations. We conduct research and 
development in our Innovation and R&D centers in in Bedford and Lexington Massachusetts, as well as at our R&D center located in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. 

Our research and development activities currently include programs in the following areas: 

•Expanding the capabilities and making improvements to our technology — We intend to continually improve our technologies, differentiated hardware, and 
software platforms based on the learning from our installed base and areas that we identify can provide more benefit to our customers. We also intend to expand our 
efforts to continuously reduce system cost. 

•Expand the capabilities of our artificial intelligence software platforms — Our product modules and solutions are powered by our artificial intelligence software 
platforms which we expect will constantly evolve to become more robust, offer more value-add capability, improve system performance and expand solutions 
offerings. 

•Expand our product module and solution offerings — The robotics and AI automation industry is constantly evolving and needs to be flexible based on the 
changing buying behaviors of consumers and the introduction of new technologies. We intend to expand our product module and solution offerings to provide 
additional solutions for customers in application areas for which we currently do not have a solution. Additionally, we intend to develop solutions in adjacent 
applications, which could help expand our customer base or expand the penetration within existing and prospective customers. 

Sales and Marketing 

Our go-to market strategy consists of expanding our relationships with our anchor customers, securing new customers through direct sales and establishing strategic 
partnerships. We have general managers leading each of our five market verticals who have teams in place to build our pipelines and expand our customer base. We also have 
dedicated resources for certain key anchor customers due to their size and potential opportunity. We intend to continue to invest in our sales and marketing efforts to build our 
customer base and expand geographically, and we expect to focus on many of the largest businesses within each market vertical. 

We intend to pursue strategic partnerships with systems integrators, companies with complimentary technologies, software application providers, distributors, and 
consulting firms to expand the channels in which our solutions are marketed. We believe working with these partners will allow us to accelerate our brand awareness within a 
variety of industries, provide complementary capabilities, and differentiation that will attract new customers, while helping us to expand our customer base. 

Manufacturing and Suppliers 

Our hardware product modules are manufactured via third-party contract manufacturers with international quality certifications. We develop and design product 
modules and processes and often build engineering prototypes in our R&D facilities or Innovation Centers. Our engineers and supply chain teams work collaboratively with our 
third-party contract manufacturers to develop processes to enable commercialization at scale. Our third-party contract manufacturers provide a variety of services including 
sourcing off-the-shelf components, manufacturing custom components, final assembly and integration, end of line testing and quality assurance per our specifications. 

We initially manage the supply chain for key components, and then set up supply agreements to ensure stable supply and redundancy where applicable. Depending on 
the criticality of the component, our internal supply chain group may continue to manage the supplier relationship throughout the life of the solution. Commodity consumables 
are qualified and purchased directly from known industry leaders and provided to the customer to properly support equipment operation. In some circumstances, key 
consumables used in our solutions are developed and produced with partners to ensure protection of intellectual property and production that meets our specifications and 
quality requirements. 
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Intellectual Property 

Our ability to drive innovation in the robotics and AI automation market depends in part upon our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property. We 
seek to protect our intellectual property rights, both in the United States and abroad, through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, as well as 
nondisclosure and invention assignment agreements with our contractors and employees and through non-disclosure agreements with our customers, vendors and business 
partners. Unpatented research, development, know-how and engineering skills make an important contribution to our business, but we pursue patent protection when we believe 
it is possible and consistent with our overall strategy for safeguarding intellectual property. 

Our differentiated hardware is protected in part by 120 patents issued and 285 patents pending. The AI algorithms and software are trade secrets. Our patents and patent 
applications are directed to, among other things, intelligent robotics for the enterprise and span areas of focus including overall systems and processes, sensing and perception, 
gripping, and other mechanisms. In addition, we own more than 30 U.S. trademarks registrations and applications in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. 

Employees and Human Capital Resources 

Our employees are critical to our success. As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 400 full-time employees based primarily in the greater Boston, 
Massachusetts area, as well as an office in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. We also engage consultants and contractors to supplement our permanent workforce on an as needed basis. 
A majority of our employees are engaged in engineering, research and development, and related functions. To date, we have not experienced any work stoppages and consider 
our relationship with our employees to be in good standing. None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement or represented by a labor union. 

Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and additional employees. 
The principal purposes of our incentive plans are to attract, retain and motivate selected employees and consultants through the granting of stock-based compensation awards 
and cash-based performance awards. 

Government Regulations 

Compliance with various governmental regulations has an impact on our business, including our capital expenditures, earnings and competitive position, which can be 
material. We incur costs to monitor and take actions to comply with governmental regulations that are applicable to our business, which include, among others, laws, regulations 
and permitting requirements of federal, state and local authorities, including related to environmental, health and safety, anti-corruption and export controls. In addition to the 
discussion below, see Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of material risks to us, including, to the extent material, to our 
competitive position, relating to governmental regulations, and see Berkshire Grey’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, 
together with our consolidated financial statements, including the related notes included therein, for a discussion of material information relevant to an assessment of our 
financial condition and results of operations, including, to the extent material, the effects that compliance with governmental regulations may have upon our capital 
expenditures and earnings. 

Environmental Matters 

We are subject to domestic and foreign environmental laws and regulations governing our operations, including, but not limited to, emissions into the air and water and 
the use, handling, disposal and remediation of hazardous substances. A certain risk of environmental liability is inherent in our production activities, operation of our solutions 
and the disposal of our solutions. These laws and regulations govern, among other things, the generation, use, storage, registration, handling and disposal of chemicals and 
waste materials, the presence of specified substances in electrical products, the emission and discharge of hazardous materials into the ground, air or water, the cleanup of 
contaminated sites, including any contamination that results from spills due to our failure to properly dispose of chemicals and other waste materials and the health and safety of 
our employees. 

The export of our solutions internationally from our facilities subjects us to environmental laws and regulations concerning the import and export of electronics and 
other equipment. These laws and regulations require the testing and registration of some materials that form a part of our solutions. 
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Export and Trade Matters 

We are subject to anti-corruption laws and regulations imposed by governments around the world with jurisdiction over our operations, including the U.S. Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act and the UK Bribery Act 2010, as well as the laws of the countries where we do business. We are also subject to various trade restrictions, including trade 
and economic sanctions and export controls, imposed by governments around the world with jurisdiction over our operations. For example, in accordance with trade sanctions 
administered by the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control and export controls administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce, we are prohibited 
from engaging in transactions involving certain persons and certain designated countries or territories, including Cuba, Iran, Syria, North Korea and the Crimea Region of 
Ukraine. In addition, our solutions may be subject to export regulations that can involve significant compliance time and may add additional overhead cost to our solutions. In 
recent years the United States government has a renewed focus on export matters. For example, the Export Control Reform Act of 2018 and regulatory guidance thereunder 
have imposed additional controls and may result in the imposition of further additional controls, on the export of certain “emerging and foundational technologies.” Our current 
and future solutions may be subject to these heightened regulations, which could increase our compliance costs. 

See “Risk Factors — Our existing and planned global operations subject us to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business and operating 
results. Our business is subject to risks associated with selling our solutions in locations outside the United States” beginning on page 16 of this annual report on form 10-K for 
additional information about the environmental, health and safety laws and regulations that apply to our business.

Available Information

We maintain a website at the following address: www.berkshiregrey.com. We make our proxy statements, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-
Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”), available on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports and amendments are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Such reports are also available by accessing the EDGAR database on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

Our website is also a key source of important information about us. We post to the Investor Relations section of our website important information about our business, 
our operating results and our financial condition and prospects. The website also has a Corporate Governance page that includes, among other things, copies of our charter, our 
bylaws, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our Insider Trading Policy and the charters for each standing committee of our Board 
of Directors: the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Copies of our charter, our bylaws, our other 
corporate governance documents and our SEC reports are also available in print to stockholders upon request addressed to Investor Relations, Berkshire Grey, Inc., 140 South 
Road, Bedford, Massachusetts 01730 or by emailing ir@berkshiregrey.com.

The information included in, referenced to, or otherwise accessible through our website, is not incorporated by reference in, or considered to be a part of, this report or 
any document unless expressly incorporated by reference therein.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In evaluating our Company and our business, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with the other information in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The occurrence of one or more of the events or circumstances described in these risk factors, alone or in combination with 
other events or circumstances, may have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, revenue, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects, in which 
case the market price of our Class A common stock and warrants could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. The material and other risks and 
uncertainties described below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not intended to be exhaustive and are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.

Risks Relating to Berkshire Grey’s Business and Industry

 Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Berkshire Grey’s Business and Industry” section to “ we,” “ us” and “ 
our” refer to Berkshire Grey as it currently exists following the consummation of the Business Combination and to Legacy Berkshire Grey as it existed prior to the 
consummation of the Business Combination.

We have incurred net losses in every year since our inception, we anticipate expenses will increase in the future and we may not be able to achieve or maintain 
profitability.

We have incurred net losses in each year since our incorporation in 2013, including net losses of $153.4 million for 2021 and $57.6 million for 2020. We believe we 
will continue to incur operating losses and negative cash flow in the near-term as we continue to invest significantly in our business, in particular across our research and 
development efforts and sales and marketing programs, and such losses may fluctuate significantly in any given quarter. We expect to incur significant expenditures for the 
foreseeable future in connection with such investments, and we expect these expenditures to increase as we continue to expand our operations into new geographic areas.

These investments may not result in increased revenue or growth in our business, and our operating results may fluctuate significantly or may fall below the 
expectations of investors. In addition, as a newly-public company, we expect to incur significant additional legal, accounting, directors and officers insurance and other expenses 
that we did not incur as a private company. These increased expenditures may make it harder for us to achieve and maintain future profitability. Revenue growth and growth in 
our customer base may not be achievable or sustainable, and we may not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. We may incur significant losses in the 
future for a number of reasons, including due to the other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, 
complications and delays and other unknown events. As a result, the amount of our future losses is uncertain, our losses may be larger than anticipated and we may incur 
significant losses for the foreseeable future. If we do not successfully address these risks, we may not achieve profitability when expected, or at all, and even if we do achieve 
profitability, we may not be able to maintain or increase profitability. Furthermore, if our future growth and operating performance fail to meet investor or analyst expectations, 
or if we have future negative cash flow or losses resulting from our investments in acquiring customers, further developing our technology or expanding our operations, this 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have generated substantially all of our revenue to date, and expect to generate a significant portion of our future revenue, from a limited number of customers.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived from a limited number of customers. For the year ended December 31, 2021, Target, TJX, FedEx, and Meijer comprised 
approximately 32%, 27%, 14% and 12% of our revenue, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Target and Softbank comprised approximately 70% and 30% of 
our revenue. SoftBank is an affiliate of SVF II BG (DE), LLC, a holder of more than 5% Berkshire Grey’s outstanding stock. We have master system purchase agreements with 
these customers that permit them to order systems from time to time, and orders placed may be cancelled for convenience subject to payment of certain costs incurred by us. 
Historically, our revenue has been dependent upon a limited number of customers and we expect that we will continue to derive a majority of our revenue from a limited 
number of significant customers in future years. No assurance can be given that our significant customers will continue to do business with us or that they will maintain their 
historical levels of business. With the completion of an existing SoftBank project, we do not anticipate further immediate business with SoftBank. We expect the master 
purchase and license agreement with SoftBank to expire in June 2022, and SoftBank has notified us they intend the same. If our relationship with 
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any significant customer were to cease, then our revenues would decline and negatively impact our results of operations. Any such decline could increase our accumulated 
deficit and result in a need to raise additional capital to fund our operations. If our expectations regarding future revenues are inaccurate, we may be unable to reduce costs in a 
timely manner to adjust for revenue shortfalls.

The substantial majority of our contracts by revenue permit our customers to terminate their orders or such customer relationship for convenience, and such 
terminations, if effected, would adversely affect our future revenues and could have a significant negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial majority of our revenue is derived from customers with whom we have entered into contracts that can be terminated by the customer for any reason, which 
may result in our failure to realize a significant portion of the value of the contract with such customer. If our relationship with any significant customer were to deteriorate or 
cease, we would be exposed to the risk that such customer contract may be terminated early. To the extent that we do not maintain our existing level of business with our 
significant or other customers, or such customers cancel existing contracts, we will need to attract new customers or win new business with existing customers, or our results of 
operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

We have generated substantially all of our revenue to date from three product solutions. We may experience significant delays in the design, development, 
production and launch of new solutions, and we may be unable to successfully commercialize additional solutions on our planned timelines.

We are reliant on the marketing and sale of our current solutions for the majority of our revenue earned to date. If we are unable to sell these solutions to new customers 
or sell a higher volume of these solutions to our existing customers, it will be difficult for us to achieve and maintain consistent profitability. In addition, if we are unable to 
develop new solutions and services, or if we experience significant delays or incur significant expenses in the design, development, production and launch of new solutions and 
services, then we may be unable to successfully commercialize additional solutions on our planned timelines, which may in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Our mobile solutions use lithium-ion battery cells, which have been observed to catch fire or vent smoke and flame in limited circumstances, and such events have 
raised concerns, and future events may lead to additional concerns, about the batteries we use, which could have a negative impact on our sales or our reputation.

The battery packs in certain of our current and planned future solutions make use of lithium-ion cells. On rare occasions, lithium-ion cells can rapidly release the energy 
they contain by venting smoke and flames in a manner that can ignite nearby materials as well as other lithium-ion cells. Extremely rare incidents of laptop computers, cell 
phones and lithium-ion battery packs catching fire have raised questions and concerns about the safety of these cells. Negative public perceptions regarding the suitability of 
lithium-ion cells, or any future incidents involving lithium-ion cells, such as a vehicle or other device or product catching fire, could seriously harm our business, even if such 
incident does not involve us or our solutions. Although there have not been any observations or experiences of fire or smoke incidents associated with the lithium-ion cells 
incorporated within our solutions, such incidents could result in a number of increased costs and expenses being imposed on our business, including costs resulting from 
regulatory compliance obligations in connection with regulatory scrutiny of the industry resulting from any such future incidents.

Our sales channels are currently limited, and our business may not grow as rapidly as we expect if we do not successfully develop other sales channels such as 
business partnerships and strategic alliances.

To maintain and grow our business, we must maintain and expand our sales channels. To date, most of our orders have been acquired through direct sales to customers, 
and we have only recently begun to expand our sales channels through business partnerships. If we are unable to maintain and expand our sales channels, our growth prospects 
would be limited and our business or ability to realize future revenues may be harmed. We must also continuously monitor and evaluate emerging sales channels. If we fail to 
establish a presence in an important developing sales channel, our business and growth prospects could be harmed.
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We currently depend on a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers for substantially all of our solution manufacturing. If these third-party 
manufacturers experience any delay, disruption or quality control problems in their operations, we could lose market share and our brand may be damaged.

While there are several other potential manufacturers for most of our solutions, substantially all of our manufacturing needs are currently supplied by two third-party 
manufacturers, including Columbia Tech, a wholly owned subsidiary of Coghlin Companies, Inc., and PlexusCorp. We do not have ongoing manufacturing commitments with 
these manufacturers and we can change manufacturers at any time. In most cases, we rely on these two manufacturers to procure components and, in some cases, subcontract 
engineering work. Our reliance on limited number of contract manufacturers involves a number of risks, including, but not limited to:

•unpredictable and unexpected increases in manufacturing and repair costs;

•inability to control the quality and reliability of finished solutions;

•inability to control delivery schedules;

•potential liability for expenses incurred by third-party contract manufacturers in reliance on our forecasts that later prove to be inaccurate;

•potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacture all or a part of the solutions we require;

•potential high switching costs in the event our relationship with a manufacturer ceases;

•potential liability to customers for delays in delivery caused by dependence on third-party manufacturers to provide components;

•potential for supply chain disruption from ongoing issues affecting shipment and availability of materials and components and finished products; and 

•potential labor unrest affecting the ability of the third-party manufacturers to produce our solutions.

If any of our third-party contract manufacturers experience a delay, disruption or quality control problems in their operations, including due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, or if a primary third-party contract manufacturer does not renew its agreement with us, our operations could be significantly disrupted and our solution shipments to 
customers could be delayed. Qualifying a new manufacturer and commencing volume production is expensive and time consuming. Ensuring that a contract manufacturer is 
qualified to manufacture our solutions to our standards is time consuming. In addition, there is no assurance that a contract manufacturer can scale its production of our 
solutions at the volumes and in the quality that we require. If a contract manufacturer is unable to do these things, we may have to move production for the solutions to a new or 
existing third-party manufacturer, which would take significant effort and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

As we contemplate moving manufacturing into different jurisdictions, we may be subject to additional significant challenges in ensuring that quality, processes, and 
costs, among other issues, are consistent with our expectations. For example, while we expect our third-party contract manufacturers to be responsible for costs assessed on us 
because of failures of the solutions, there is no assurance that we will be able to collect such reimbursements from these manufacturers, which would require us to take on 
additional risk for potential failures of our solutions. There may also be a number of other hindrances in securing third-party contract manufacturers in new jurisdictions, 
including hurdles that are regulatory in nature, financial or otherwise, that could significantly increase our costs of retaining such manufacturers and affect our results of 
operations.

In addition, because we use a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers, increases in the prices charged may have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations, as we may be unable to find a contract manufacturer who can supply to us at a lower price or a similar quality for components. As a result, the loss of a limited 
source supplier could adversely affect our relationships with our customers and our results of operations and financial condition.

All of our solutions must satisfy safety and regulatory standards, and some of our solutions may also need to receive regulatory certifications. Working with third-party 
consultants, we conduct tests, internally and through contract agencies, that support our applications for most regulatory approvals for our solutions. In the future we may 
outsource some of these testing responsibilities to our third-party contract manufacturers. If we or our contract manufacturers fail to timely and accurately conduct these tests, 
we may be unable to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals or certifications to sell our solutions in certain jurisdictions. As a result, we would be unable to sell our solutions 
and our sales and profitability could be reduced, our relationships with our sales channels could be harmed and our reputation and brand would suffer.
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If our suppliers or other third-party vendors become unavailable or produce inadequate supplies or services, we may be unable to obtain necessary hardware, 
software and operational support, and our customer relationships, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

We acquire certain of our supplies and services, which are critical to the ongoing operation and future growth of our business, from several third parties. Generally, our 
third-party contract manufacturers contract directly with component suppliers to manage their supply chains. If one of our contract manufacturers has supply chain disruption, 
or our relationship with our contract manufacturer terminates, we could experience delays. We also source some materials directly from suppliers. While most manufacturing 
equipment and materials for our solutions are available from multiple suppliers, certain of those items are only available from a limited number of sources. Should any of these 
suppliers become unavailable or inadequate, or impose terms unacceptable to us, such as increased pricing terms, we could be required to spend a significant amount of time and 
expense to develop alternate sources of supply, and we may not be successful in doing so on terms acceptable to us, or at all. As a result, the loss of a limited source supplier 
could adversely affect our relationship with our customers as well as our results of operations and financial condition.

The facilities of our third-party contract manufacturers, our suppliers and our customers are vulnerable to disruption due to natural or other disasters, strikes, 
pandemics (including COVID-19 and any variants thereof) and other events beyond our control.

A major earthquake, fire, tsunami, hurricane, cyclone or other disaster, such as a major flood, seasonal storms, nuclear event or terrorist attack affecting the facilities of 
our third-party manufacturers, our suppliers or our customers, or the areas in which they are located, could significantly disrupt our or their operations and delay or prevent 
product shipment or installation during the time required to repair, rebuild or replace such damaged facilities. These delays could be lengthy and costly. Any delay in the 
production, shipment and installation of our solutions could impact the period in which we recognize the revenue related to that sale. Additionally, customers may delay 
purchases of our solutions until operations return to normal. Even if we are able to respond quickly to a disaster, the continued effects of the disaster could create uncertainty in 
our business operations. In addition, concerns about terrorism, the effects of a terrorist attack, political turmoil, labor strikes, war or the outbreak of epidemic or pandemic 
diseases (including the persistence or any resurgence of further mutation of COVID-19) could have a material and negative effect on our operations and sales.

We are dependent on suppliers and suppliers to our third-party contract manufacturers who fabricate our equipment to fulfill orders placed by us. Timely delivery 
of orders is needed to meet the requirements of our customers, and a shortage of materials or components, such as microprocessors, can disrupt the production of our 
equipment.

Our products contain materials and components sourced globally from suppliers who, in may turn, source components from other suppliers. If there is a shortage of a 
material or component in our supply chain, and the material or component cannot be easily sourced from a different supplier, the shortage may disrupt our production of our 
equipment by our contract manufacturers. For example, the automation industry and other industries are currently facing a shortage of microprocessors. With a significant 
number of microprocessors in each of our systems, we and our other parties who need microprocessors are experiencing various levels of disruption to production. The 
microprocessor supply chain is complex, and a constrained capacity of certain components is occurring deep in the chain. There have been significant disruptions to capacity 
and reallocations of supply capacity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, microprocessor manufacturers were already seeing 
increasing demand and that demand has further increased based on labor shortages and the need for greater automation. A shortage of microprocessors or other materials or 
components can cause a significant disruption to our production schedule and have a substantial adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Our existing and planned global operations subject us to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business and operating results. Our 
business is subject to risks associated with selling our solutions in locations outside the United States.

In 2021, we derived approximately 10% of our revenues from one customer in Japan. Revenues derived outside the United States were approximately 30% of total 
revenue during 2020, and we plan to increase our international operations in the future. Accordingly, we expect to increasingly face significant operational risks and expenses 
from doing business internationally.

Our international operating results may be affected by volatility in currency exchange rates and our ability to effectively manage our currency transaction risks. We 
would incur currency transaction risks if we were to enter into either a purchase or a sale transaction using a different currency from the currency in which we report revenue. In 
such cases, we may 

19



  

suffer an exchange loss because we do not currently engage in currency swaps or other currency hedging strategies to address this risk. As we realize our strategy to expand 
internationally, our exposure to currency risks may increase. Given the volatility of exchange rates, we can give no assurance that we will be able to effectively manage our 
currency transaction risks or that any volatility in currency exchange rates will not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Other risks and uncertainties we face from our global operations include, but are not limited to:

•difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

•limited protection for the enforcement of contract and intellectual property rights in certain countries where we may sell our solutions or work with suppliers or other 
third parties;

•potentially longer sales and payment cycles and potentially greater difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

•costs and difficulties of customizing solutions for foreign countries;

•challenges in providing solutions across a significant distance, in different languages and among different cultures;

•laws and business practices favoring local competition;

•being subject to a wide variety of complex foreign laws, treaties and regulations and adjusting to any unexpected changes in such laws, treaties and regulations;

•specific and significant regulations, including, but not limited to, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which imposes compliance 
obligations on companies who possess and use data of EU residents;

•differences in analysis of regulatory, legal and tax issues across various countries, such as different interpretations of antitrust and competition laws;

•uncertainty and resultant political, financial and market instability arising from the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union;

•compliance with U.S. laws affecting activities of U.S. companies abroad, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

•uncertainties related to geopolitical risks, including the relationship between the U.S. government and the government of other nations;

•tariffs, trade barriers and other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell or develop our solutions in certain foreign markets;

•operating in countries with a higher incidence of corruption and fraudulent business practices;

•changes in regulatory requirements, including export controls, tariffs and embargoes, other trade restrictions, competition, corporate practices and data privacy concerns;

•potential adverse tax consequences arising from global operations;

•seasonal reductions in business activity in certain parts of the world, particularly during the summer months in Europe and at year-end globally;

•rapid changes in government, economic and political policies and conditions; and

•political or civil unrest or instability, terrorism or epidemics or pandemics (including any risks related to or resulting from COVID-19) and other similar outbreaks or 
events.

Our failure to effectively manage the risks and uncertainties associated with our existing and planned global operations could limit the future growth of our business and 
adversely affect our business and operating results.

Some of our solutions may contain customer-specific provisions that may impact the period in which we recognize the related revenue under GAAP.

Some customers that purchase AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions from us may require specific, customized factors relating to their intended use or the 
installation of the solutions in their facilities. These specific, customized factors are occasionally required by the customers to be included in our commercial agreements 
relating to the purchases. As a result, 
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our responsiveness to our customers’ specific requirements has the potential to impact the period in which we recognize the revenue relating to that sale.

Similarly, some of our customers must build or prepare facilities to install a subset of our AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions, and the completion of such 
projects can be unpredictable, which can impact the period in which we recognize the revenue relating to that sale.

We may face liability if our solutions are used by our customers to handle dangerous materials.

Customers may use our AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions to handle materials in a harmful way or in a manner that could otherwise be dangerous. While our 
AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions are safe when used properly and we endeavor to limit our liability for misuse and use of our solutions with hazardous materials, 
there can be no assurance that we will not be held liable if someone were injured or killed while using one of our solutions.

Any unauthorized control or manipulation of our solutions or robots, or theft or vandalism of our robots, could negatively impact our ability to conduct business 
and compromise the integrity of our solutions, resulting in significant data losses to our Company and our customers or the theft of intellectual property, damage to our 
reputation and significant liability to third parties.

Our solutions contain complex information technology systems. While we have implemented security measures intended to prevent unauthorized access to our 
information technology networks, our solutions and their systems, our security measures may not be sufficient to prevent malicious entities from attempting to gain 
unauthorized access to modify, alter and use such networks, solutions and systems to gain control of, or to change, our solutions’ functionality, user interface and performance 
characteristics or from gaining access to data stored in or generated by our solutions or in our customer’s systems. Any unauthorized access to or control of our solutions or their 
systems or any loss of data could result in costly legal claims or government investigations. In addition, regardless of their accuracy, reports of unauthorized access to our 
solutions, their systems or data, as well as other factors that may result in the perception that our solutions, their systems or data are capable of being hacked, may harm our 
brand, prospects and operating results.

Laws and regulations governing the robotics and AI automation industries are still developing and may restrict our business or increase the costs of our solutions, 
making our solutions less competitive or adversely affecting our revenue growth.

We are generally subject to laws and regulations relating to the robotics and AI automation industries in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our business or in some 
circumstances, of those jurisdictions in which we offer our solutions, as well as the general laws and regulations that apply to all businesses, such as those related to privacy and 
personal information, tax and consumer protection. These laws and regulations are developing and vary from one jurisdiction to another and future legislative and regulatory 
action, court decisions or other governmental action, which may be affected by, among other things, political pressures, attitudes and climates, as well as personal biases, may 
have a material and adverse impact on our operations and financial results.

Global economic, political and social conditions and uncertainties in the markets that we serve, including risks and uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 
pandemic, may adversely impact our business.

Our performance depends on the financial health and strength of our customers, which in turn is dependent on the economic conditions of the markets in which we and 
our customers operate. The recent volatility in the global economy, continuing geopolitical uncertainties and other macroeconomic factors all affect the spending behavior of 
potential customers. The economic uncertainty in the United States, Europe, Japan and other countries may cause end-users to further delay or reduce technology purchases and 
could possibly cause a national or global recession.

We also face risks from financial difficulties or other uncertainties experienced by our suppliers, distributors or other third parties on which we rely resulting from 
geopolitical tensions. If third parties are unable to supply us with required materials or components or otherwise assist us in operating our business, our business could be 
harmed.

For example, the possibility of an ongoing trade war between the United States and China may impact the cost of raw materials, finished products or components used 
in our solutions and our ability to sell our solutions in, or source materials from, China. Other changes in U.S. social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws 
and policies governing foreign trade, manufacturing, development and investment could also adversely affect our business. In addition, the United Kingdom’s formal exit from 
the European Union, or the potential for other countries to decide to leave the European Union, may have an effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global 
financial markets, which in turn could have a 
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material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In extreme cases, we could experience interruptions in production due to the processing of 
customs formalities or reduced customer spending in the wake of weaker economic performance.

Our business is currently concentrated in the United States. Future exposure to local economies, regional downturns or severe weather or catastrophic occurrences 
or other disruptions or events may materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, 10% of our revenue was derived from a customer in Japan. We currently expect to earn revenue from other international 
markets in 2022 and in future periods. Local and regional conditions in additional these markets may differ significantly from prevailing conditions in the United States or in 
other parts of the world. Our inability to effectively adapt to any shift, including failing to increase revenue from other markets, could adversely affect our business prospects 
and financial performance.

We may incur substantial costs and challenges enforcing and defending our intellectual property rights.

Competitors may infringe our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. It may be difficult to detect infringers who do not advertise the components 
that are used in their products. Moreover, it may be difficult or impossible to obtain evidence of infringement in a competitor’s or potential competitor’s product. We may incur 
substantial costs in protecting, enforcing and defending our intellectual property rights against third parties. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to 
file infringement claims on a country-by-country basis, which can be expensive and time-consuming and divert the time and attention of our management and scientific 
personnel. There can be no assurance that we will have sufficient financial or other resources to file and pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for years before 
they are concluded. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could also provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents, 
in addition to counterclaims asserting that our patents are invalid or unenforceable, or both. Intellectual property disputes may be costly and can be disruptive to our business 
operations by diverting attention and energies of management and key technical personnel and by increasing our costs of doing business.

In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that our patent is not valid, is unenforceable and/or is not infringed, or may construe the patent’s claims 
narrowly or refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any 
litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated, interpreted narrowly or held unenforceable, could put our patent applications 
at risk of not issuing, and could limit our ability to assert those patents against those parties or other competitors and curtail or preclude our ability to exclude third parties from 
making and selling similar or competitive products. Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have asserted are invalid or 
unenforceable, or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to the marks in question. In this case, we could ultimately be forced 
to cease use of such trademarks, which could materially and adversely affect our business and negatively affect our position in the marketplace.

Even if we establish infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only monetary damages, which 
may or may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk 
that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. There could also be public announcements of the results of 
hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect 
on the price of our common stock. Any of these could have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

If we are unable to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights, including patents pending, registered intellectual property and trade secrets, such 
information may be used by others to compete against us.

We have devoted substantial resources to the development of our technology and related intellectual property rights. Our success and future revenue growth will depend, 
in part, on our ability to protect our intellectual property. We rely on a combination of registered and unregistered intellectual property and protect our rights using patents, 
licenses, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality and assignment of invention agreements and other methods.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, it is possible that competitors or other unauthorized third parties may obtain, copy, use or disclose our technologies, 
inventions, processes or improvements. We cannot provide assurance that any of our existing or future patents or other intellectual property rights will not be challenged, 
invalidated or circumvented, or will otherwise provide us with meaningful of sufficient protection. The infringement of our patents and misappropriation 
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of confidential or trade secret technologies may occur in facilities where we cannot monitor or know that violations or theft is occurring. We make business decisions about 
when to seek patent protection for a particular technology and when to rely upon trade secret protection, and the approach we select may ultimately prove to be inadequate. We 
are seeking to protect certain of our intellectual property rights through filing applications for copyrights, trademarks, patents, and domain names in a number of jurisdictions, a 
process that is expensive and may not be successful in all jurisdictions. We are continuing to monitor and evaluate our intellectual property protection in various jurisdictions as 
we expand our business. Even in cases where we seek patent protection, there is no assurance that the resulting patents will effectively protect every significant feature of our 
solutions, technology, or proprietary information, or provide us with any competitive advantages. Moreover, our pending patent applications may not be granted, and we may 
not be able to obtain foreign patents or pending applications corresponding to our U.S. patents. The United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, also requires 
compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process and after a patent has issued. There are 
situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant 
jurisdiction. If this occurs, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a material adverse effect on our business. Even where we have intellectual 
property rights, they may later be found to be unenforceable or have a limited scope of enforceability. In addition, we may not seek to pursue such protection in every 
jurisdiction. Even if foreign patents are granted, effective enforcement in foreign countries may not be available. Moreover, we have registered our trademarks and domain 
names that we currently use in certain countries, but we may not be able to register them in other territories in which we may operate now or in the future. Further, we may be 
unable to prevent competitors from acquiring trademarks or domain names that are similar to or diminish the value of our intellectual property.

Our trade secrets, know-how and other unregistered proprietary rights are a key aspect of our intellectual property portfolio. While we take reasonable steps to protect 
our trade secrets and confidential information and enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements intended to protect such rights, such agreements can be 
difficult and costly to enforce or may not provide adequate remedies if violated, and we may not have entered into such agreements with all relevant parties. Such agreements 
may not be effective in granting ownership of, controlling access to, or preventing unauthorized distribution, use, misuse, misappropriation, reverse engineering, or disclosure of 
our inventions, proprietary information, know-how, and trade secrets. Such agreements may be breached and trade secrets or confidential information may be willfully or 
unintentionally disclosed, including by employees who may leave our company and join our competitors, or our competitors or other parties may learn of the information in 
some other way. If we failed to enter into one of these agreements, or if they are found to be defective under applicable law, it may not have effectively granted ownership of 
certain technology or other intellectual property to us. In such an event, there would be a risk that the applicable counterparty would not be available to (or would not be willing 
to) assist us in perfecting our ownership of the technology or intellectual property, or the counterparty may even assert ownership rights against us and make claims for fees, 
damages or equitable relief with respect to such technology or intellectual property, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to utilize or protect our proprietary rights 
over such technology and intellectual property. The disclosure to, or independent development by, a competitor of any of our trade secrets, know-how or other technology not 
protected by a patent or other intellectual property system could materially reduce or eliminate any competitive advantage that we may have over such competitor.

If our patents and other intellectual property do not adequately protect our technology, our competitors may be able to offer products similar to ours. Our competitors 
may also be able to develop similar technology independently or design around our patents and other intellectual property, by copying or reverse-engineering our applications or 
other technology offerings, or through other means. Any of the foregoing events would lead to increased competition and reduce our revenue or gross margin, which would 
adversely affect our operating results.

Third parties may claim that our solutions or services infringe or otherwise violate their proprietary rights, which claims and any related litigation may adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our future success depends in part on not infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. We may in the future receive notices that claim we have 
misappropriated, infringed, or otherwise misused other parties’ intellectual property rights. There may be intellectual property rights held by others, including issued patents and 
trademarks, or pending applications, that cover significant aspects of our technologies, content, branding or business methods. We may be unaware of the intellectual property 
rights of others that may cover some or all of our technology. Because patent applications can take years to issue and are often afforded confidentiality for some period of time 
there may currently be pending applications, unknown to us, that later result in issued patents that could cover one or more of our products. In a patent infringement claim 
against us, we may assert, as a defense, that we do not infringe the relevant patent claims, that the patent is invalid or both. The strength of our defenses will depend on the 
patents asserted, the interpretation of these patents, and our ability to invalidate the asserted patents. However, we could be unsuccessful in advancing non-infringement and/or 
invalidity arguments in our defense. In the United States, issued patents enjoy a presumption of validity, and the party challenging the 
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validity of a patent claim must present clear and convincing evidence of invalidity, which is a high burden of proof. Conversely, the patent owner need only prove infringement 
by a preponderance of the evidence, which is a lower burden of proof.

Intellectual property disputes and litigation, regardless of merit, can be costly and disruptive to our business operations by diverting attention and energies of 
management and key technical personnel and by increasing our costs of doing business. Third-party intellectual property claims asserted against us could subject us to 
significant liabilities, require us to enter into royalty and licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms, prevent us from assembling or licensing certain products, subject us to 
injunctions restricting our sale of solutions, cause severe disruptions to our operations or the marketplaces in which we compete or require us to satisfy indemnification 
commitments with our customers, including contractual provisions under various license arrangements. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business and financial 
condition and we may be unsuccessful in defending such disputes or litigation, which may require us to pay substantial damages or be subject to an injunction. Moreover, as 
part of any settlement or other compromise to avoid complex, protracted litigation, we may agree not to pursue future claims against a third party, including for claims related to 
alleged infringement of the third party’s or our intellectual property rights. Part of any settlement or other compromise with another party may resolve a potentially costly 
dispute but may also have future repercussions on our ability to defend and protect our intellectual property rights, which in turn could adversely affect our business. We might 
be required or may opt to seek a license for rights to intellectual property held by others, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Even if a 
license is available, we could be required to pay significant royalties, which would increase our operating expenses. We may also be required to develop alternative non-
infringing technology, content, branding or business methods, which could require significant effort and expense, be infeasible or make us less competitive in the market. Such 
disputes could also disrupt our business, which would adversely impact our customer satisfaction and ability to attract customers. If we cannot license or develop technology, 
content, branding or business methods for any allegedly infringing aspect of our business, we may be unable to compete effectively. Additionally, we may be obligated to 
indemnify our customers or end-users in connection with litigation and to obtain licenses or refund subscription fees, which could further exhaust our resources. In the case of 
infringement or misappropriation caused by technology that we obtain from third parties, any indemnification or other contractual protections we obtain from such third parties, 
if any, may be insufficient to cover the liabilities we incur as a result of such infringement or misappropriation. Any of these results could harm our operating results.

Disruption or failure of our networks, systems or technology as a result of computer viruses or malicious code, cyber-attacks, misappropriation of data or other 
malfeasance or cybersecurity incidents, as well as outages, natural disasters, terrorist attacks, accidental releases of information or similar events could disrupt our 
business or result in the loss of critical and confidential information.

We, our suppliers and our customers utilize information technology, or IT, systems and networks to process, transmit and store electronic information in connection 
with our business activities. As use of digital technologies has increased, cyber incidents, including third parties gaining access to employee accounts using stolen or inferred 
credentials, computer malware, viruses, spamming, phishing attacks or other means, and deliberate attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access to computer systems and 
networks, have increased in frequency and sophistication. These threats pose a risk to the security of our systems and networks and the confidentiality, availability and integrity 
of our data. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in preventing cyber-attacks or successfully mitigating their effects. Like other companies, we have on occasion 
experienced, and will continue to experience, threats to our data and systems, including malicious codes and viruses, phishing, business email compromise attacks or other 
cyber-attacks. Any cyber-attack, data breach or destruction or loss of data could result in a violation of applicable U.S. and international privacy, data protection and other laws 
and subject us to litigation and governmental investigations and proceedings by federal, state and local regulatory entities in the United States and by international regulatory 
entities, resulting in exposure to material civil and/or criminal liability. Further, our general liability insurance and corporate risk management program may not cover all 
potential claims to which we are exposed and may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business and prospects. In addition, we may suffer reputational harm or face litigation or adverse regulatory action as a result of cyber-attacks or other data security breaches 
and may incur significant additional expense to implement further data protection measures.

If we cannot cost-effectively develop proprietary technology, content, branding or business methods, or license them on favorable terms, we may be unable to 
compete effectively or to operate our business in certain jurisdictions.

Our revenue is derived from the sale of AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions and services. We have encountered and will continue to encounter challenges 
experienced by growing companies in a market subject to rapid innovation and technological change. While we intend to invest substantial resources to remain on the forefront 
of technological development, continuing advances in intelligent automation technology, changes in customer requirements and 
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preferences and the emergence of new standards, regulations and certifications could adversely affect adoption of our solutions either generally or for particular applications. 
Our ability to compete in the intelligent automation market depends, in large part, on our success in developing and introducing new systems and technology, in improving our 
existing solutions and technology and qualifying new materials which our systems can support. We believe that we must continuously enhance and expand the functionality and 
features of our solutions and technologies in order to remain competitive. However, we may not be able to:

•develop cost-effective new solutions and technologies that address the increasingly complex needs of prospective customers in a cost-effective manner or at all;

•enhance our existing solutions and technologies;

•respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and certifications on a cost- effective and timely basis;

•adequately protect our intellectual property as we develop new solutions and technologies;

•identify the appropriate technology or product to which to devote our resources; or

•ensure the availability of cash resources to fund research and development.

Even if we successfully introduce new AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions and enhance our existing solutions and technologies, it is possible that these will 
eventually supplant our existing solutions or that our competitors will develop new solutions and technologies that will replace our own. As a result, any of our solutions may 
be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by our or our competitors’ technological advances, leading to a loss in market share, decline in revenue and adverse effects to our 
business and prospects.

Our AI software platform contains third-party open-source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open-source software 
licenses could restrict our ability to sell our solutions or give rise to disclosure obligations of proprietary software.

Our AI software platform contains components that are licensed under so-called “open-source,” “free” or other similar licenses. Open-source software is made available 
to the general public on an “as-is” basis under the terms of a non-negotiable license. Certain open-source licenses may give rise to obligations to disclose or license our source 
code or other intellectual property rights if such open-source software is integrated with our proprietary software in certain ways. We currently combine our proprietary 
software with open source software, but not in a manner that we believe requires the release of the source code of our proprietary software to the public. If we combine our 
proprietary software with open-source software in a certain manner in the future, we could, under certain open-source licenses, be required to release to the public or remove the 
source code of our proprietary software. Open-source licensors also generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the 
quality of the code. We may also face claims alleging noncompliance with open-source license terms or infringement or misappropriation of proprietary software. These claims 
could result in litigation, require us to purchase a costly license or require us to remove the software. In addition, if the license terms for open-source software that we use 
change, we may be forced to re-engineer our solutions, incur additional costs or discontinue the sale of certain offerings if re-engineering could not be accomplished in a timely 
manner. Although we monitor our use of open-source software to avoid subjecting our offerings to unintended conditions, there is a risk that these licenses could be construed 
in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our offerings. We cannot guarantee that we have incorporated open-source 
software in our software in a manner that will not subject us to liability or in a manner that is consistent with our current policies and procedures.

We employ third-party licensed software for use in or with our software and to develop and maintain our software, and the inability to maintain these licenses, 
failure to comply with the terms of these licenses or errors in the software we license could result in increased costs, or reduced service levels, which would adversely affect 
our business.

Our software incorporates, and the development and maintenance of our software uses, certain third-party software obtained under licenses from other companies. We 
anticipate that we will continue to rely on such third-party software in the future. Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party 
software we currently license, this may not always be the case, or it may be difficult or costly to migrate to other third-party software. Our use of additional or alternative third-
party software would require us to enter into license agreements with third parties. In addition, integration of our software, including the third-party software used in our 
software with new third-party software may require significant work and require substantial investment of our time and resources. Also, any undetected errors or defects in 
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third-party software could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of our software, delay new updates or enhancements to our platform, result in a failure of our 
platform, present security risks and injure our reputation.

Litigation or investigations involving our company could result in material settlements, fines or penalties and may adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We could be subject to investigations and litigation in the future. While we intend to mount vigorous defenses to any future lawsuits that may be brought against us by 
any third party, we can provide no assurance as to the outcome of any such disputes, and any such actions may result in judgments against us for significant damages. 
Resolution of any such matters can be prolonged and costly, and the ultimate results or judgments are uncertain due to the inherent uncertainty in litigation and other 
proceedings. In addition, the robotics and AI automation industry has been, and may continue to be, litigious, particularly with respect to intellectual property claims. Moreover, 
our potential liabilities are subject to change over time due to new developments, changes in settlement strategy or the impact of evidentiary requirements. Regardless of the 
outcome, future litigation may result in significant legal expenses and require significant attention and resources of management. As a result, any litigation that may be brought 
against us by any third party could result in losses, damages and expenses that have a significant adverse effect on our financial condition.

Our limited operating history and rapid recent growth make it difficult to evaluate our prospects and may increase the risk of any investment in our company.

We were founded in 2013, and much of our growth has occurred in recent periods. Our limited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate our current 
business and our prospects, as we continue to grow our business. Our ability to forecast our future operating results is subject to a number of uncertainties, including our ability 
to plan for and model future growth and expansion into new jurisdictions. We have encountered, and will continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced 
by growing companies in rapidly evolving industries, as we continue to grow our business. If our assumptions regarding these uncertainties, which we use to plan our business, 
are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our markets, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our 
expectations, our business could suffer and the trading price of our stock may decline.

It is difficult to predict our future revenues and appropriately budget for our expenses, and we have limited insight into trends that may emerge and affect our business. 
If actual results differ from our estimates or we adjust our estimates in future periods, our operating results and financial position could be materially affected.

If demand for our solutions does not grow as we expect, or if market adoption of AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions does not continue to develop, or 
develops more slowly than we expect, our future revenues may stagnate or decline, and our business may be adversely affected.

The AI-enabled robotics and automation market is rapidly growing and developing. We may not be able to develop effective strategies to raise awareness among 
potential customers of the benefits of AI-enabled robotics and automation or our solutions may not address the specific needs or provide the level of functionality required by 
potential customers to encourage the continuation of this shift towards AI-enabled robotics and automation. If AI-enabled robotics and automation technology does not continue 
to gain broader market acceptance as an alternative to conventional manual operations, or if the marketplace adopts AI-enabled robotics and automation technologies that differ 
from our technologies, we may not be able to increase or sustain the level of sales of our solutions or retain existing customers or attract new customers, and our operating 
results would be adversely affected as a result.

Our solutions have a limited operating history, and any defects in our solutions may give rise to warranty or other claims that could result in material expenses, 
diversion of management time and attention and damage to our reputation.

Our AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions (and underlying product modules and related components) are complex and may contain undetected defects or errors 
when first introduced, during operation, or as enhancements are released that, despite testing, are not discovered until after a system has been used for a certain period of time or 
under certain conditions. This could result in delayed market acceptance of our solutions or claims from resellers, customers or others, which may result in litigation, increased 
end-user warranty, support and repair or replacement costs, damage to our reputation and business, or significant costs and diversion of support and engineering personnel to 
correct the defect or error. We may from time to time become subject to warranty or product liability claims related to product quality issues that could lead us to incur 
significant expenses.
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We attempt to include provisions in our agreements with customers that are designed to limit our exposure to potential liability for damages arising from defects or 
errors in our solutions. However, it is possible that these limitations may not be effective as a result of unfavorable judicial decisions or laws or regulations enacted in the future.

The sale and support of our solutions entails the risk of product liability claims. Any product liability claim brought against us, regardless of its merit, could result in 
material expense, diversion of management time and attention, damage to our business and reputation and brand, and cause us to fail to retain existing customers or to fail to 
attract new customers.

If we fail to grow our business as we expect, our revenue, gross margin and operating margin will be adversely affected. If we grow our business as we expect but 
fail to effectively manage our growth, our business may be harmed, and our results of operation may be adversely impacted.

Over the past several years, we have experienced rapid growth, and we are attempting to continue to grow our business substantially. To this end, we have made, and 
expect to continue to make, significant investments in our business, including investments in our technology development, operations infrastructure and marketing and sales 
efforts. These investments include dedicated facilities expansion and increased staffing. If our business does not generate the level of revenue required to support our 
investment, our future revenues and profitability, if any, will be adversely affected.

Our ability to effectively manage our anticipated growth and expansion of our operations will also require us to enhance our operational, financial and management 
controls and infrastructure, human resources policies and reporting systems. These enhancements and improvements will require significant capital expenditures, investments in 
additional headcount and other operating expenditures and allocation of valuable management and employee resources. Our future financial performance and our ability to 
execute on our business plan will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth and expansion. There are no guarantees we will be able to do so in an 
efficient or timely manner, or at all.

We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges and opportunities, 
including the need to develop new features or enhance our solutions, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, 
we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds if our existing sources of cash and any funds generated from operations do not provide us with 
sufficient capital. If we raise additional funds through future issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and 
any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our Class A common stock. Any debt financing that we may 
secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for 
us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, 
if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to 
respond to business challenges and opportunities could be significantly impaired, and our business may be adversely affected.

As part of our growth strategy, we expect to acquire or make investments in other businesses, patents, technologies, products or services. Our failure to do so 
successfully could disrupt our business and have an adverse impact on our financial condition.

We have no experience acquiring businesses and third-party technologies or products but we expect to do so in the future. To the extent we seek to grow our business 
through acquisitions, we may not be able to successfully identify attractive acquisition opportunities or consummate any such acquisitions if we cannot reach an agreement on 
commercially favorable terms, if we lack sufficient resources to finance the transaction on our own and cannot obtain financing at a reasonable cost or if regulatory authorities 
prevent such transaction from being consummated. In addition, competition for acquisitions in the markets in which we operate during recent years has increased, and may 
continue to increase, which may result in an increase in the costs of acquisitions or cause us to refrain from making certain acquisitions. We may not be able to complete future 
acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all.
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If we do complete future acquisitions, we cannot assure you that they will ultimately strengthen our competitive position or that they will be viewed positively by 
customers, financial markets or investors. Furthermore, future acquisitions could pose numerous additional risks to our operations, including:

•diversion of management’s attention from their day-to-day responsibilities;

•unanticipated or significant costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition;

•incurrence of acquisition-related costs, which would be recognized as a current period expense;

•problems integrating the purchased business, products or technologies;

•challenges in achieving strategic objectives, cost savings and other anticipated benefits;

•inability to maintain relationships with key customers, suppliers, vendors and other third parties on which the purchased business relies;

•the difficulty of incorporating acquired technology and rights into our platform and of maintaining quality and security standards consistent with our brand;

•difficulty in maintaining controls (financial or otherwise), procedures and policies during the transition and integration;

•material changes to our business or product offerings resulting from regulatory compliance;

•challenges in integrating the new workforce and the potential loss of key employees, particularly those of the acquired business; and

•use of substantial portions of our available cash or the incurrence of debt to consummate the acquisition.

If we proceed with a particular acquisition, we may have to use cash, issue new equity securities with dilutive effects on existing stockholders, incur indebtedness, 
assume contingent liabilities or amortize assets or expenses in a manner that might have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Aversion 
to any such acquisition from existing stockholders could adversely affect our stock price. Acquisitions will also require us to record certain acquisition-related costs and other 
items as current period expenses, which would have the effect of reducing our reported earnings in the period in which an acquisition is consummated. In addition, we could 
also face unknown liabilities or write-offs due to our acquisitions, which could result in a significant charge to our earnings in the period in which they occur. We will also be 
required to record goodwill or other long-lived asset impairment charges (if any) in the periods in which they occur, which could result in a significant charge to our earnings in 
any such period.

Achieving the expected returns and synergies from future acquisitions will depend, in part, upon our ability to integrate the products and services, technology, 
administrative functions and personnel of these businesses into our product lines in an efficient and effective manner. We cannot assure you that we will be able to do so, that 
our acquired businesses will perform at levels and on the timelines anticipated by our management or that we will be able to obtain these synergies in the future. In addition, 
acquired technologies and intellectual property may be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by our own or our competitors’ technological advances. Management resources may 
also be diverted from operating our existing businesses to certain acquisition integration challenges. If we are unable to successfully integrate acquired businesses, our 
anticipated revenues and profits may be lower. Our profit margins may also be lower, or diluted, following the acquisition of companies whose profit margins are less than 
those of our existing businesses.

The competition for qualified personnel is particularly intense in our industry. In addition, we may make changes to our executive personnel as our needs evolve. If 
we are unable to retain or hire executive and other key personnel, we may not be able to sustain or grow our business.

Our ability to operate successfully and manage our potential future growth depends significantly upon our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled and 
qualified technical, sales, marketing, managerial, legal and financial personnel. We have hired, and expect to continue to hire, a substantial number of employees in these areas 
and others in order to support commercialization and the expected growth in our global business. However, we face intense competition for qualified personnel, and we may not 
be able to attract, retain and motivate these individuals. We compete for talent with numerous companies, as well as research organizations. Our future success also depends on 
the personal efforts and abilities of the principal members of our senior management and technical staff to provide strategic direction, management of our operations and 
maintenance of a cohesive and stable working environment. Although we have employment and incentive compensation agreements with our executive officers and incentive 
and compensation plans for our other personnel providing them with various economic incentives to remain employed with us, these incentives may not be sufficient to retain 
them. The loss of 
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key personnel for any reason or our inability to hire, retain and motivate additional qualified personnel in the future could prevent us from sustaining or growing our business.

Our decision to expand existing solutions offerings into new markets or to launch new solutions may consume significant financial and other resources and may 
not achieve the desired results.

We expect to expand existing solutions offerings into new markets and to launch new solutions in the future. We may not be able to do so at prices that are attractive to 
our customers, and our costs to develop new solutions may be significant. It may take longer than we might expect for a solution, even if ultimately successful, to achieve 
attractive sales results. Failure to successfully develop or market new or expanded solutions or delays in the development of new or expanded solutions could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and business.

Our management team will have broad discretion in making strategic decisions to execute their growth plans, and there can be no assurance that our 
management’s decisions will result in successful achievement of our business objectives or will not have unintended consequences that negatively impact our growth 
prospects.

Our management will have broad discretion in making strategic decisions to execute their growth plans and may devote time and company resources to new or 
expanded solution offerings, potential acquisitions, prospective customers or other initiatives that do not necessarily improve our operating results or contribute to our growth. 
Management’s failure to make strategic decisions that are ultimately accretive to our growth may result in unfavorable returns and uncertainty about our prospects, each of 
which could cause the price of our Class A common stock and warrants to decline.

We have a broad range of competitors, including automation and robotics suppliers, more diversified technology providers and providers of alternative products, 
which could adversely impact the price of our solutions and our ability to increase our market share.

The robotics and AI automation industry in which we operate is fragmented and competitive. We compete for customers with a wide variety of producers of robotics and 
automation systems, as well as with providers of components, materials and services for this equipment. Some of our existing and potential competitors are researching, 
designing, developing and marketing other types of products and services that may render our existing or future solutions obsolete, uneconomical or less competitive. Existing 
and potential competitors may also have substantially greater financial, technical, marketing and sales, manufacturing, distribution and other resources than us, including name 
recognition, as well as experience and expertise in intellectual property rights and operating within certain international markets, any of which may enable them to compete 
effectively against us.

We intend to continue to follow a strategy of continuing product development and distribution network expansion to enhance our competitive position to the extent 
practicable. But we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our current position or continue to compete successfully against current and future sources of 
competition. If we do not keep pace with technological change and introduce new solutions and technologies, demand for our solutions may decline, and our operating results 
may suffer.

Our failure to meet our customers’ price expectations or declines in the prices of our solutions and services or in our sales volume would adversely affect our 
business and results of operations.

Demand for our AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions is sensitive to price. We believe our competitive pricing has been an important factor in our results to 
date. Therefore, changes in our pricing strategies can have a significant impact on our business and ability to generate revenue. Many factors, including our production and 
personnel costs and our competitors’ pricing and marketing strategies, can significantly impact our pricing strategies. If we fail to meet our customers’ price expectations in any 
given period, demand for our solutions could be negatively impacted and our business and results of operations could suffer.

We use, and plan to continue using, different pricing models for different solutions. For example, we offer our customers a robotics-as-a-service (“RaaS”) pricing model 
whereby we own and maintain systems physically located at our customer’s facility and our customer pays a subscription fee for the use of the system. Such pricing models are 
still relatively new to some of our customers and may not be attractive to them, especially in regions where they are less common. The RaaS pricing model requires us to fund 
the capital needed to manufacture systems and, therefore, substantial capital may be needed if our customers increase the use of the RaaS pricing model. Such capital may not 
be available under favorable terms, or at all, which could in turn harm our ability to grow our revenue. If customers resist such pricing models, our revenue may be adversely 
affected and we may need to restructure the way in which we charge customers for our solutions.
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Changes in tax laws may adversely affect us or our investors.

Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. In recent years, many such changes 
have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what form or with what effective dates tax laws, regulations 
and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or issued, which could result in an increase in our or our shareholders’ tax liability or require changes in the manner in which we 
operate in order to minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the potential consequences 
of changes in tax law on our business and on the ownership and disposition of our Class A common stock.

Our ability to utilize net operating losses from prior tax years to offset our taxable income may be limited.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we have incurred net losses since our inception. If we have undergone or in the future undergo an ownership change for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes, our ability to utilize net operating loss carry-forwards from pre-change periods to reduce taxable income in post-change periods might be limited 
by operation of the Internal Revenue Code. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or 
groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases by more than 50 percentage points over the lowest ownership percentage of such stockholders 
within a specified testing period. Certain changes in the ownership of our Class A common stock may result in an ownership change sufficient to limit the availability of our net 
operating losses.

Our operations may be materially adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted, and other infectious diseases could result, in a widespread health crisis that has affected and could continue to adversely affect 
the economies and financial markets worldwide, which may materially and adversely affect our business. The extent of such impact will depend on future developments, which 
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of new variants of COVID-19, the efficacy of new or 
existing vaccines and the actions to contain COVID-19, among others. 

The disruptions posed by COVID-19 have continued, and other matters of global concern may continue, for an extensive period of time, and if we are unable to recover 
from business disruptions due to COVID-19 or other matters of global concern on a timely basis, our financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely 
affected.

Our warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of our warrants could have a material effect on our financial results.

On April 12, 2021, the Acting Director of the Division of Corporation Finance and Acting Chief Accountant of the SEC together issued a statement regarding the 
accounting and reporting considerations for warrants issued by special purpose acquisition companies entitled “Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for 
Warrants Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (‘SPACs’)”(the “SEC Statement”). Specifically, the SEC Statement focused on certain settlement terms and 
provisions related to certain tender offers following a business combination, which terms are similar to those contained in the warrant agreement governing our warrants. As a 
result of the SEC Statement, we reevaluated the accounting treatment of RAAC’s 9,583,333 public warrants and 5,166,667 private placement warrants prior to the Business 
Combination, and determined to classify the warrants as derivative liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value each period reported in earnings.

As a result, included on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021 contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are derivative liabilities 
related to embedded features contained within our warrants. Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and ASC 820, Fair Value 
Measurement, provide for the remeasurement of the fair value of such derivatives at each balance sheet date, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the 
fair value being recognized in earnings in the statement of operations. As a result of the recurring fair value measurement, our consolidated financial statements and results of 
operations may fluctuate quarterly, based on factors, which are outside of our control. Due to the recurring fair value measurement, we expect that we will recognize non-cash 
gains or losses on our warrants each reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses could be material.

In connection with the Business Combination, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 and 
March 31, 2021. If we are unable to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results 
in a timely manner, 
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which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating results.

Following the issuance of the SEC Statement, on April 29, 2021, after consultation with RAAC’s independent registered public accounting firm, management and the 
Audit Committee of RAAC’s board of directors concluded that, in light of the SEC Statement, it was appropriate to restate(i) certain items on RAAC’s previously issued audited 
balance sheet dated as of December 10, 2020, which was related to RAAC’s initial public offering, and (ii) RAAC’s previously issued audited financial statements as of 
December 31, 2020 and for the period from September 10, 2020 (inception) to December 31, 2020. See “—Our warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in 
value of our warrants could have a material effect on our financial results.” On June 9, 2021, after consultation with RAAC’s independent registered public accounting firm, 
management and the Audit Committee of RAAC’s board of directors revised our position related to the classification of our shares of Class A common stock between 
temporary equity and permanent equity in connection with the guidance within ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity as it specifically relates to the impact of the 
PIPE Investment and concluded that it was appropriate to restate RAAC’s previously issued interim condensed financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 
31, 2021. As part of such processes, we identified a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. Effective internal controls are necessary 
for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud.

We believe that the identified material weakness was remediated as of September 30, 2021. Prior to the Business Combination, the Company’s internal control and 
review process relied upon different employees, processes, and technology. The current internal control and review process includes (i) expanded review processes for complex 
securities and related accounting standards, (ii) the utilization of third-party professionals and consultations regarding complex accounting applications, and (iii) a larger 
accounting staff with the requisite experience and training.

If we identify any new material weaknesses in the future, any such newly identified material weakness could limit our ability to prevent or detect a misstatement of our 
accounts or disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements. In such case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with 
securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in our 
financial reporting and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, or any measures we may take in the future, will 
be sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting.

Our operating results are subject to significant quarterly fluctuations due to the nature of our business, our limited number of customers and the uneven flow of 
our order volume.

Our quarterly revenues, expenses and operating results have varied significantly in the past and we expect that they will continue to vary significantly in the future. The 
nature of our business and the unpredictable demand for our AI-enabled robotic automation products result in customer orders that vary widely by size and that do not occur on 
a predictable timeline. In particular, our operating results fluctuate due to our limited number of existing customers, the uneven timing of the fulfillment of our customers’ 
orders, the number, timing and significance of our product enhancements and new product announcements and those of our competitors, customer order deferrals, changes in 
the mix of our domestic and international revenues, and our level of international expansion. As a result, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience significant 
fluctuations in quarterly revenues and expenses, largely attributable to customer buying patterns and large order sizes. Due to our expectation that our quarterly revenues, 
expenses and operating results will continue to vary significantly in the future, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily 
meaningful and that, in any event, such comparisons should not be relied upon as indications of future performance. We have limited ability to forecast future revenues, and it is 
likely that our operating results will be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors in one or more future quarters. In the event that our operating results are 
below such expectations, the price of our Class A common stock may decline.

If we are unable to accurately estimate contract risks, revenue or costs, the timing of new awards, or the pace of project execution, we may incur a loss or achieve 
lower than anticipated profit.

Accounting for contract-related revenue and costs requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions that may change substantially throughout the 
project lifecycle, which has previously resulted, and in the future could result, in a material impact to our consolidated financial statements. In addition, cost overruns have 
previously resulted, and in the 
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future may result, in lower profits or losses. We expect that we will need to reduce product costs in order to improve gross margins for the foreseeable future. If we are unable to 
reduce our product costs as planned, or at all, our gross margins may be lower than an anticipated, and our ability to achieve or maintain profitability may be adversely 
impacted as well. Changes in laws, policies or regulations, including tariffs and taxes, in the future could impact, the prices for materials or equipment. Further, our results of 
operations have historically fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate, quarterly and annually depending on when new awards occur and the commencement and progress of 
work on projects already awarded.

We may face litigation and other risks and uncertainties as a result of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and the restatement 
of our financial statements.

As a result of the material weakness described above, the restatement of previously issued financials of RAAC, the change in accounting for the warrants and other 
matters raised or that may in the future be raised by the SEC, we face potential for litigation, inquiries from the SEC and other regulatory bodies, other disputes or proceedings 
which may include, among other things, monetary judgments, penalties or other sanctions, claims invoking the federal and state securities laws and contractual claims. As of the 
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have no knowledge of any such litigation, inquires, disputes or proceedings. However, we can provide no assurance that such 
litigation, inquiries, disputes or proceedings will not arise in the future. Any such litigation, inquiries, disputes or proceedings, whether successful or not, could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition or our ability to complete our initial business combination.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Berkshire Grey’s Securities

Our Class A common stock has fluctuated in the past, has recently been volatile and may be volatile in the future, and as a result, investors in our Class A common 
stock could incur substantial losses. Prices of our Class A common stock may continue to be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance and you may 
lose some or all of your investment.

Our stock price has fluctuated in the past, has recently been volatile and may be volatile in the future. The trading price of our Class A common stock is likely to be 
volatile and the stock market recently has experienced extreme volatility and may experience similar volatility moving forward. This volatility often has been unrelated or 
disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. You may not be able to resell your shares of Class A common stock at an attractive price due to a 
number of factors such as those listed in “—Risks Relating to Berkshire Grey’s Business and Industry” and the following:

•the previous and continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our financial condition and the results of operations;

•our operating and financial performance and prospects;

•our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry relative to market expectations;

•conditions that impact demand for our solutions;

•future announcements concerning our business, our clients’ businesses or our competitors’ businesses;

•the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

•the market’s reaction to our reduced disclosure and other requirements as a result of being an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act;

•the size of our public float;

•coverage by or changes in financial estimates by securities analysts or failure to meet their expectations;

•market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our growth strategy and the effects of such perception on our brand and reputation;

•strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

•changes in laws or regulations which adversely affect our industry or us;

•changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

•changes in senior management or key personnel;
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•issuances, exchanges or sales, or expected issuances, exchanges or sales of our capital stock;

•issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts;

•reports, guidance and ratings issued by securities or industry analysts;

•operating results below the expectations of securities analysts or investors;

•adverse resolution of new or pending litigation against us; and

•changes in general market, economic and political conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets, including those resulting from natural 
disasters, terrorist attacks, acts of war and responses to such events.

These broad market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our Class A common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In addition, 
price volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of our Class A common stock is low. As a result, you may suffer a loss on your investment.

In the past, following periods of market volatility, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation. If we were involved in securities litigation, it could have 
a substantial cost and divert resources and the attention of executive management from our business, regardless of the outcome of such litigation.

If our operating results and financial performance do not meet the guidance that we have provided to the public or the expectations of investment analysts, our 
stock price may decline.

We provide public guidance on our expected operating and financial results. Although we believe that this guidance provides our stockholders, investors and analysts 
with a better understanding of our expectations for the future, such guidance is comprised of forward-looking statements which are subject to the risks and uncertainties 
described in this report and in our other public filings and public statements. Additionally, securities analysts may provide public guidance, research or reports on our expected 
operating and financial results. Our actual results may not meet the guidance we have provided and provided by securities analysts. If our operating or financial results do not 
meet our guidance or the expectations of investment analysts, our stock price may decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A common stock for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. As a result, we do not anticipate declaring 
or paying any cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of 
our board of directors and will depend on, among other things, our business prospects, results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements and availability, certain 
restrictions related to any future indebtedness, industry trends and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Any such decision will also be subject to 
compliance with contractual restrictions and covenants in the agreements governing our future indebtedness. In addition, we may incur indebtedness, the terms of which may 
further restrict or prevent us from paying dividends on our Class A common stock. As a result, you may have to sell some or all of your Class A common stock after price 
appreciation in order to generate cash flow from your investment, which you may not be able to do. Our inability or decision not to pay dividends, particularly when others in 
our industry have elected to do so, could also adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about us, or if they issue unfavorable commentary about us or our industry or downgrade our Class A 
common stock, the price of our Class A common stock and warrants could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock and warrants will depend in part on the research and reports that third-party securities analysts publish about us and 
the industries in which we operate. We may be unable or slow to attract research coverage and if one or more analysts cease coverage of us, the price and trading volume of our 
securities would likely be negatively impacted. If any of the analysts that may cover us change their recommendation regarding our securities adversely, or provide more 
favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of our securities would likely decline. If any analyst that may cover us ceases covering us or fails to 
regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause the price or trading volume of our securities to decline. Moreover, if one or 
more of the analysts who cover us downgrades our Class A common stock, or if our reporting results do not meet their expectations, the market prices of our Class A common 
stock and warrants could decline.
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Our issuance of additional shares of Class A common stock or convertible securities could make it difficult for another company to acquire us, may dilute your 
ownership of us and could adversely affect the prices of our Class A common stock and warrants.

From time to time in the future, we may issue additional shares of our Class A common stock or securities convertible into Class A common stock pursuant to a variety 
of transactions. The issuance by us of additional shares of our common stock or securities convertible into our Class A common stock would dilute your ownership of us, and 
the sale of a significant amount of such shares in the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, or significant stockholders, or the perception that these 
sales could occur, could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our Class A common stock and warrants. Investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future could 
have rights superior to those of existing stockholders. We have filed a registration statement with the SEC on Form S-8 providing for the registration of shares of our Class A 
common stock issued or reserved for issuance under the 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan for Berkshire Grey, Inc. (the "2021 Plan"). Subject to the satisfaction of vesting 
conditions, shares registered under the registration statement on Form S-8 are available for resale in the public market without restriction. Certain of our stockholders have 
rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares that we may file for ourselves or our stockholders. Any registration statement 
we file to register additional shares, whether as a result of registration rights or otherwise, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline or be volatile.

In the future, we may obtain financing or to further increase our capital resources by issuing additional shares of our capital stock or offering debt or other equity 
securities, including senior or subordinated notes, debt securities convertible into equity, or shares of preferred stock. Issuing additional shares of our capital stock, other equity 
securities, or securities convertible into equity may dilute the economic and voting rights of our existing stockholders, reduce the market price of our Class A common stock and 
warrants, or both. Debt securities convertible into equity could be subject to adjustments in the conversion ratio pursuant to which certain events may increase the number of 
equity securities issuable upon conversion. Preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference with respect to liquidating distributions or a preference with respect to dividend 
payments that could limit our ability to pay dividends to the holders of our Class A common stock. Additionally, debt securities convertible into equity or preferred stock, if 
issued, may be given preferential rights or powers that could affect the rights and powers of our current stockholders. Our decision to issue securities in any future offering will 
depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, which may adversely affect the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. As a result, holders of our 
Class A common stock and warrants bear the risk that our future offerings may reduce the market price of our Class A common stock and warrants and dilute a Class A 
common stockholder’s percentage ownership. See “Description of Capital Stock.”

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, of our Class A common stock or securities convertible into shares of our Class A common stock by us or our existing 
stockholders in the public market could cause the market price for our Class A common stock and warrants to decline.

The sale of shares of our Class A common stock or securities convertible into shares of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that such 
sales could occur, could harm the prevailing market price of shares of our Class A common stock and warrants. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also 
might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

Certain of our existing stockholders may resell their shares of Class A common stock without restriction, subject to, in the case of stockholders who are our affiliates, 
volume, manner of sale and other limitations under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act.

In addition, shares of our Class A common stock issuable upon exercise or vesting of incentive awards under our incentive plans may be eligible for sale in the public 
market, subject to any lock-up agreements and, in some cases, limitations on volume and manner of sale applicable to affiliates under Rule 144. Furthermore, shares of our Class 
A common stock reserved for future issuance under the 2021 Plan, including pursuant to the evergreen provision that allows our board of directors to reserve additional shares 
of Class A common stock for future issuance under the 2021 Plan each calendar year, may become available for sale in future.

The market price of shares of our Class A common stock and warrants could drop significantly if the holders of these shares sell them or are perceived by the market as 
intending to sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds through future offerings of shares of our Class A common stock or other 
securities.

We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions 
from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies or 

34



  

smaller reporting companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public 
companies.

We are an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from 
various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply 
with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and 
proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute 
payments not previously approved. As a result, our security holders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We could be an emerging growth 
company for up to five years, although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-affiliates exceeds 
$700 million as of the end of any second quarter of a fiscal year, in which case we would no longer be an emerging growth company as of the end of such fiscal year. We cannot 
predict whether investors will find our securities less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result of our 
reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of our securities may be lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a less active trading market for our securities and the 
trading prices of our securities may be more volatile.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards 
until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the 
Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended 
transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out 
of such extended transition period which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an 
emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial 
statements with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition 
period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Additionally, we are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1)of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act. Smaller reporting companies may take 
advantage of certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years of audited financial statements. We will remain a smaller reporting 
company until the last day of the fiscal year in which (1) the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-affiliates equals or exceeds $250 million as of the end of that year’s 
second fiscal quarter, or (2) our annual revenue equaled or exceeded $100 million during such completed fiscal year or the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-
affiliates equals or exceeds $700.0 million as of the end of that year’s second fiscal quarter. To the extent we take advantage of such reduced disclosure obligations, it may make 
comparison of our financial statements with other public companies difficult or impossible.

Certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions, in our governing documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us more difficult, limit 
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our Class A common stock and warrants.

Our Charter and Bylaws, and the DGCL, contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or preventing an acquisition deemed 
undesirable by our board of directors and therefore depress the market price of our Class A common stock and warrants. Among other things, our Charter and Bylaws include 
the following provisions:

•a staggered board, which means that our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms and directors may be removed from 
office (i) only for cause and (ii) only by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two thirds of the outstanding shares of capital stock then entitled to vote at an 
election of directors;

•limitations regarding special stockholder meetings, including the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority of the entire 
Berkshire Grey board of directors, which could delay the ability of stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to action, including the removal of directors and 
the adoption of desired governance changes;

•a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of stockholders and, therefore, could 
delay the ability of stockholders to force consideration of a stockholder proposal or to take action; 
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•the authorization of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without further action by our stockholders; 

•the ability of our board of directors to amend its Bylaws, which may allow the our board of directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and 
inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the Bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

•limitation of liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers; and

•advance notice procedures, which apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters before an annual meeting of stockholders.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our board of directors or management.

Any provision of our Charter and Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our 
stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Class A common stock and warrants and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class 
A common stock and warrants.

Our Bylaws designate the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our 
stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees.

Our Bylaws, provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery (the “Chancery Court”) of the State of Delaware 
shall be the sole and exclusive forum for state law claims for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a 
fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employee or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or 
our Charter or Bylaws,(iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our Charter or Bylaws, or (v) any action asserting a claim against us governed by 
the internal affairs doctrine. The foregoing provisions will not apply to any claims arising under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act and, unless we consent in writing to the 
selection of an alternative forum, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any action asserting a claim 
arising under the Securities Act.

The choice of forum provision in the Bylaws may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of 
our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits with respect to such claims. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such 
provisions, and the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ organizational documents has been challenged in legal proceedings. It is possible 
that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable, and if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in the our Bylaws to be 
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, results of 
operations, and financial condition.

Additionally, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by 
the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As noted above, the Bylaws will designate the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts as the sole 
and exclusive forum for resolving any action asserting a claim arising under the Securities Act. Accordingly, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such 
provision, and we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, results of operations, and financial 
condition. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters is located in an approximately 70,000 square foot facility that we lease in Bedford, Massachusetts. The lease expires in 2031 and we have 
the option to extend for two additional five-year periods. Our facilities we lease in Massachusetts and Pennsylvania are summarized below. We believe that our leased office 
space is adequate for our current needs and, should we need additional space, we believe we will be able to obtain additional space on commercially reasonable terms. 
 
Location  Approximate Size (sq ft)   Lease Expiration  Purpose
Bedford, MA (Main)   70,000   February 2031  Innovation Center & Headquarters
Lexington, MA   31,000   April 2022  R&D and Admin
Pittsburgh, PA   20,500   September 2025  R&D
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. While it is not possible to ascertain with certainty the outcome 
of such matters, we do not believe that these proceedings, individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.

37



  
PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock and warrants are listed on Nasdaq under the symbols “BGRY” and “BGRYW”, respectively. On March 17, 2022, the closing price of our common 
stock was $3.55 per share and the closing price of our warrants was $0.48 per warrant.

Holders of our Common Stock 

As of March 17, 2022, we had 42 holders of record of our common stock. Certain shares are held in “street” name and accordingly, the number of beneficial owners of 
such shares is not known or included in the foregoing number. This number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other 
entities.

Dividend Policy 

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the growth and development of our business. We have never declared or paid any cash 
dividends on our capital stock. We do not intend to pay cash dividends to our stockholders in the foreseeable future. Investors should not purchase our common stock with the 
expectation of receiving cash dividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The information required by Item 701 of Regulation S-K was previously included in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed on November 11, 2021.

Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The information required by Item 701 of Regulation S-K was previously included in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed on November 11, 2021.

Item 6. [Reserved.]

Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis provide information which we believe is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our audited consolidated results of 
operations and financial condition. You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set 
forth elsewhere in this Annual Report Form 10-K, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking 
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. For a complete discussion of forward-looking statements, see the section in this report entitled “Forward-Looking Statements.” 
Certain risk factors may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the following discussion. For a 
discussion of such risk factors, see the sections in this report entitled “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Business Overview 

We are an Intelligent Enterprise Robotics (“IER”) company pioneering and delivering transformative AI-enabled robotic solutions that automate filling ecommerce 
orders for consumers or businesses, filling orders to resupply retail and grocery stores, and handling packages shipped to fill those orders. Our solutions transform supply chain 
operations and enable our customers to meet and exceed the demands of today’s connected consumers and businesses. 

Our IER capabilities are grounded in patented and proprietary technologies for robotic picking (each picking or unit handling), robotic movement and mobility 
(movement and storage of orders and goods), and system orchestration (which enables various intelligent subsystems to work together so that the right work is being done at the 
right time to meet our customer’s needs). We are a technology leader in robotics and AI automation with an intellectual property position buttressed by trade secrets supporting 
our technologies and over 285 patent filings with 120 U.S. and international patents issued to date in technologies including robotic picking, mobility, gripping, sensing and 
perception, general robot control, and differentiated supporting mechanisms. Our proprietary technologies enable us to offer holistic solutions that automate supply chain 
operations. Our solutions include moving goods to robots that then pick and pack ecommerce or retail orders, robotically moving and organizing inventory and orders within a 
warehouse or logistics facility, and robotically sorting packages and shipments. 

We are not a component technology company nor are we a conventional systems integrator. Instead, we create products from the technologies we pioneer and develop, 
and then incorporate the products (product modules) into solutions — solutions that incorporate said modules and are designed by us to meet customer performance metrics like 
throughput and accuracy rates. We believe that this technology plus performant, whole-enterprise solution view, enables customers to focus on the core of their business and 
creates attractive returns for them. Following the whole-enterprise solution view, we not only make, install, test, and commission the solutions, but we also offer customers 
continued support in the form of software updates as well as professional services including maintenance, system operation, and cloud-based monitoring and analytics. Because 
of our modular approach to solutions and the role of our software, we offer customers the ability to incrementally add to or change solutions, and we can incorporate outside 
technologies with our product modules if desired. The same modular attributes mean we can offer small and large solutions and can design for brownfield and greenfield 
installations. We offer customers a range of purchase options including a robotics-as-a-service (“RaaS”) program that minimizes the up-front capital required when compared to 
conventional equipment purchase models. 

To date, most of our deployments have been with large, Fortune 50 companies, where our technology and solutions in production have achieved targeted metrics 
including throughput, accuracy, equipment effectiveness, and others. Our customers include Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (“Wal-Mart”), Target Corporation (“Target”), FedEx 
Corporation (“FedEx”), Meijer Distribution, Inc. (“Meijer”) and SoftBank Robotics Corp. (“Softbank”). 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, Target, TJX, FedEx, and Meijer comprised approximately 32%, 27%, 14% and 12% of our revenue, respectively. For the year 
ended December 31, 2020, Target and Softbank comprised approximately 70% and 30% of our revenue. 

With the completion of an existing Softbank project, we do not anticipate further immediate business with SoftBank. We do not anticipate that this will have an adverse 
effect on our expected future revenues or results of operations. We expect the master purchase and license agreement with Softbank to expire in June 2022, and Softbank has 
notified us they intend the same.

We have incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operating activities in each of our annual periods since our inception, and we expect we will continue to 
need investments to support the growth of our business, continue research and development in our customer solutions, and support our operations. We also expect that we will 
incur operating losses and negative cash flows from operating activities for the next few years as a result of these continued investments. Our ability 
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to achieve profitability and positive cash flows from operating activities will depend primarily on our ability to substantially scale our revenues with current and future 
customers. We believe that our revenue growth will be driven by expanding relationships with our current, large anchor customers and by investing in sales and marketing 
resources to build a diverse, global customer base and expand geographically. By scaling our revenues, we expect to be able to lower our solution costs through increased 
volumes with our contract manufacturers. Additionally, we believe that scaling our revenues will allow us to leverage overhead and other fixed costs supporting our business, 
contributing towards improving overall profitability. We believe that our proprietary technology powered by our artificial intelligence software platform combined with our 
engineering capabilities and proven customer experiences will enable us to fully realize our potential in the large and rapidly growing robotics and AI automation industry.

Recent Developments 

Merger Agreement 

On February 23, 2021, Legacy Berkshire Grey entered into the Merger Agreement with RAAC, as summarized in Note 1, "Nature of the Business and Basis of 
Presentation", and Note 3, "Merger" of the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. On July 21, 2021, the Company 
completed a business combination transaction with RAAC and the combined company was renamed Berkshire Grey, Inc. 

COVID-19 

The full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, financial condition and results of operations remains unpredictable due to the evolving nature of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the extent of its impact across industries and geographies and numerous other uncertainties. For example, we cannot predict the duration and spread 
of the outbreak of new variants of the virus, additional actions that may be taken by governmental entities, or the impact the pandemic may have on the ability of us, our 
customers, our suppliers, our manufacturers, and our other business partners to conduct business. Governments in affected regions have implemented, and may continue to 
implement, safety precautions which include quarantines, travel restrictions, business closures, cancellations of public gatherings, and other measures as they deem necessary. 
Many organizations and individuals, including our Company and employees, are taking additional steps to avoid or reduce infections, including limiting travel and working 
from home. These measures are disrupting normal business operations and have had significant negative impacts on businesses and financial markets worldwide. We continue to 
monitor our operations and government recommendations and have made modifications to our normal operations because of the COVID-19 pandemic, including utilizing 
heightened cleaning and sanitization procedures, implementing new health and safety protocols and reducing non-essential travel. 

To date, travel restrictions and capacity limits at customer locations imposed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic have caused delays in the deployment of two 
customer contracts; however, the pandemic has not significantly impacted our financial condition and operations. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our financial 
performance will depend on future developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak and related governmental advisories and restrictions. These developments 
and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the financial markets and the overall economy are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. If the financial markets and/or the 
overall economy are impacted for an extended period, our results may be materially adversely affected. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates and judgments include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition 
including performance obligations, variable consideration and other obligations such as warranty cost and incentives and accounting for stock-based compensation including 
performance-based assessments. We base these estimates and judgments on historical experience, market participant fair value considerations, projected future cash flows and 
various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from our estimates. We believe that our accounting policies relating to 
revenue recognition and stock-based compensation are the most critical to understanding and evaluating our reported financial results. We have identified these policies as 
critical because they both are important to the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations and require us to make judgments and estimates on matters that 
are inherently uncertain and may change in future periods. For more information regarding these policies, you should refer to Note 2, "Significant Accounting Policies" of our 
audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Revenue Recognition

We primarily derive revenues from the sale of our AI-enabled robotics and automation solutions, which consist of a network of automated machinery installed at the 
customer location and configured to meet specified performance requirements. Revenue is recognized when control of the promised products is transferred to the customer, or 
when services are satisfied under the contract, in an amount that reflects the consideration Berkshire Grey expects to be entitled to in exchange for those products or services (the 
transaction price). Revenue is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur. Taxes collected from customers, which are 
subsequently remitted to governmental authorities, are excluded from revenue.

Our customer contracts typically have multiple performance obligations. Judgment is required to determine whether performance obligations specified in these contracts 
are distinct and should be accounted for as separate revenue transactions for recognition purposes. We also provide assurance-based warranties that are not considered a distinct 
performance obligation. We allocate the total transaction price to each performance obligation in an amount based on the estimated relative standalone selling prices (“SSP”) of 
the promised goods or services underlying each performance obligation.

We began generating revenue from the sale of systems in 2018. The absence of observable prices resulting from our relatively short period of revenue generation 
requires us to estimate the SSPs of distinct performance obligations in a given contract. We use a cost plus margin approach to determine the SSP for separate performance 
obligations. Expected margins may vary based on the complexity of the underlying equipment and technologies. Our determination of SSP may change in the future as 
standalone sales of solutions and services occur, providing observable prices.

Each customer contract is evaluated individually to determine the appropriate pattern of revenue recognition. The majority of our revenues is from the sale of systems 
which are delivered and installed by our deployment teams. Revenue recognition for these contracts begins upon delivery and continues throughout the installation and 
implementation period. Berkshire Grey typically uses total estimated labor hours as the input to measure progress as labor hours represent work performed and the transfer of 
control to the customer. Revenue from sale of services may be recognized over the life of the associated service contract or as services are performed, depending on the nature 
of the services being provided.
Our complete revenue recognition policy is more fully described in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure stock-based awards granted to employees, directors and non-employees based on their fair value on the date of the grant and recognize the corresponding 
compensation expense of those awards over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. Forfeitures are accounted for as they 
occur. We grant stock options, restricted stock awards, and restricted stock units that are subject to service and/or performance-based vesting conditions. Compensation expense 
related to awards to employees and non-employees with performance-based vesting conditions is recognized based on the grant date fair value over the requisite service period 
using the accelerated attribution method to the extent achievement of the performance condition is probable. We estimate the probability that certain performance criteria will be 
met and do not recognize compensation expense until it is probable that the performance-based vesting condition will be achieved.

We classify stock-based compensation expense in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the same way the payroll costs or service payments are 
classified for the related stock-based award recipient.

We estimate the fair value of each stock option using the Black-Scholes option pricing model or a lattice model, which requires the input of highly subjective 
assumptions, including (i) the expected volatility of our stock, (ii) the expected term of the award, (iii) the risk-free interest rate, (iv) expected dividends, and (v) the fair value of 
our common stock.

A complete discussion of stock-based compensation expense, including cost components and amounts, is more fully described in the accompanying notes to the 
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Summary of Recent Financial Performance 

Revenue was $50.9 million in 2021 compared to $34.8 million in 2020. The increase in revenue primarily relates to fulfillment of orders placed by existing customers. 

Gross profit declined from $2.8 million to a loss of $8.2 million in 2021, which was mainly driven by the accrual of estimated future costs in excess of estimated future 
revenues for select contracts expected to be deployed in 2022. 

Combined general and administrative, selling and marketing, and research and development expenses in 2021 increased to $156.1 million, compared to $64.7 million in 
2020. The net increase in total operating expenses of $91.4 million 
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was primarily driven by an increase in employee expenses of $22.7 million, materials and professional services expenses of $21.2 million and an increase in stock based 
compensation of $43.4 million.

Net losses were $153.4 million in 2021 compared to $57.6 million in 2020. The increase in net losses was due primarily to increase in operating expenses. 

Results of Operations 

The following is a description of significant components of our operations, including significant trends and uncertainties that we believe are important to an 
understanding of our business and results of operations. 

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 to the Year Ended December 31, 2020 

Revenue 

In 2021 and 2020, we generated revenue through the sale, delivery and, installation of customer contracts in the United States and Japan. The following table presents 
revenue as well as the change from the prior period. 
  

  
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in
Revenue  

(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Revenue  $ 50,852   $ 34,835   $ 16,017    46 %
 

Revenue was $50.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared with revenue of $34.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, an increase of $16.1 
million. The increase in revenue primarily relates to fulfillment of orders placed by our existing customers. Our revenue is dependent upon our existing customers, and we 
expect that we will continue to derive a majority of our revenue from a limited number of significant customers in future years. No assurance can be given that our significant 
customers will expand their business relationship with us, will continue to do business with us, or that they will maintain their historical levels of business. If our relationship 
with any significant customer were to cease, then our revenues would decline and negatively impact our results of operations.

 Cost of Revenue 

The following table presents cost of revenue as well as the change from the prior period. 
  

   
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in

Cost of Revenue  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Cost of Revenue  $ 59,099   $ 32,009   $ 27,090    85 %
 

Cost of revenue includes the cost of components and other materials that comprise the products we deploy, the cost of labor, and overhead.  Total cost of revenue during 
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $59.1 million and $32.0 million, respectively, an increase of $27.1 million or 85%. The increase in total cost of revenue was 
driven primarily by an increase in the number of fulfilled contracts and the accrual of estimated future costs in excess of estimated future revenues for select contracts expected 
to be deployed in 2022. 

Gross Profit and Gross Margin 

The following table presents gross profit as well as the change from the prior period. 
 

   
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in

Gross Profit  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Gross (Loss) Profit  $ (8,247 )  $ 2,826   $ (11,073 )   -392 %
 

Total gross (loss) profit during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was a loss of $8.2 million and a profit of $2.8 million, respectively. The decrease in gross 
profit of $11.0 million was primarily driven by the accrual of estimated future costs in excess of estimated future revenues for select contracts expected to be deployed in 2022. 

The following table presents gross margin as well as the change from the prior period. 
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For the Years Ended

December 31,   Change in  
   2021   2020   Gross Margin  

Gross Margin   (16 )%   8 %   (24 )%
 

Total gross margin was approximately (16)% for 2021 compared with total gross margin of 8% for 2020, a decrease of 24% . Gross margins may fluctuate significantly 
based on actual volumes realized in any given reporting period. By scaling our revenues, we expect to be able to lower our solution costs through increased volumes with our 
contract manufacturers. Additionally, we believe that scaling our revenues allows us to leverage other overhead costs, contributing towards improving overall gross margins. 

General and Administrative 

The following table presents general and administrative expenses as well as the change from the prior period. 
  

   
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in
Expenses  

(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
General and Administrative  $ 40,313   $ 15,935   $ 24,378    153 %
% of Operating Expenses   26 %   25 %       
 

General and administrative expenses during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $40.3 million and $15.9 million, respectively, an increase of $24.4 
million or 153%. The increase in general and administrative expenses included an increase in stock-based compensation of $16.1 million, a $1.5 million increase in salaries and 
related employee costs, and a $6.4 million increase in business services (e.g., legal, recruiting, insurance, consulting), which were incurred primarily as a result of the Business 
Combination. 

Sales and Marketing 

The following table presents sales and marketing expenses as well as the change from the prior period. 
  
  

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in
Expenses  

(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Sales and Marketing  $ 51,960   $ 12,910   $ 39,050    302 %
% of Operating Expenses   33 %   20 %       
 

Sales and marketing expenses during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $52.0 million and $12.9 million, respectively, an increase of $39.1 million or 
302%. The increase in sales and marketing expenses included a $25.7 million increase in stock-based compensation, a $10.6 million increase in employees and related costs, 
and a $2.8 million increase in marketing services and materials to expand our customer reach, create and expand our branding programs, and implement systems to support 
planned future growth.

Research and Development 

The following table presents research and development expenses as well as the change from the prior period. 
  
  

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in
Expenses  

(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Research and Development  $ 63,819   $ 35,806   $ 28,013    78 %
% of Operating Expenses   41 %   55 %       
 

Research and development expenses related to conceptual formulation and design of products and processes consist primarily of salaries and related costs for our 
engineers, contractors and consulting expenses, costs of components and products, and occupancy and other overhead costs. Research and development expenses during the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were $63.8 million and $35.8 million, respectively, an increase of $28.0 million or 78%. The increase in research and development 
expenses included a $10.8 million increase in salaries and related employee costs related to personnel growth and expanded development programs, an $11.9 million increase in 
costs associated with equipment related to engineering projects, a $3.6 million increase in occupancy cost, and a $1.6 million increase in stock-based compensation. 
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Interest Income 

The following table presents interest income as well as the change from the prior period. 
  
  

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in

Interest Income  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Interest Income  $ 32   $ 280   $ (248 )   -89 %
 

Interest income during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was less than $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, a decrease of approximately $0.2 
million. The decrease in interest income was due to a decrease in the balance of our money market funds during the first half of 2021 and a decline in interest rates. 

Other Income 

The following table presents other income as well as the change from the prior period. 
  
  

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,   
Change in

Other Income  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $   %  
Other (Expense) income  $ (76 )  $ 3,907   $ (3,983 )   -102 %
 

Other (expense) income during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was an expense of $0.1 million and income of $3.9 million, respectively, a decrease of 
$4.0 million or 102%. The decrease in other income is related to the revaluation of warrants issued to purchase shares of Berkshire Grey Series B-3 Preferred Stock when we 
determined, upon evaluation of achievement of certain performance milestones, that the vesting of the warrants was not probable. These warrants were cancelled upon 
consummation of the Merger. See Note 9 "Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders Equity" for more information. 

Income Taxes 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we recorded no income tax benefits due to the uncertainty of future taxable income, given that we have incurred 
net losses since inception. 

We have provided a valuation allowance for all our net deferred tax assets as a result of our historical net losses in the jurisdictions in which we operate. We continue to 
assess our future taxable income by jurisdiction based on our recent historical operating results, the expected timing of reversal of temporary differences, various tax planning 
strategies that we may be able to enact in future periods, the impact of potential operating changes on our business and our forecast results from operations in future periods 
based on available information at the end of each reporting period. To the extent that we are able to reach the conclusion that deferred tax assets are realizable based on any 
combination of the above factors in a single, or multiple, taxing jurisdictions, a reversal of the related portion of our existing valuation allowances may occur. 

Non-GAAP Financial Information 

In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, each non-GAAP financial measures, are useful in 
evaluating our operational performance. We use this non-GAAP financial information to evaluate our ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. 
We believe that this non-GAAP financial information, when taken collectively, may be helpful to investors in assessing our operating performance. 

We define “EBITDA” as net loss plus interest income, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization expense. 

We define “Adjusted EBITDA” as EBITDA adjusted for stock-based compensation, the change in fair value of warrant liabilities, and other expenses. 

We believe that the use of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA provides an additional tool for investors to use in evaluating ongoing operating results and trends because it 
eliminates the effect of financing, capital expenditures, and non-cash expenses (such as stock-based compensation and changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities) and 
provides investors with a means to compare our financial measures with those of comparable companies, which may present similar non-GAAP financial measures to investors. 
However, you should be aware that when evaluating EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA we may incur future expenses similar to those excluded when calculating these measures. 
In addition, our presentation of these measures should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. 
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Our computation of these measures may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures computed by other companies because not all companies calculate these measures 
in the same fashion. 

Because of these limitations, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for performance measures calculated in 
accordance with GAAP. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA on a supplemental basis. 
You should review the reconciliation of net loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA below and not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business. 

The following table reconciles net loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA during the years presented. 
  
  

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020  
Net loss  $ (153,380 )  $ (57,643 )
Interest income, net   (32 )   (280 )
Income tax expense   58    5  
Depreciation and amortization   2,745    1,006  
EBITDA   (150,609 )   (56,912 )
Stock-based compensation   49,843    6,021  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities   (11,061 )   -  
Other (expense) income, net   76    (3,907 )
Adjusted EBITDA  $ (111,751 )  $ (54,798 )
 

Backlog

Our order backlog as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, was valued at approximately $105.0 million and $71.1 million, respectively. Although our backlog consists of 
firm purchase orders, the level of backlog at any particular time may not be necessarily indicative of future sales. Given the nature of our relationships with our customers, and 
the fact that to-date we have not entered into long-term purchase commitments with our customers, we may allow our customers to cancel or reschedule deliveries, and 
therefore, backlog may not be a meaningful indicator of future financial results.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Sources of Liquidity, Capital, and Capital Requirements 

We have incurred a net loss in each of our annual periods since our inception. We incurred net losses of $153.4 million and $57.6 million during the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. As an early-stage company, we have primarily obtained cash to fund our operations through preferred stock and 
common stock offerings. From inception through December 31, 2021, we have received cumulative gross proceeds from the sale of our preferred stock, common stock and 
warrants of $419.4 million to fund our operations. 

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that our existing capital resources will be sufficient to support our operating plan and cash commitments 
for the next 12 months. We completed the Business Combination on July 21, 2021 and received proceeds, net of transaction costs, of $192.1 million. Our future capital 
requirements will depend on many factors including the growth of the business, continued research and development in our customer solutions, and support for our operations.

Our lease portfolio includes leased offices and facilities. As of December 31, 2021, future minimum rental commitments for operating leases with non-cancellable terms 
in excess of one year were as follows:
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Operating

Leases  

Years Ending December 31,  (in thousands)  
 2022  $ 1,601  
 2023   1,462  
 2024   1,504  
 2025   1,473  
 2026   1,287  
Thereafter   5,792  
Total  $ 13,119  

Cash Flows 

The following table summarizes our cash flows during the years presented. 
  
  

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands)  2021   2020  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (114,058 )  $ (55,974 )
Net cash used in investing activities   (4,069 )   (8,718 )
Net cash provided by financing activities   195,191    226  
Effect of exchange rate on cash   (91 )   (4 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 76,973   $ (64,470 )
 
Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Operating Activities 

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $114.1 million, primarily consisting of $153.4 million of net losses, adjusted for 
non-cash items, which primarily included stock-based compensation of $49.8 million and a gain on change in fair value of warrants of $11.1 million. 

Net cash used in operating activities was $56.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily consisting of $57.6 million of net losses, adjusted for certain 
non-cash items, which primarily included stock-based compensation expense of $6.0 million and gain on change in fair value of warrants of $3.9 million.

Cash used from changes in net operating assets and liabilities increased by $0.9 million from 2020, which is composed  of a $21.7 million increase in deferred 
fulfilment costs and a $9.2 million increase in prepaid expenses, partially offset by a $19.7 million decrease in accounts receivable, a $5.2 million decrease in contract liabilities, 
and a $4.5 million increase in accounts payable.

Investing Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $4.1 million and $8.7 million, respectively. The decrease of $4.6 million is 
attributed to a reduction of capital expenditures for development systems, leasehold improvements for lab and office space, and information technology infrastructure for 
research and development activities. 

Financing Activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, was $195.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The increase in cash 
provided by financing activities was primarily due to proceeds received from issuance of common stock upon the Merger of $192.1 million.

Long-Term Indebtedness

 As of December 30, 2021, we did not have any long-term debt. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity 

We are exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normal business operations. These risks include the translation of local currency balances of foreign 
subsidiaries, transaction gains and losses associated with intercompany accounts receivable and payable with foreign subsidiaries, and transactions denominated in currencies 
other than a location’s functional currency. As such, we have exposure to adverse changes in exchange rates associated with operating expenses of our foreign operations. Any 
fluctuations in other currencies will have minimal direct impact on our international revenue. 

We regularly monitor the forecast of non-U.S. dollar expenses and the level of non-U.S. dollar monetary asset and liability balances to determine if any actions, 
including possibly entering into foreign currency contracts, should be taken to minimize the impact of fluctuating exchange rates on our results of operations. We have not 
entered into any foreign currency contracts as of December 31, 2021. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity 

At December 31, 2021, we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $162.2 million held in money market funds. Due to the short-term nature of these investments, 
we believe we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Consolidated Financial Statements appear beginning on page F-1 in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K and are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a–15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of December 31, 2021. 
Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 
December 31, 2021

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we completed the Business Combination on July 21, 2021. Prior to the Business Combination, Revolution 
Acceleration Acquisition Corp. ("RAAC"), our predecessor, was a special purpose acquisition company formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, 
asset acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization or similar business combination with one or more businesses. As a result, previously existing internal controls are no longer 
applicable or comprehensive enough as of the assessment date, because RAAC's operations prior to the Business Combination were insignificant compared to those of the 
consolidated entity post-Business Combination. As a result, management was unable, without incurring unreasonable effort or expense, to complete an assessment of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. Accordingly, we are excluding management’s report on internal control over financial reporting pursuant to 
Section 215.02 of the SEC Division of Corporate Finance’s Regulation S-K Compliance and Disclosure Interpretations.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rules 13a-15 
and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act during the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy 
statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy 
statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy 
statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy 
statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy 
statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(1)For a list of the financial statements included herein, see Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
incorporated into this Item by reference.

(2)Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required or not applicable or the information is included in the consolidated financial 
statements or the notes thereto.

(3)Exhibits:
 

Exhibit
Number   Description

2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 23, 2021, by and among Revolution Acceleration Acquisition Corp, Pickup Merger Corp and 
Berkshire Grey, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Annex A of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254539), filed with the 
SEC on March 19, 2021).

3.1  Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39768) filed on July 27, 2021).

3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-258991), filed with the SEC on September 1, 2021).

4.1  Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254539), filed with the SEC on March 19, 2021).

4.2  Warrant Agreement, dated December 7, 2020, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and RAAC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
4.1 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39768) filed with the SEC on December 10, 2020).

4.3  Specimen Warrant Certificate of RAAC (included in Exhibit 4.2).
4.4*  Description of Securities of Berkshire Grey, Inc.
10.1  Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2021, by and among the Company, RAAC Management LLC, Steven A. 

Museles, Phyllis R. Caldwell, Jason M. Fish, Andrew Wallace and certain former stockholders of Legacy Berkshire Grey (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39768) filed on July 27, 2021).

10.2  Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2021, by and among RAAC Management LLC, Revolution Acceleration Acquisition Corp, 
Berkshire Grey, Inc. and the other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Annex C of RAAC’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-
254539), filed with the SEC on March 19, 2021).

10.3  Company Stockholder Support Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2021, by and among Revolution Acceleration Acquisition Corp, Berkshire Grey, 
Inc. and the other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Annex D of RAAC’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254539), filed 
with the SEC on March 19, 2021).

10.4  Form of Subscription Agreement, entered into between RAAC and each of several investors in connection with the Business Combination (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of RAAC’s Form 8-K (Reg. No. 001-39768), filed with the SEC on February 24, 2021).

10.5+  Employment Agreement, dated October 25, 2013, between Berkshire Grey and Thomas Wagner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to 
Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254539), filed with the SEC on May 14, 2021).

10.6+  Employment Agreement, dated October 28, 2019, between Berkshire Grey and Steven Johnson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to 
Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254539), filed with the SEC on May 14, 2021).

10.7^  Master Agreement for Automated Material Handling Solution, dated January 31, 2018, between Berkshire Grey and Target Corporation (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254539), filed with the SEC on 
May 14, 2021).

10.8+  Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39768) 
filed on July 27, 2021).
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10.9+  2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan for Berkshire Grey, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 

8-K (File No. 001-39768) filed on July 27, 2021).
21.1  List of Subsidiaries of Berkshire Grey, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-

39768) filed on July 27, 2021).
23.1*  Consent of Grant Thornton LLP
31.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant 

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant 

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the 

Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104*  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 

* Filed herewith.

+ Exhibit is a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

^Schedules omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon 
request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
    BERKSHIRE GREY, INC.
        
Date: March 29, 2022   By: /s/ Thomas Wagner
      Thomas Wagner
      Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Name   Title   Date
          

/s/ Thomas Wagner   Chief Executive Officer and Director   March 29, 2022
Thomas Wagner    (principle executive officer)     

          

/s/ Mark Fidler    Chief Financial Officer    March 29, 2022
Mark Fidler   (principle financial officer and principal accounting officer)     

          

/s/ Peter Barris    Director    March 29, 2022
Peter Barris         

          

/s/ John Delaney    Director    March 29, 2022
John Delaney         

          

/s/ Fiona Dias    Director    March 29, 2022
Fiona Dias         

          

/s/ Sven Strohband    Director    March 29, 2022
Sven Strohband         

          

/s/ Serena Wolfe    Director    March 29, 2022
Serena Wolfe         
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Berkshire Grey, Inc. 

Opinion on the financial statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Berkshire Grey, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, mezzanine equity and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the two 
years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).  In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in 
the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for opinion 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our 
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that 
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019. 

Boston, Massachusetts 
March 29, 2022 
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BERKSHIRE GREY, INC. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(in thousands, except share data and per share data) 

  
   December 31,  

   2021   2020  
ASSETS       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 171,089   $ 93,857  
Accounts receivable   13,291    16,752  
Inventories – net   2,641    758  
Deferred fulfillment costs (see Note 8 for related party transactions)   7,689    3,461  
Prepaid expenses   5,138    804  
Other current assets   5,078    132  

Total current assets   204,926    115,764  
Property and equipment – net   10,874    9,403  
Restricted cash   862    1,121  
Other non-current assets   22    101  

Total assets  $ 216,684   $ 126,389  
LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY, AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 6,766   $ 1,681  
Accrued expenses   15,659    7,771  
Contract liabilities (see Note 8 for related party transactions)   19,216    22,331  
Other current liabilities   146    182  

Total current liabilities   41,787    31,965  
Share-based compensation liability   15,435    3,047  
Warrant liability   13,277    —  
Other non-current liabilities   1,954    2,057  

Total liabilities   72,453    37,069  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)       
Mezzanine equity:       
Redeemable convertible preferred stock – $0.0001 par value; 188,353,093 shares authorized and nil shares issued, 
and outstanding as of December 31, 2021; and 188,353,093 shares authorized, 165,744,062 shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2020; aggregate liquidation preference of $239,447 as of December 31, 2020  (Note 
9)   —    223,442  
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):       
Common stock – Class A shares, $0.0001 par value; 385,000,000 and 261,657,617 shares authorized, 
225,428,187 and 28,292,106 shares issued, and 225,428,187 and 21,288,845 outstanding as of December 31, 2021 
and December 31, 2020, respectively; Class C shares, par value $0.0001, 5,750,000 and nil shares issued and 
outstanding as of December 31 2021 and December 30, 2020, respectively   24    3  
Additional paid-in capital   449,307    17,578  
Accumulated deficit   (305,084 )   (151,704 )
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income   (16 )   1  

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)   144,231    (134,122 )
Total liabilities, mezzanine equity, and stockholders’ equity (deficit)  $ 216,684   $ 126,389  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BERKSHIRE GREY, INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 

 
   Years Ended December 31,  

   2021   2020  
Revenue (see Note 8 for related party transactions)  $ 50,852   $ 34,835  
Cost of revenue (see Note 8 for related party transactions)   59,099    32,009  

Gross (loss) profit   (8,247 )   2,826  
Operating expenses:       
General and administrative expense   40,313    15,935  
Sales and marketing expense   51,960    12,910  
Research and development expense   63,819    35,806  
Total operating expenses   156,092    64,651  

Loss from operations   (164,339 )   (61,825 )
Other income (expense)       

Interest income   32    280  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities   11,061    —  
Other (expense) income   (76 )   3,907  

Net loss before income taxes   (153,322 )   (57,638 )
Income tax  58    5  

Net loss  $ (153,380 )  $ (57,643 )
Other comprehensive (loss) income:       
Net foreign currency translation adjustments   (17 )   1  

Total comprehensive loss  $ (153,397 )  $ (57,642 )
Net loss per common share (Class A and C) – basic and diluted  $ (1.33 )  $ (2.76 )
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic and diluted   115,301,526    20,885,580  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BERKSHIRE GREY, INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Mezzanine Equity and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) 
(in thousands, except share data) 

 

   
Mezzanine equity

Series A and B    Common stock   
Additional

paid-in   Accumulated   

Accumulated
other

comprehensive   
Total

stockholders’  

   Shares   Amount    Class A Shares   Amount   
Class C 
Shares   Amount   capital   deficit   income (loss)   deficit  

Balance – December 31, 2019   28,207,674   $ 223,442     3,521,477   $ 3    —   $ —   $ 14,028   $ (94,061 )  $ —   $ (80,030 )
Retroactive application of 
recapitalization due to Merger (See 
note 3)   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Mezzanine Equity   137,536,388    —     —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Common Stock   —    —     17,170,194    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Balance at December 31, 2019, after 
effect of Merger   165,744,062    223,442     20,691,671    3    —    —    14,028    (94,061 )   —   $ (80,030 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options   —    —     597,174    —    —    —    226    —    —    226  
Stock-based compensation   —    —     —    —    —    —    3,324    —    —    3,324  
Other comprehensive income   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    —    1    1  
Net loss   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    (57,643 )   —    (57,643 )
Balance – December 31, 2020   165,744,062    223,442     21,288,845    3    —    —    17,578    (151,704 )   1    (134,122 )
Issuance of common shares upon 
merger (see note 3)   —    —     15,312,113    2    5,750,000    —    2,752    —    —    2,754  
Issuance of common stock via PIPE   —    —     16,500,000    1    —    —    164,999    —    —    165,000  
Mezzanine equity conversion   (165,744,062 )   (223,442 )    165,744,062    16    —    —    223,426    —    —    223,442  
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options   —    —     6,583,167    2    —    —    3,103    —    —    3,105  
Reclassification of restricted stock to 
equity   —    —     —    —    —    —    12,001    —    —    12,001  
Stock-based compensation   —    —     —    —    —    —    25,448    —    —    25,448  
Other comprehensive income   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    —    (17 )   (17 )
Net loss   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    (153,380 )   —    (153,380 )
Balance – December 31, 2021   —   $ —     225,428,187   $ 24    5,750,000   $ —   $ 449,307   $ (305,084 )  $ (16 )  $ 144,231  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BERKSHIRE GREY, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 
(IN THOUSANDS) 

 
   Years Ended December 31,  

   2021   2020  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       

Net loss  $ (153,380 )  $ (57,643 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities       

Depreciation and amortization   2,745    1,006  
Loss on disposal of fixed assets   18    —  
Gain on change in fair value of warrants   (11,061 )   (3,922 )
Gain on foreign currency transactions   73    5  
Stock-based compensation   49,843    6,021  
Change in operating assets and liabilities       

Accounts receivable   3,461    (16,187 )
Inventories   (1,883 )   (355 )
Deferred fulfillment costs   (4,228 )   17,505  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (9,201 )   8  
Accounts payable   4,952    442  
Accrued expenses   7,856    3,425  
Contract liabilities   (3,115 )   (8,306 )
Other liabilities   (138 )   2,027  

Net cash used in operating activities   (114,058 )   (55,974 )
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES       

Capital expenditures   (4,069 )   (8,718 )
Net cash used in investing activities   (4,069 )   (8,718 )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES       

Proceeds from exercise of stock options   3,103    226  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon Merger, net of issuance costs paid   192,088    —  

Net cash provided by financing activities   195,191    226  
Effect of exchange rate on cash   (91 )   (4 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   76,973    (64,470 )
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period   94,978    159,448  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period   171,951    94,978  
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES       

Assumption of merger warrants liability   24,338    —  
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to common stock   (223,442 )   —  
Settlement of promissory note through repurchase of shares   10,238    —  
Purchase of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses   165    —  

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH WITHIN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE 
SHEETS TO THE AMOUNTS SHOWN IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
ABOVE       

Cash (inclusive of money market funds and cash equivalents of $162,164 and $92,858 at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, respectively)   171,089    93,857  
Restricted cash  862    1,121  

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  $ 171,951   $ 94,978  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BERKSHIRE GREY, INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

1. NATURE OF THE BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Nature of Business 

Berkshire Grey, Inc. (“Berkshire Grey,” “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company”) is an Intelligent Enterprise Robotics (“IER”) company pioneering and delivering 
transformative AI-enabled robotic solutions that automate filling ecommerce orders for consumers and businesses, filling orders to resupply retail and grocery stores, and 
handling packages shipped to fill those orders. The Company was incorporated in 2013 and is based in Bedford, MA. The Company has approximately 400 employees. The 
Company's IER capabilities are grounded in patented and proprietary technologies for robotic picking (each picking or unit handling), robotic movement and mobility 
(movement and storage of orders and goods), and system orchestration (which enables various intelligent subsystems to work together so that the right work is being done at 
the right time to meet our customer’s needs).

On July, 21, 2021, (the “Closing Date”) the Company consummated the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), 
dated February 23, 2021, by and among Berkshire Grey Operating Company, Inc. (f/k/a Berkshire Grey, Inc.) (“Legacy Berkshire Grey"), the Company, (f/k/a Revolution 
Acceleration Acquisition Corp. (“RAAC”)), and Pickup Merger Corp, a Delaware corporation and a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of RAAC (“Merger Sub”). On the 
Closing Date, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, a business combination (the "Business Combination") between RAAC and Legacy Berkshire Grey was affected 
through the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy Berkshire Grey, with Legacy Berkshire Grey surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of RAAC (the 
"Merger"). RAAC amended and restated its second amended and restated certificate of incorporation and its bylaws such that RAAC changed its name to “Berkshire Grey, 
Inc.”. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to “Legacy Berkshire Grey” refer to Berkshire Grey, Inc. (currently known as Berkshire Grey Operating Company, 
Inc.), a Delaware corporation, prior to the effective time of the Merger Agreement.

The transaction is accounted for as a reverse recapitalization with Legacy Berkshire Grey, Inc. being the accounting acquirer and RAAC as the acquired company for 
accounting purposes. Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in the consolidated financial statements represent the accounts of Legacy Berkshire Grey and 
its wholly owned subsidiaries. The shares and net loss per common share prior to the Merger have been retroactively restated as shares reflecting the exchange ratio 
established in the Merger (each outstanding share of Legacy Berkshire Grey, Inc. Class A common stock and Legacy Berkshire Grey preferred stock was exchanged for 
5.87585 shares (the “Exchange Ratio”) of the Company’s Class A common stock).

Prior to the Merger, RAAC’s units, public shares, and public warrants were listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (“NASDAQ”) under the symbols “RAACU,” 
“RAAC,” and “RAACW,” respectively. On July 22, 2021, the Company's Class A common stock and public warrants began trading on the Nasdaq, under the symbols 
“BGRY” and “BGRYW,” respectively. See Note 3, "Merger" for further details.  

Basis of Presentation 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP"). All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

For the Company’s subsidiaries that transact in a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar, assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end 
foreign exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at the average foreign exchange rates for the period. Translation adjustments are excluded 
from the determination of net income and are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a separate component of stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Liquidity

The Company incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and relied upon financing activities to fund operations. The Company has 
raised approximately $227.3 million, net of issuance costs, from the issuance of preferred stock and warrants, as described in Note 9, "Convertible Preferred Stock". The 
Company also received net proceeds from the Merger of approximately $192.1 million, as described in Note 3, "Merger". Management believes the capital raised, in 
combination with the Merger proceeds, will be sufficient to fund its current operations, projected working capital requirements, and capital spending for a period beyond the 
next 12 months. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions which affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the reporting period. These estimates and judgments include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition (including performance obligations, provisions for contract 
losses, variable consideration and other obligations such as product returns), realizability of deferred fulfillment costs, inventory, warranty cost, accounting for stock-based 
compensation (including performance-based assessments), and accounting for income taxes and related valuation allowances. Actual results may differ from estimates. 

Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company’s cash equivalents 
consist of money market funds. Restricted cash represents cash on deposit with a financial institution as collateral for the Company’s corporate credit cards and an 
irrevocable standby letter of credit as security for the Company’s obligations under the lease for its headquarters in Massachusetts. The Company has included restricted 
cash as a non-current asset for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Revenue Recognition

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method. See Note 7, "Revenue", for our revenue recognition policy.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, two customers and three customers accounted for approximately 100% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance, 
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company generated approximately 32%, 27%, 14% and 12% of revenues from four significant customers. For the 
year ended December 31, 2020, the Company generated approximately 70% and 30% of revenues from two significant customers. The Company believes that credit risks 
associated with these contracts are not significant due to the customers’ financial strength.

The Company places cash and cash equivalents with high-quality financial institutions. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of default by these 
institutions to the extent the amount recorded on the consolidated balance sheets exceeds federally insured limits.

Warrant Liabilities 

    The Company classifies Private Placement Warrants and Public Warrants (both defined and discussed in Note 16, “Common Stock and Warrants” as liabilities. At the end 
of each reporting period, changes in fair value during the period are recognized as change in fair value of warrant liabilities within other (expense) income, net within the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company will continue to adjust the warrant liability for changes in the fair value until the earlier of a) the 
exercise or expiration of the warrants or b) redemption of the warrants, at which time the warrants will be reclassified to additional paid-in capital.  

Fair Value Measurements 

The Company’s fair value measurements are estimated pursuant to a fair value hierarchy that requires us to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the 
use of unobservable inputs. The valuation hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date, giving 
highest priority to quoted prices in active markets (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable data (Level 3). In some cases, the inputs used to measure fair value might 
fall in different levels of the fair value hierarchy. The lowest level input that is significant to a fair value measurement in its entirety determines the applicable level in the 
fair value hierarchy. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, considering factors specific to the asset 
or liability, and may affect the valuation of the assets and liabilities and their placement within the hierarchy level. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure 
fair value are defined as: 

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than Level 1 that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability, including quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities inactive markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by 
observable market data.
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Level 3 — Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash 
flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

Accounts Receivable 

The Company evaluates the collectability of outstanding receivables and provides an allowance for receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are 
made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices and the overall quality and age of those invoices not specifically reviewed. The Company’s 
receivables amounted to approximately $13.3 million and $16.8 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Company believes that credit risks associated 
with these contracts are not significant. To date, the Company has not experienced any losses associated with accounts receivable and does not maintain an allowance for 
doubtful accounts. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined by use of the average cost method. The Company maintains an inventory 
reserve for the estimated amount of excess or obsolete inventory. 

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities 

Contract assets represent the sale of goods or services to a customer before the Company has the right to obtain consideration from the customer. Contract assets 
consist of unbilled amounts at the reporting date and are transferred to accounts receivable when the rights become unconditional. 

Contract liabilities represent an obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company received advanced consideration. Contract liabilities 
will be recognized as revenue when the contracted deliverables are provided to our customers. See Note 7 for additional information. 

Deferred Fulfillment Costs 

The Company incurs costs to fulfill obligations under a contract once it is obtained, but before transferring goods or services to the customer. The Company capitalizes 
deferred fulfillment costs if they are directly related to a specific customer contract, generate or enhance assets used to satisfy the customer contract performance obligations 
in the future, and are recoverable. The Company’s deferred fulfillment costs include direct labor related to manufacturing, installation, software services, and direct materials. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment, including significant betterments to existing facilities, are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Upon retirement or disposal, the 
cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in income. The Company reviews property and equipment for impairment 
upon a triggering event. If a review indicates that an impairment occurred, the Company writes down the carrying value of the assets to their fair value. Fair value is 
determined based on comparable market values, when available, or discounted cash flows. The Company concluded there were no triggering events for the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful life or lease term, when applicable. The Company generally uses estimated 
useful lives of three years for machinery, furniture, equipment, and software. For leasehold improvements the Company records depreciation over the remaining lease term. 

Deferred Rent and Rental Expense 

Minimum rent expense is recorded using the straight-line method over the related lease term. The differences between payments required and rental expense are 
reflected as current and non-current liabilities rent in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense 

The Company issues stock-based awards to employees and nonemployees, generally in the form of stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs"). Stock-based 
awards are accounted for in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, (“ASC 718”). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments, including 
grants of employee stock options and modifications to existing stock options, to be recognized in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss based on their fair 
values. Compensation expense of those awards is recognized over the requisite service period. The Company recognizes forfeitures at the time forfeitures occur. 
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The Company issued restricted stock to an executive officer which was purchased with proceeds from a partial recourse promissory note. As the underlying 
restricted stock was not allocated to the recourse and non-recourse portions of the note, the entire note was treated as non-recourse and the shares were treated as stock 
options for accounting purposes. See Note 8, "Related Party Transactions" for additional information. 

The Company classifies stock-based compensation expense in its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss in the same way the payroll costs or 
service payments are classified for the related stock-based award recipient. 

Our stock-based awards are subject to service or performance-based vesting conditions. Compensation expense related to awards with service-based vesting 
conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis based on the grant date fair value over the associated service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term. 
Compensation expense related to awards with pre-established performance-based vesting conditions is recognized based on the grant date fair value over the requisite 
service period using the accelerated attribution method to the extent achievement of the performance condition is probable. 

The fair value of stock-based awards were estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model or a lattice model, which requires the input of highly subjective 
assumptions, including (i) the expected volatility of our stock, (ii) the expected term of the award, (iii) the risk-free interest rate, and (iv) expected dividends. Due to the lack 
of a public market for the trading of our common stock prior to the Merger and a lack of company-specific historical and implied volatility, estimates of expected volatility 
are based on the historical volatility of a group of similar companies that are publicly traded. Expected life of our stock options are estimated using the “simplified” method, 
whereby, the expected life equals the average of the vesting term and the original contractual term of the option. The risk-free interest rates for periods within the expected 
life of the option were based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect during the period the options were granted. 

The fair value of RSUs are determined based on the closing quoted price of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant. See Note 10, "Stock-Based 
Compensation”, for more information on the Company’s stock plans and share-based compensation expense. 

Research and Development 

Costs incurred in the research and development of the Company’s products are expensed as incurred. 

Warranty 

The Company accrues an estimate warranty expense based on expected warranty claims and costs to be incurred. Product warranty reserves are recorded in accrued 
expenses. 

Income Taxes 

Income taxes are recorded in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), which provides for deferred taxes using an asset and liability approach. 
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial reporting and tax reporting basis of assets and liabilities 
and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided if based 
upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company evaluated available evidence 
and concluded that the Company may not realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets; therefore, a valuation allowance has been established for the full amount of the net 
deferred tax assets. 

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740. When uncertain tax positions exist, the Company recognizes the 
tax benefit of tax positions to the extent that the benefit will more likely than not be realized. The determination as to whether the tax benefit will more likely than not be 
realized is based upon the technical merits of the tax position as well as consideration of the available facts and circumstances. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the 
Company did not have any significant uncertain tax positions. The Company’s practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax 
expense. See Note 12, "Income Taxes" for additional information. 

Net Loss Per Common Share 

As a result of the Merger, the Company has retroactively restated the weighted average shares outstanding prior to July 21, 2021, to give effect to the Exchange 
Ratio.

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the loss available to common shareholders (numerator) by the weighted average number of shares of Class A 
common stock and Class C common stock outstanding (denominator) during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the Company's weighted-average 
outstanding common shares including the dilutive effect of stock awards as determined under the treasury stock method and warrants using the if-converted method. 
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Diluted earnings per share excludes all dilutive potential shares if their effect is antidilutive. See Note 13, “Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Shareholders” for 
further details.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU 2016-02 and its related amendments 
(collectively referred to as ASC 842) requires entities to recognize the assets and liabilities on their balance sheet for the rights and obligations created by most leases and to 
recognize expense on their income statements over the lease term. ASC 842 will also require disclosures designed to give financial statement users information on the 
amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim 
periods within those years. The Company adopted ASC 842 on January 1, 2022, using the modified retrospective method, whereby the new guidance will be applied 
prospectively as of the date of adoption and prior periods will not be restated. While the Company continues to calculate all potential impacts of the standard, the Company 
expects to record right-of-use assets of approximately $8 million to $10 million, and associated lease obligations of approximately $9 million to $11 million, on its balance 
sheet primarily related to its leased office space and research facility. The Company expects to elect certain available practical expedients upon adoption of the new 
guidance, including practical expedients that provide that an entity need not reassess whether an existing contract contains a lease and allows entities to carry forward the 
classification of current operating and capital leases into the new operating and financing classifications. The Company will also exclude leases with an expected term of less 
than one year from the application of ASC 842. In determining the estimated value of the right-use assets and lease liabilities provided above, the Company considered the 
remaining contractual term of the leases as well as the likelihood that the leases will be renewed.  

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU amends the impairment model by requiring 
entities to use a forward-looking approach based on expected losses rather than incurred losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments. This may 
result in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. The guidance is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim 
periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a significant impact on its consolidated 
financial statements. 

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes — Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The ASU simplifies the accounting for income 
taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles as well as clarifying and amending existing guidance to improve consistent application. The amendments to 
this ASU are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. Depending on the 
amendment, adoption may be applied on the retrospective, modified retrospective or prospective basis. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adoption of this 
ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
3. MERGER

On Closing Date, Berkshire Grey, Inc. received gross proceeds of $220.0 million, which included $55.0 million in proceeds from issuance of common stock upon the 
Merger and $165.0 million in proceeds from the PIPE Investment (as defined below). The Company recorded $27.9 million of transaction costs, which consisted of legal, 
accounting, and other professional services directly related to the Merger. These costs were included in additional paid-in capital on the Company’s consolidated balance 
sheet. These deferred offering costs are offset against proceeds upon accounting for the consummation of the Merger. On Closing Date each share of Legacy Berkshire Grey 
preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, and each share of Legacy Berkshire Grey common stock, par value $0.001 per share, was converted into the right to receive 
5.87585 shares of the Company's Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share. 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, the consideration paid in respect of each share of Legacy Berkshire Grey preferred and common stock 
issued and outstanding (other than (i) any such shares held in the treasury of the Company and (ii) any shares held by stockholders of the Company who had perfected and not 
withdrawn a demand for appraisal rights) immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger was the number of shares of newly issued Class A common stock of RAAC 
(with each share valued at $10.00), par value $0.0001 per share (“Class A Stock”), equal to (x) $2.25 billion divided by (y) the number of shares of Aggregate Fully Diluted 
Company Stock (as defined in the Merger Agreement).

At the Closing, all equity awards of Legacy Berkshire Grey were assumed by the Company and converted into comparable equity awards that are settled or exercisable 
for shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. As a result, each outstanding stock option was converted into an option to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A 
common stock based on an exchange ratio of 5.87585. 

Each public and private warrant of RAAC that was unexercised at the time of the Merger was assumed by the Company and represents the right to purchase one share 
of the Company’s Class A common stock upon exercise of such warrant. 
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Legacy Berkshire Grey was determined to be the accounting acquirer because Legacy Berkshire Grey shareholders prior to the Merger had the greatest voting interest 
in the combined entity, Legacy Berkshire Grey shareholders appointed the initial directors of the Company's board upon the closing of the Merger and control future 
appointments, Legacy Berkshire Grey comprises all of the Company's ongoing operations, and Legacy Berkshire Grey's senior management directs operations of the 
combined entity. Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in these consolidated financial statements represents the accounts of Legacy Berkshire Grey.

Subscription Agreements

Concurrent with the execution of the Merger Agreement, RAAC entered into subscription agreements with certain investors (the “PIPE Investors”), pursuant to which 
the PIPE Investors committed to purchase an aggregate amount of $165.0 million in shares of Class A Stock at a purchase price of $10.00 per share (the “PIPE Investment”). 
The PIPE Investment was consummated concurrent with the closing of the Merger.

4. INVENTORIES 

Inventories consist of the following: 

 
   Years Ended December 31,  

   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

Work in progress  $ 538   $ 3  
Finished goods   2,103    755  
Inventory, net  $ 2,641   $ 758  

 

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment consist of the following: 
  

   December 31,  
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  
Leasehold improvements  $ 6,512   $ 5,907  
Machinery and equipment   922    15  
Furniture and fixtures   983    714  
Research and development equipment   4,712    2,794  
Computer hardware and software   1,708    1,219  

Construction in progress
  

382
   

437
 

Subtotal   15,219    11,086  
Less: Accumulated depreciation   4,345    1,683  

Property and equipment, net  $ 10,874   $ 9,403  
 

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $2.7 million and $1.0 million, respectively. 
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6. ACCRUED EXPENSES 

Accrued expenses consist of the following: 
 

   December 31,  
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

Accrued compensation  $ 8,562   $ 5,424  
Accrued sales taxes payable   372    879  
Accrued professional services   1,742    754  
Accrued materials   3,094    401  
Accrued other   1,437    272  
Accrued warranty   452    41  
Accrued expenses  $ 15,659   $ 7,771  

 
Accrued Compensation 

Accrued compensation included estimated year-end employee bonuses and related employee costs of approximately $5.4 million and $3.9 million at December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Accrued Warranty 

The Company provides a limited warranty generally for one year. Estimated warranty obligations are recorded as an expense upon customer acceptance of related 
products. Factors that affect the estimated warranty liability include number of products accepted, historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims, cost per claim, and 
vendor-supported warranty programs. The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of our recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary. The amount 
of liability recorded is equal to the estimated costs to repair or otherwise satisfy claims made by customers. 

Changes in our product warranty consist of the following: 
 

   December 31,  
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

Beginning balance  $ 41   $ 317  
Accrual (reversal) for warranty expense   (58 )   (136 )
Warranty costs incurred during period   469    (140 )
Ending balance  $ 452   $ 41  

 
7. REVENUE 

The Company primarily derives its revenue from selling robotic fulfillment and material handling systems, which consist of a network of automated machinery 
installed at the customer location and configured to meet specified performance requirements, such as accuracy, throughput, and up-time. Revenue is recognized when control 
of the promised products is transferred to the customer, or when services are satisfied under the contract, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to 
be entitled to in exchange for those products or services (the transaction price). Revenue is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of revenue 
will not occur. Taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities, are excluded from revenue.

The Company’s contracts typically have multiple performance obligations that may include system delivery, installation, testing, and training. Judgment is required to 
determine whether performance obligations specified in these contracts are distinct and should be accounted for as separate revenue transactions for recognition purposes. The 
Company also provides assurance-based warranties that are not considered a distinct performance obligation. The Company allocates the total transaction price to each 
performance obligation in an amount based on the estimated relative standalone selling prices of the promised goods or services underlying each performance obligation. The 
Company generally uses a cost-plus margin approach to determine the stand-alone selling price for separate performance obligations.

Each customer contract is evaluated individually to determine the appropriate pattern of revenue recognition. Contracts that are recognized over time meet the criteria 
that the Company is creating or enhancing an asset that the customer controls. The system is delivered to the customer and control is transferred, after which point the 
Company performs installation and implementation services to fully integrate the system at the customer’s location. As such, revenue recognition begins upon 
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delivery, continues throughout the installation and implementation period, and concludes upon customer acceptance. Revenue from customer contracts is generally expected 
to be recognized over a period of three to six months. There historically have been, and potentially will be in the future, customer contracts that contain obligations and 
timelines that result in revenue being recognized over extended periods, which may include periods greater than 12 months. The Company typically uses total estimated labor 
hours as the input to measure progress as labor hours represent work performed, which corresponds with, and thereby depicts, the transfer of control to the customer. 
Installation and training services are evaluated together with the delivery of robotic fulfillment or material handling systems as a singular performance obligation. Provisions 
for losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are determined to be probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The loss is 
computed on the basis of the total estimated costs to complete the contract, including the contract costs incurred to date plus the estimated cost to complete. As of December 
31, 2021, it was estimated that the gross loss on current contracts would be $12.1 million, which is included in cost of revenue. The Company recorded $8.5 million as a 
provision for the remaining losses on contracts which is included within contract liabilities.

The Company determined that the revenue of one of its robotic fulfillment system contracts should be recognized at a point in time as the contract did not meet any of 
the three criteria to recognize revenue over time as defined in ASC 606-10-25-27 due to the terms within the contract. Obligations under this contract were fulfilled in March 
2020 and the Company determined no similar contracts exist as of December 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020.

Other performance obligations recognized at a point in time include the sale and delivery of spare parts and pilot agreements. Pilot agreements are typically short-term 
contracts designed to demonstrate the Company’s technology and ability to serve the customer. Due to the exploratory nature of pilot agreements, revenue is recognized at a 
point in time once the evaluation activities are complete.

Other performance obligations recognized over time include, but are not limited to, maintenance, extended support, and research services, which are recognized 
ratably on a straight-line-basis as the Company assumes an even distribution of performance over the service period.

Shipping and handling activities that occur after control of a product has transferred to the customer are accounted for as fulfillment activities rather than performance 
obligations, as allowed under a practical expedient provided by ASC 606. Shipping and handling fees charged to customers are recognized as revenue and the related costs are 
included in cost of revenue at the point in time when ownership of the product is transferred to the customer.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer and other costs to fulfill a contract are required to be capitalized unless the Company elects to expense 
contract costs with periods less than a year. The Company has elected to expense these costs of obtaining a contract as incurred when the related contract period is less than 
one year. The Company does not pay upfront sales commissions on contracts when the related contract period is greater than one year, thus has not capitalized any amounts as 
of December 31, 2021. 

The following table disaggregates revenue by timing of transfer of goods or services: 
  

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

Transferred over time  $ 49,610   $ 10,045  
Transferred at a point in time   1,242    24,790  

Total Revenue  $ 50,852   $ 34,835  
 

Payment terms offered to customers are defined in contracts and do not include a significant financing component. Payment milestones typically exist throughout the 
course of a contract and generally occur upon signing of an agreement, delivery of a system, start and completion of installation and testing, and upon acceptance of the 
system. The nature of the Company’s contracts may give rise to variable consideration, typically related to fees charged for shipping and handling. The Company generally 
estimates such variable consideration at the most likely amount. In addition, the Company includes the estimated variable consideration in the transaction price to the extent 
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the related uncertainty is resolved. Provisions for contract 
losses are recorded as liabilities when it becomes evident that a liability has occurred and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. These estimates are based on 
historical experience and the Company’s best judgment at the time. To the extent there is certainty in estimating these amounts, they are included in the transaction price of 
the Company’s contracts and the associated remaining performance obligations. Contract losses are reported as cost of revenue during the period in which the loss becomes 
evident. The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less. 
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Contracts may be modified to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. Contract modifications exist when the modification either creates new 
or changes the existing enforceable rights and obligations. Most of the Company’s contract modifications are for goods or services that are not distinct from the existing 
contract due to the significant integration service provided in the context of the contract and are accounted for as if they were part of that existing contract. The effects of a 
contract modification on the transaction price, and the measure of progress for the performance obligation to which it relates, are recognized as an adjustment to revenue on a 
cumulative catch-up basis.

Deferred Fulfillment Costs and Contract Balances 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company incurred $7.7 million and $3.5 million of net deferred fulfillment costs, respectively. 

Changes in the contract liability balance during the year ended December 31, 2021, were due to the Company receiving additional advanced cash payments from 
customer contracts and the Company recognizing revenue as performance obligations were met. The following table summarizes changes in contract liabilities during the year 
ended December 31, 2021: 
  

  
Contract
Liabilities  

   (in thousands)  
Contract liabilities at December 31, 2020  $ 22,331  

Additions to contract liabilities during the period   35,760  
Provision for contract losses   8,465  

Revenue recognized in the period from:    
Amounts included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the period   (21,957 )
Amounts added to contract liabilities during the period   (25,383 )

Contract liabilities at December 31, 2021  $ 19,216  
 

Contract assets were $4.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and are included in other current assets within the consolidated balance sheets. There were no significant 
contract asset balances as of December 31, 2020. 

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

In June 2019, the Company entered into two customer contracts with an affiliate of one of its primary investors. Related to these contracts, as of December 31, 2021 
and December 31, 2020, the Company recorded less than $0.1 million and $1.4 million in net deferred fulfillment costs, respectively, and less than $0.1 million and $4.6 
million in contract liabilities, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized approximately $5.1 million and $9.8 million in 
revenue and approximately $2.1 million and $4.3 million in cost of revenue related to these customer contracts, respectively. 

In October 2019, the Company issued a Partial Recourse Secured Promissory Note (the “Promissory Note”) to an executive officer for approximately $9.9 million 
with an interest rate of 1.86% per annum compounded annually. Under the terms of the Promissory Note, the officer was be personally liable for 51% of the unpaid balance of 
the principal and any accrued interest. The entire principal amount was used to purchase 7,003,261 shares (as converted for the effect of the Merger) of restricted stock. The 
Promissory Note was collateralized by the restricted common stock. The Company determined that the entire Promissory Note must be treated as non-recourse; as such, the 
balance of the note and related accrued interest were not presented on the consolidated balance sheet. Refer to Note 10, "Stock-Based Compensation", for further information 
on the treatment of stock-based compensation related to these purchased shares.

 On February 23, 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with the executive officer, in which the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of a 
sufficient number of vested shares of common stock from the executive officer, at an aggregate price sufficient to repay the Promissory Note (the "Stock Repurchase 
Agreement"). At the Closing Date on July 21, 2021, all outstanding principal and accrued interest under the Promissory Note was repaid and the note was retired.
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9. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Preferred Stock 

The Company has cumulatively raised $227.3 million, net of issuance costs, in venture financing through the sale and issuance of Preferred Stock and warrants as of 
December 31, 2020. The following table summarizes details of Convertible Preferred Stock authorized, issued and outstanding, and liquidation preference: 
 

   December 31, 2020  
   Convertible preferred stock  

   
Authorized

shares   
Shares issued

and outstanding   
Liquidation
preference  

         (in thousands)  
Series A   12,999,666    12,999,666   $ 500  
Series A-1   14,124,639    14,124,639    2,500  
Series A-2   24,197,491    24,197,491    11,098  
Series A-3   4,612,871    4,612,871    1,058  
Series A-4   4,173,740    4,173,740    1,531  
Series B   31,644,237    31,644,237    24,100  
Series B-1   16,477,658    16,477,658    24,110  
Series B-2   68,937,247    57,513,760    174,550  
Series B-3   11,185,544    —    —  
   188,353,093    165,744,062   $ 239,447  

 
Immediately prior to the closing of the Merger, all outstanding shares of each series of Legacy Berkshire Grey preferred stock were converted into shares of Legacy 

Berkshire Grey common stock. Warrants to purchase preferred stock (Series B-3) were cancelled pursuant to a warrant termination agreement with the warrant holder. At the 
closing of the Merger, each share of Legacy Berkshire Grey common stock was converted into the right to receive 5.87585 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. 
Share amounts are presented as having been converted as of December 31, 2020.  

10. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

In 2013, the Company adopted the Berkshire Grey, Inc. 2013 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plan (the “2013 Plan”) under which the Company may grant incentive 
stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, unrestricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, or other awards that are convertible into or based on 
company stock. The maximum number of shares that may be issued under the Plan was 58,863,225 (as converted for the effect of the Merger) shares as of December 31, 2021 
and December 31, 2020. 

On July 20, 2021, at a special general meeting of the shareholders of RAAC, the 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan for Berkshire Grey, Inc. (the “2021 Plan”) was 
approved reserving an initial limit of 19,887,747 of the Company’s Class A common stock for issuance under the 2021 Plan. All equity awards of Legacy Berkshire Grey that 
were issued under the 2013 Plan were converted into comparable equity awards that are settled or exercisable for shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. Each stock 
option granted under the 2013 Plan was converted into an option to purchase the Company’s Class A common stock based on an exchange ratio of 5.87585. Following 
effective date of the 2021 Plan, no additional awards shall be issued under the 2013 Plan. 

Stock-based compensation expense recognized for all stock-based awards is reported in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
loss as follows:  
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

Cost of sales  $ 557   $ 137  
General and administrative   19,353    3,245  
Sales and marketing   27,278    1,583  
Research and development   2,655    1,056  
Total  $ 49,843   $ 6,021  
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Stock Options 

The Company issued grants of 2,270,858 and 17,377,292 stock options during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the 2013 Plan and 2021 Plan since December 31, 2020: 
 

   Options   
Weighted-Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual
Term

(years)  
Outstanding at December 31, 2020   35,001,146   $ 0.80    7.8  

Granted   2,270,858    7.70    —  
Exercised   (6,574,818 )   0.48    —  
Cancelled   (21,090 )   1.11    —  
Forfeited   (1,240,777 )   0.80    —  

Outstanding at December 31, 2021   29,435,319   $ 1.40    7.5  
Exercisable at December 31, 2021   15,202,295   $ 0.71    6.5  
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2021   29,435,319   $ 1.40    7.5  

 
In determining the estimated fair value of the stock option awards, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of share option awards 

was estimated with the following assumptions:
  As of December 31,
  2021  2020

Expected volatility  32% - 34%  55.0%
Risk-free interest rate  .99% - 1.20%  .55% - .68%
Expected term (in years)  6.1  6.1
Expected dividend rate  0%  0%

 

As of December 31, 2021, 3,231,432 of the options outstanding are subject to performance-based vesting criteria described below.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised in the year December 31, 2021, was approximately $44.2 million.

The Company recognized approximately $22.0 million and $3.3 million in stock-based compensation expense related to stock options during the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, there was approximately $21.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested 
stock options. The total unrecognized compensation cost will be adjusted for future forfeitures as they occur. As of December 31, 2021, the Company expects to recognize its 
remaining stock-based compensation expense over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

Restricted Stock Sold Through Issuance of Promissory Note 

In conjunction with a Partial Recourse Promissory Note issued in October 2019 (See Note 8, "Related Party Transactions"), the Company also entered into a 
Restricted Stock Award Agreement with an executive officer (the “RSA Agreement”). Pursuant to the RSA Agreement, the Company granted 7,003,261 shares of common 
stock (the “Restricted Stock”) at a purchase price of $1.42 per share. The Restricted Stock was purchased by the executive officer with the proceeds from the Promissory Note. 
As the underlying Restricted Shares are not allocated to the recourse and non-recourse portions of the Promissory Note, the entire note was treated as non-recourse and the 
shares are treated as options for accounting purposes.

On February 23, 2021, the Company entered into a Stock Repurchase Agreement with the aforementioned executive officer. In the Stock Repurchase Agreement, the 
Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 1,023,825 vested shares of common stock from the executive officer which will repay, in full, all the outstanding 
principal and accrued interest under the Promissory Note. At the Closing Date, all outstanding principal and accrued interest under the Promissory Note was repaid and the 
note was retired. 

The RSA Agreement contains a Repurchase Option, which causes the shares to be classified as a liability. The Repurchase Option expires six months after the shares’ 
respective vesting date, at which point the shares will be reclassified as equity at the fair value on such date and no further compensation cost is recognized. A portion of the 
awards are subject to performance-based vesting conditions based primarily on financial performance of the Company and a portion are only subject to time and 
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service-based vesting conditions over a four-year period. The Company will remeasure the fair value of the award using the exchange traded price of Class A common stock at 
each reporting period until settlement. The Company recognizes compensation cost over the requisite service period with an offsetting credit to a share-based liability.

The underlying shares of Restricted Stock are not considered outstanding until the vesting conditions have been achieved. As of December 31, 2021, 3,063,991 shares 
of Restricted Stock have vested, and none were forfeited.

The Company recognized approximately $24.4 million and $2.7 million in stock-based compensation expense related to the Restricted Stock during the years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The expense is presented in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as sales and marketing 
expense and general and administrative expense, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, there was approximately $15.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost 
related to the Restricted Stock.

Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs")

Under the 2021 Plan, RSUs may be granted to employees, non-employees, and consultants. The RSUs vest ratably over a period ranging from one to four years and 
are subject to the participant’s continuing service to the Company over that period. Until vested, RSUs do not have the voting and dividend participation rights of common 
stock and the shares underlying the awards are not considered issued and outstanding.

The following table summarizes the RSU activity under the equity incentive plan:

 
   RSUs  

   RSU Activity   

Weighted-Average 
Grant Date Fair Value 

Per Share  
Balance as of December 30, 2020       

Granted   5,041,197   $ 6.33  
Vested   (37,043 )   7.61  
Forfeited   (79,911 )   7.61  

Outstanding at December 31, 2021   4,924,243   $ 6.30  
Expected to vest at December 31, 2021   4,924,243   $ 6.30  

 
The Company recognized approximately $3.5 million in stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs during the year ended December 31, 2021. The Company 

did not recognize any stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs during the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2021, there was approximately 
$27.9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs. As of December 31, 2021, the Company expects to recognize its remaining stock-based 
compensation expense over a weighted-average period of 3.6 years. 
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11. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements 

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and indicates the level of 
the fair value hierarchy used to determine such fair values: 
 

   December 31, 2021  
   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
   (in thousands)  

Assets             
Money Market funds in Cash and Cash
   Equivalents  $ 162,164   $ —   $ —   $ 162,164  
Total Assets  $ 162,164   $ —   $ —   $ 162,164  

Liabilities:             
Public Warrants  $ 8,625   $ —   $ —   $ 8,625  
Private Placement Warrants  $ —   $ 4,651   $ —   $ 4,651  

Total Liabilities  $ 8,625   $ 4,651   $ —   $ 13,276  
             

   December 31, 2020  
   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
   (in thousands)  

Assets             
Money Market funds in Cash and Cash
   Equivalents  $ 92,858   $ —   $ —   $ 92,858  
Total Assets  $ 92,858   $ —   $ —   $ 92,858  

  
Money market funds were valued by the Company using quoted prices in active markets for similar securities, which represent a Level 1 measurement within the fair 

value hierarchy.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company has Private Placement Warrants and Public Warrants ("Warrants") defined and discussed in Note 16, "Common Stock and 
Warrants". The Warrants are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company performs routine procedures such as comparing prices obtained from independent 
sources to ensure that appropriate fair values are recorded. Because the transfer of Private Placement Warrants to anyone outside of the initial purchasers would result in the 
Private Placement Warrants having substantially the same terms as the Public Warrants, the Company determined that the fair value of each Private Placement Warrant is 
consistent with that of a Public Warrant, with an insignificant adjustment for short-term marketability restrictions. Accordingly, the Private Placement Warrants are classified 
as Level 2 financial instruments. The Public and Private Warrants were valued as of December 31, 2021 using the listed trading price of $0.90 per Public Warrant.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3.

The change in fair value of warrant liabilities is as follows:
 

   Warrant Liabilities  
   (in thousands)  

Balance at December 31, 2020  $ —  
Private placement warrants and public warrants   24,338  
Exercised warrants   —  
Change in fair value   (11,061 )
Balance at December 31, 2021  $ 13,277  
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12. INCOME TAXES 

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded no income tax benefits due to the losses incurred and the uncertainty of future taxable 
income. For financial reporting purposes, net loss before income taxes, includes the following components: 
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

Domestic  $ (153,426 )  $ (57,638 )
Foreign   104    45  
Total  $ (153,322 )  $ (57,593 )

 
A reconciliation of the expected income tax (benefit) computed using the federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows: 

 
   Years Ended December 31,  

   2021   2020  
Federal statutory rate%   21.0 %   21.0 %
State rate, net of federal benefit%   7.5 %   4.1 %
Change in valuation allowance%   (28.0 )%   (30.0 )%
Tax credits generated%   3.3 %   5.9 %
Stock-based compensation%   (2.6 )%   (2.1 )%
Warrant revaluation%   1.5 %   1.4 %
Permanent differences%   (2.5 )%   (0.2 )%
Other Items   (0.3 )%   0.0 %
Effective tax rate%   (0.1 )%   0.1 %

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following: 

 
   Years Ended December 31,  

   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

Federal and state net operating carryforwards  $ 70,569   $ 36,988  
Research and development and other credits   13,046    8,000  
Stock-based compensation   1,742    240  
Deferred revenue   —    228  
Other   4,359    1,262  
Gross deferred tax assets   89,716    46,718  
Valuation allowance   (89,633 )   (46,722 )
Net deferred tax assets  $ 83   $ (4 )

 
Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. As required by ASC 740 Income Taxes, the Company evaluated the 

positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. As the Company has incurred tax losses from 
inception, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that the Company would not realize the benefits of federal and state net deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a 
full valuation allowance was established against the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $256.6 million and $143.2 million, respectively, which may be 
available to reduce future taxable income. The carryforwards generated in 2018 and prior expire at various dates through 2038. The $215.2 million in carryforwards generated 
from 2019 onwards do not expire. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of $263.2 million and $105.8 million, 
respectively, which may be available to reduce future taxable income. These carryforwards expire at various dates through 2041. In addition, the Company had federal and 
state research and development tax credit carryforwards of $14.2 million available to reduce future tax liabilities, which will expire at various dates through 2041. 
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Utilization of the Company’s net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and research and development (“R&D”) tax credit carryforwards may be subject to a 
substantial annual limitation due to ownership change limitations that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future in accordance with Section 382 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 (“Section 382”) as well as similar state provisions. These ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL and R&D tax credit carryforwards that can 
be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and taxes, respectively. In general, an ownership changes as defined by Section 382 results from transactions increasing 
the ownership of certain shareholders or public groups in the stock of a corporation by more than 50% over a three-year period. The Company has not conducted a study to 
assess whether a change of control has occurred or whether there have been multiple changes of control since inception due to significant complexity with such a study. If the 
Company has experienced a change of control, as defined by Section 382, at any time since inception, utilization of the NOL carryforwards or R&D tax credit carryforwards 
would be subject to an annual limitation under Section 382, which is determined by first multiplying the value of the Company’s stock at the time of the ownership change by 
the applicable long-term tax-exempt rate, and then could be subject to additional adjustments, as required. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the NOL 
carryforwards or R&D tax credit carryforwards before utilization. 

The Company operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions and is required to file tax returns in those jurisdictions. Since the Company is in a loss carryforward 
position, the Company is generally subject to examination by the U.S. federal, state, and local income tax authorities for all tax years in which a loss carryforward is available. 
The Company is currently not under examination by the Internal Revenue Service or any other jurisdiction for any tax years. The Company has not recorded any interest or 
penalties on any unrecognized tax benefits since inception. The Company does not believe material uncertain tax positions have arisen to date. 

13. NET LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS

Through the Merger, the Company added Class C stock to its capital structure. Class A and Class C common stock have identical rights, including liquidation and 
dividend rights, except the Company’s Class C common stock is convertible into Class A common stock, and is automatically converted into Class A common stock on a one-
for-one basis if the Company meets certain stock price performance thresholds following the completion of the Merger. The net loss attributable to common stockholders is 
allocated on a proportionate basis, and the resulting net loss per share is identical for Class A and Class C common stock under the two-class method.

The Company uses the two-class method to calculate net loss per share. No dividends were declared or paid for the years ended December 30, 2021 or 2020. The 
diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common stock equivalents during the period. The 
Company’s stock options are considered to be potential common stock equivalents but have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share attributable to 
common stockholders as their effect is antidilutive.

Net loss attributable to common stockholders is equivalent to net loss for all periods presented.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods presented:

 
  For the Twelve Months Ended December 31,  
  2021   2020  
  Class A   Class C   Class A   Class C  

Numerator:             
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (in 
thousands)

 $ (149,960 )  $ (3,437 )  $ (57,642 )  $ —  

Denominator:             
Weighted-average shares used in computing net 
loss per attributable to common stockholders, basic 
and diluted

  112,717,964    2,583,562    20,885,580    —  

Net loss per share             
Net loss per share attributable to common 
shareholders, basic and diluted

 $ (1.33 )  $ (1.33 )  $ (2.76 )  $ —  
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For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, options, warrants, restricted stock units, and restricted stock awards, representing approximately 29.4 million, 14.8 
million, 4.9 million, and 3.9 million shares of common stock, respectively, were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share as their effect would have been 
antidilutive. Accordingly, basic and diluted net loss per share are the same for both periods.

14. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

In its operation of the business, management, including our chief operating decision maker, who is also our Chief Executive Officer, reviews the business as one 
segment. The Company currently ships its products to markets in the United States and Japan. Product sales attributed to a country are based on the location of the customer to 
whom the products are being sold. Long-lived assets are primarily held in the United States. 

Product sales by country are as follows: 
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2021   2020  
   (in thousands)  

United  States  $ 45,781   $ 25,020  
Japan   5,071    9,815  
Total Revenue  $ 50,852   $ 34,835  

 
15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

The Company has various non-cancellable operating leases for facilities that expire at various dates through 2031. 

In September 2016, the Company executed a lease agreement for office space in Lexington, Massachusetts. The lease has an initial term of approximately five years 
with the option to extend the term for one additional five-year term. In December 2018, the Company executed the First Amendment to expand the premises. In addition to 
rent, the lease requires the Company to pay additional amounts for taxes, insurance, maintenance and other operating expenses. 

In February 2018, the Company executed a sublease agreement for additional office space in Lexington, Massachusetts. The sublease has a term of approximately 
three years. The sublease agreement expired during 2021 and will not be renewed.

In August 2019, the Company executed a lease agreement for office and warehouse space in Sharpsburg, Pennsylvania. The lease has an initial term of approximately 
five years and three months with an option to extend the term for one additional five-year term. In addition to rent, the lease requires the Company to pay additional amounts 
for taxes, insurance, maintenance, and other operating expenses. 

In February 2020, the Company executed a lease for its headquarters in Bedford, Massachusetts. The original 11-year lease for approximately 70,748 square feet of 
combined office and laboratory space is set to expire in 2031, with two options to extend the term for additional periods of five years each. The landlord agreed to provide the 
Company a construction allowance of up to $1.4 million to be applied toward the aggregate work completed on the total space. The Company provided an approximate $1.0 
million cash-collateralized irrevocable standby letter of credit as security for the Company’s obligations under the lease. The Company will also be required to pay its 
proportionate share of certain operating costs and property taxes applicable to the leased premises. 

Rental expense was approximately $2.0 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

As of December 31, 2021, future minimum rental commitments for operating leases with non-cancellable terms in excess of one year were as follows: 
 

   
Operating

Leases  

Years Ending December 31,  (in thousands)  
 2022  $ 1,601  
 2023   1,462  
 2024   1,504  
 2025   1,473  

 2026   1,287  
Thereafter   5,792  
Total  $ 13,119  
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16. COMMON STOCK AND WARRANTS 

Prior to the Merger, RAAC had three classes of authorized common stock: Class A common stock, Class B common stock, and Class C common stock. At the time of 
the Merger Class B shares automatically converted to Class A shares on a one-for-one basis. The shares of Class C common stock will automatically convert into shares of 
Class A common stock if the Company meets certain stock price performance thresholds following the completion of the Merger, on a one-for-one basis.

Merger Transaction

At the time of the Merger (as discussed in Note 3, "Merger"), each share of Legacy Berkshire Grey common and preferred stock was converted into the right to 
receive 5.87585 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock.

Class A Common Stock Warrants

          As the accounting acquirer, the Company is deemed to have assumed 5,166,667 warrants for Class A common stock that were sold in a private placement to RAAC 
Management, LLC at an exercise price of $11.50 (“Private Placement Warrants”) and 9,583,333 redeemable warrants for Class A common stock held by shareholders of 
RAAC at an exercise price of $11.50 (“Public Warrants”). The Public Warrants became exercisable 30 days after the consummation of the Merger and will expire five years 
from the consummation of the Merger or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

The Private Placement Warrants and Public Warrants for shares of Class A common stock meet liability classification requirements since the warrants may be 
required to be settled in cash under a tender offer. Therefore, these warrants are classified as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2021, no 
warrants have been exercised. 

As of December 31, 2021, the following Warrants were outstanding:
 

     
Warrant Type  Exercise Price  Shares

 Public Warrants  $11.50  9,583,333
 Private Placement Warrants  $11.50  5,166,667

Total Warrants Outstanding    14,750,000
 

Public Warrant Terms

Once the price per share of Class A common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 the Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants:

•in whole and not in part;
•at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant;
•upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and 
•if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the Class A common stock for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to 
the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders (“Reference Value”) equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted).

Once the price per share of Class A common stock equals or exceeds $10.00 the Company may redeem the outstanding Public Warrants:

•in whole and not in part;
•at $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis 
prior to redemption and receive that number of shares based on the redemption date and the “fair market value” of our Class A common stock;
•if, and only if, the Reference Value equals or exceeds $10.00 per share (as adjusted); and 
•if the Reference Value is less than $18.00 per share (as adjusted), the Private Placement Warrants must also be concurrently called for redemption on the same terms as 
the outstanding Public Warrants, as described above. 

Private Placement Warrants

The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants underlying the units sold in the Initial Public Offering, except that the Private Placement Warrants 
will be exercisable on a cashless basis and will be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private Placement 
Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by the Company and 
exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.
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  Exhibit 4.4
 

Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to
Section 12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

 
The Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Class A Common Stock”), and the redeemable warrants of Berkshire Grey, Inc. (“Berkshire Grey”, the 

“Company”, “we”, “us” or “our”) are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  The following 
description summarizes some of the terms of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). This 
description is summarized from, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, each of which is incorporated herein by reference and 
copies of which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as the 
relevant provisions of the DGCL.

Authorized Capitalization

General

The total amount of our authorized share capital consists of (a) 400,000,000 shares of capital stock including (i) 385,000,000 shares of Class A common stock (the 
“Class A Common Stock”) and (ii) 15,000,000 shares of Class C common stock (the “Class C Common Stock” and, together with the Class A Common Stock, the “Common 
Stock”), and (b) 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock (the “Preferred Stock”). 

Common Stock

Voting rights.    Each holder of Common Stock is entitled to one (1) vote for each share of Common Stock held of record by such holder and has the exclusive right 
to vote for the election of directors and on all matters voted upon by our stockholders, provided, however, that, except as otherwise required in the Charter or by applicable law, 
the holders of Common Stock are not entitled to vote on any amendment to the Charter that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the 
holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to the Charter (including any 
certificate of designation relating to any series of Preferred Stock) or pursuant to the DGCL.

Dividend rights.    Subject to any other provisions of the Charter, as it may be amended from time to time, holders of shares of Common Stock are entitled to receive 
ratably, in proportion to the number of shares of Common Stock held by them, such dividends and other distributions in cash, stock or property of Berkshire Grey when, as and 
if declared thereon by our board of directors or an authorized committee thereof from time to time out of assets or funds of Berkshire Grey legally available therefor.

Rights upon liquidation.    Subject to the rights of holders of Preferred Stock, in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, whether 
voluntary or involuntary, after payment or provision for payment of our debts and any other payments required by law and amounts payable upon shares of Preferred Stock 
ranking senior to the shares of Common Stock upon such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, if any, Berkshire Grey’s remaining net assets will be distributed pro rata to the 
holders of shares of Common Stock and the holders of shares of any other class or series ranking equally with the shares of Common Stock upon such dissolution, liquidation 
or winding up.

Conversion rights.     Shares of Class C Common Stock shall automatically convert into shares of Class A Common Stock at the earlier of: (i) a time in which the 
sale price of shares of the Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds:

(x) $15.25 if occurring before July 21, 2024;

(y) $23.00 if occurring before July 21, 2027; or

(z) $35.00 if occurring before July 21, 2030;
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and (ii) the date on which Berkshire Grey completes a merger, stock exchange, reorganization or other similar transaction that results in both a change of control and all of its 
public stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of Class A Common Stock for cash, securities or other property, in each case, on a one-for-one basis, subject to 
adjustment as is further set forth in the Charter.

Other rights.    No holder of shares of Common Stock is entitled to preemptive or subscription rights contained in the Charter or in the Bylaws. There are no 
redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the Common Stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of the Common Stock are subject to those of the 
holders of any shares of the Preferred Stock that Berkshire Grey may issue in the future.

Trading Symbol and Market.    Our Class A Common Stock is listed on the Nasdaq under the symbol “BGRY”.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors has the authority to issue shares of preferred stock from time to time on terms it may determine, to divide shares of preferred stock into one or 
more series and to fix the designations, preferences, privileges, and restrictions of preferred stock, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of 
redemption, liquidation preference, sinking fund terms, and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of any series to the fullest extent permitted by the 
DGCL. The issuance of Preferred Stock could have the effect of decreasing the trading price of Common Stock, restricting dividends on our capital stock, diluting the voting 
power of the Common Stock, impairing the liquidation rights of our capital stock, or delaying or preventing a change in control of Berkshire Grey.

Election of Directors and Vacancies

Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, the holders of Common Stock have 
the exclusive right to vote for the election of directors to our board of directors, and the number of directors on our board shall be fixed solely and exclusively by resolution duly 
adopted from time to time by the board, but shall initially consist of six (6) directors, which shall be divided into three (3) classes, designated Class I, II and III, with Class I 
consisting of two (2) directors, Class II consisting of two (2) directors and Class III consisting of two (2) directors.

Under the Bylaws, at all meetings of stockholders called for the election of directors, a plurality of the votes properly cast is sufficient to elect such directors to our 
board.

Except as the DGCL may otherwise require and subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, in the interim between annual meetings 
of stockholders or special meetings of stockholders called for the election of directors and/or the removal of one or more directors and the filling of any vacancy in that 
connection, newly created directorships and any vacancies on our board, including unfilled vacancies resulting from the removal of directors, may be filled only by the 
affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by the sole remaining director. All directors will hold office until the 
expiration of their respective terms of office and until their successors will have been elected and qualified. A director elected or appointed to fill a vacancy resulting from the 
death, resignation or removal of a director or a newly created directorship will serve for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the new directorship was 
created or the vacancy occurred and until his or her successor will have been elected and qualified.

Subject to the rights, if any, of any series of Preferred Stock, any director may be removed from office only with cause and only by the affirmative vote of the 
holders of not less than two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock of Berkshire Grey then entitled to vote at an election of directors. Any such director proposed to be removed 
from office is entitled to advance written notice as described in the Charter. In case any one or more directors should be so removed, new directors may be elected at the same 
time for the unexpired portion of the full term of the director or directors so removed.
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Our directors are empowered to exercise all such powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by Berkshire Grey, subject, nevertheless, to the 

provisions of the DGCL, the Charter and to the Bylaws, as in effect from time to time; provided, however, that no adopted bylaw will invalidate any prior act of the directors 
which would have been valid if such bylaw had not been adopted.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, any director elected pursuant to the right, if any, of the holders of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under 
specified circumstances will serve for such term or terms and pursuant to such other provisions as specified in the relevant certificate of designations related to the Preferred 
Stock.

Quorum

The holders of a majority of the voting power of the capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, will 
constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business except as otherwise required by law or provided by the Charter. If, however, such quorum 
is not present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the holders of a majority of the voting power present in person or represented by proxy, will have power to 
adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum will be present or represented. At such adjourned meeting at 
which a quorum is present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed. If the adjournment is for more 
than thirty (30) days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting will be given to each stockholder entitled 
to vote at such adjourned meeting as of the record date fixed for notice of such adjourned meeting.

Anti-takeover Effects of the Charter and the Bylaws

The Charter and the Bylaws contain provisions that may delay, defer or discourage another party from acquiring control of Berkshire Grey. We expect that these 
provisions, which are summarized below, will discourage coercive takeover practices or inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons 
seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our board of directors, which we believe may result in an improvement of the terms of any such acquisition in favor of our 
stockholders. However, they also give our board of directors the power to discourage acquisitions that some stockholders may favor.

Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock

Delaware law does not require stockholder approval for any issuance of authorized shares. However, the listing requirements of Nasdaq, which apply if and so long 
as the Common Stock (or warrants) remains listed on Nasdaq, require stockholder approval of certain issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of the then outstanding voting power 
or then outstanding number of shares of Common Stock. Additional shares that may be issued in the future may be used for a variety of corporate purposes, including future 
public offerings, to raise additional capital or to facilitate acquisitions.

One of the effects of the existence of unissued and unreserved common stock may be to enable our board of directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current 
management, which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of Berkshire Grey by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or 
otherwise and thereby protect the continuity of management and possibly deprive stockholders of opportunities to sell their shares of Common Stock at prices higher than 
prevailing market prices.

Special Meeting, Action by Written Consent and Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals

Unless otherwise required by law, and subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, special meetings of the stockholders of Berkshire 
Grey, for any purpose or purposes, may be called only (i) by a majority of our board of directors or (ii) at any time when no annual meeting has been held for a period of 
thirteen (13) months after Berkshire Grey’s last annual meeting, a special meeting in lieu thereof may be held, and such special meeting shall have, for the purposes of the 
Bylaws or otherwise, all the force and effect of an annual 
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meeting. Unless otherwise required by law, written notice of a special meeting of stockholders, stating the time, place and purpose or purposes thereof, shall be given to each 
stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting, not less than ten (10) or more than sixty (60) days before the date fixed for the meeting. Business transacted at any special meeting 
of stockholders will be limited to the purposes stated in the notice.

The Bylaws also provide that unless otherwise restricted by the Charter or the Bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of our board of 
directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all members of our board of directors or of such committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in 
writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the board or committee.

In addition, the Bylaws require advance notice procedures for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of the stockholders, including the 
nomination of directors. Stockholders at an annual meeting may only consider the proposals specified in the notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the 
direction of our board of directors, or by a stockholder of record on the record date for the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has delivered a timely written 
notice in proper form to Berkshire Grey’s Secretary, of the stockholder’s intention to bring such business before the meeting.

These provisions could have the effect of delaying until the next stockholder meeting any stockholder actions, even if they are favored by the holders of a majority 
of our outstanding voting securities.

Amendment of the Charter and the Bylaws

The DGCL provides generally that the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding stock entitled to vote on amendments to a corporation’s certificate of 
incorporation or bylaws is required to approve such amendment, unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as the case may be, requires a greater percentage.

The Charter provides that the following provisions therein may be amended, altered, repealed or rescinded only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66-
2⁄3% in voting power of all the then outstanding shares of Berkshire Grey’s capital stock entitled to vote thereon and the affirmative vote of at least 66-2⁄3% of the outstanding 
shares of each class entitled to vote thereon as a class:

• the provisions regarding the size of our board of directors and the election of directors;

• the provisions prohibiting stockholder actions without a meeting;

• the provisions regarding calling special meetings of stockholders;

• the provisions regarding removal of directors;

• the provisions regarding the limited liability of directors of Berkshire Grey; and

• the provisions regarding the size and classification of our board of directors and the election of directors not to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL.

The Bylaws may be amended or repealed (A) by the affirmative vote of a majority of our entire board of directors then in office (subject to any bylaw requiring the 
affirmative vote of a larger percentage of the members of the board) or (B) without the approval of our board of directors, by the affirmative vote of the holders of 66-2⁄3% of 
the outstanding voting stock of Berkshire Grey entitled to vote on such amendment or repeal, voting as a single class; provided that if our board of directors recommends that 
stockholders approve such amendment or repeal at such meeting of stockholders, then such amendment or repeal shall only require the affirmative vote of the majority of the 
outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote on such amendment or repeal, voting together as a single class.
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Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute

Section 203 of the DGCL provides that if a person acquires 15% or more of the voting stock of a Delaware corporation, such person becomes an “interested 
stockholder” and may not engage in certain “business combinations” with such corporation for a period of three years from the time such person acquired 15% or more of such 
corporation’s voting stock, unless: (a) the board of directors of such corporation approves the acquisition of stock or the merger transaction before the time that the person 
becomes an interested stockholder, (b) the interested stockholder owns at least 85% of the outstanding voting stock of such corporation at the time the merger transaction 
commences (excluding voting stock owned by directors who are also officers and certain employee stock plans), or (c) the merger transaction is approved by the board of 
directors and at a meeting of stockholders, not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the 
interested stockholder. A Delaware corporation may elect in its certificate of incorporation or bylaws not to be governed by this particular Delaware law.

Under the Charter, Berkshire Grey opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL.

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

The Charter limits the liability of our directors to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, and the Bylaws provide that we will indemnify them to the fullest extent 
permitted by such law. We have entered and expect to continue to enter into agreements to indemnify our directors, executive officers and other employees as determined by our 
board of directors. Under the terms of such indemnification agreements, we are required to indemnify each of our directors and officers, to the fullest extent permitted by the 
laws of the state of Delaware, if the basis of the indemnitee’s involvement was by reason of the fact that the indemnitee is or was a director or officer of Berkshire Grey or any 
of its subsidiaries or was serving at Berkshire Grey’s request in an official capacity for another entity. We must indemnify our officers and directors against all reasonable fees, 
expenses, charges and other costs of any type or nature whatsoever, including any and all expenses and obligations paid or incurred in connection with investigating, defending, 
being a witness in, participating in (including on appeal), or preparing to defend, be a witness or participate in any completed, actual, pending or threatened action, suit, claim or 
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, or establishing or enforcing a right to indemnification under the indemnification agreement. The 
indemnification agreements also require us, if so requested, to advance within 10 days of such request all reasonable fees, expenses, charges and other costs that such director or 
officer incurred, provided that such person will return any such advance if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification by us. Any claims for 
indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available 
to us.

Exclusive Jurisdiction of Certain Actions

The Bylaws require, to the fullest extent permitted by law, unless Berkshire Grey consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, that derivative actions 
brought in the name of Berkshire Grey, actions against directors, officers and employees for breach of fiduciary duty, actions asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision 
of the DGCL or the Charter or the Bylaws, actions to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of the Charter or the Bylaws and actions asserting a claim against 
Berkshire Grey governed by the internal affairs doctrine may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware and, if brought outside of Delaware, the 
stockholder bringing the suit will be deemed to have consented to service of process on such stockholder’s counsel. Although we believe this provision benefits Berkshire Grey 
by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits 
against our directors and officers.

In addition, the Bylaws require that, unless Berkshire Grey consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the United States District Court for the 
District of Massachusetts shall be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any action asserting a claim arising under the Securities Act. Berkshire Grey has chosen the United 
States District Court for the District of Massachusetts as the exclusive forum for such Securities Act causes of action because Berkshire Grey’s principal executive offices are 
located in Bedford, Massachusetts.

Warrants
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Public Warrants

Each whole warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as discussed 
below, at any time commencing on August 20, 2021, provided that Berkshire Grey has an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering the Class A 
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and a current prospectus relating to them is available (or we permit holders to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis 
under the circumstances specified in the warrant agreement) and such shares are registered, qualified or exempt from registration under the securities, or blue sky, laws of the 
state of residence of the holder. Pursuant to the warrant agreement, a warrant holder may exercise its warrants only for a whole number of shares of Class A Common Stock. 
This means only a whole warrant may be exercised at a given time by a warrant holder. The warrants will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on July 21, 2026, which is 
five years after the completion of our business combination (the “Business Combination”) pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated February 23, 2021, by 
and among Berkshire Grey Operating Company, Inc. (f/k/a Berkshire Grey, Inc.), the Company, (f/k/a Revolution Acceleration Acquisition Corp. (“RAAC”), and Pickup 
Merger Corp, a Delaware corporation and a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of RAAC, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

We will not be obligated to deliver any shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of a warrant and will have no obligation to settle such warrant 
exercise unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants is then effective and a 
prospectus relating thereto is current, subject to our satisfying our obligations described below with respect to registration, or a valid exemption from registration is available, 
including in connection with a cashless exercise permitted as a result of a notice of redemption described below under “Redemption of warrants when the price per share of 
Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00.” No warrant will be exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, and we will not be obligated to issue a share of Class A 
Common Stock upon exercise of a warrant unless the share of Class A Common Stock issuable upon such warrant exercise has been registered, qualified or deemed to be 
exempt under the securities laws of the state of residence of the registered holder of the warrants. In the event that the conditions in the two immediately preceding sentences are 
not satisfied with respect to a warrant, the holder of such warrant will not be entitled to exercise such warrant and such warrant may have no value and expire worthless. In no 
event will we be required to net cash settle any warrant.

We agreed that as soon as practicable, but in no event later than fifteen (15) business days after the closing of the Business Combination, we would use our 
commercially reasonable efforts to file with the SEC a registration statement covering the shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants, and that we 
would use our commercially reasonable efforts to cause the same to become effective within sixty (60) business days after the closing of the Business Combination, and to 
maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement and a current prospectus relating to those shares of Class A Common Stock until the warrants expire or are redeemed, 
as specified in the warrant agreement; provided that if our shares of Class A Common Stock are at the time of any exercise of a warrant not listed on a national securities 
exchange such that they satisfy the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, we may, at our option, require holders of public warrants who 
exercise their warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event we so elect, we will not be required to file or 
maintain in effect a registration statement. During any other period when we fail to maintain an effective registration statement covering the issuance of the shares of Class A 
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants, holders of the warrants will have the right to exercise such warrants on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)
(9) of the Securities Act or another exemption, but we will use commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an 
exemption is not available.

Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, we may redeem the 
warrants: 

• in whole and not in part;

• at a price of $0.01 per warrant;
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• upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and

• if, and only if, the last reported sale price of Class A Common Stock for any 20-trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the 
date on which we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders (which we refer to as the “Reference Value”) equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for 
adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant as described below under “— Anti-Dilution Adjustments”).

We will not redeem the warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the shares of Class A Common 
Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating to those shares of Class A Common Stock is available throughout the 30-day 
redemption period. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying 
securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

We have established the last of the redemption criterion discussed above to prevent a redemption call unless there is at the time of the call a significant premium to 
the warrant exercise price. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and we issue a notice of redemption of the warrants, each warrant holder will be entitled to exercise his, her 
or its warrant prior to the scheduled redemption date. However, the price of the shares of Class A Common Stock may fall below the $18.00 redemption trigger price (as 
adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant) as well as the $11.50 (for whole shares) warrant exercise price after 
the redemption notice is issued.

Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, we may redeem the 
warrants:

• in whole and not in part;

• at $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption, provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis prior 
to redemption and receive that number of shares determined by reference to the table below, based on the redemption date and the “fair market value” of the Class A 
Common Stock, except as otherwise described below;

• if, and only if, the Reference Value (as defined above under “Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00”) 
equals or exceeds $10.00 per public share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant); and

• if the Reference Value is less than $18.00 per share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant as 
described below under “—Anti-Dilution Adjustments”), the private placement warrants must also be concurrently called for redemption on the same terms as the outstanding 
public warrants, as described above.

During the period beginning on the date the notice of redemption is given, holders may elect to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis. The numbers in the table 
below represent the number of shares of Class A Common Stock that a warrant holder will receive upon such cashless exercise in connection with a redemption by us pursuant 
to this redemption feature, based on the “fair market value” of the Class A Common Stock on the corresponding redemption date (assuming holders elect to exercise their 
warrants and such warrants are not redeemed for $0.10 per warrant), determined for these purposes based on volume weighted average price of the shares of the Class A 
Common Stock during the ten trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants, and the number of months that 
the corresponding redemption date precedes the expiration date of the warrants, each as set forth in the table below. We will provide our warrant holders with the final fair 
market value no later than one business day after the ten-trading day period described above ends.
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The share prices set forth in the column headings of the table below will be adjusted as of any date on which the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a 

warrant or the exercise price of a warrant is adjusted as set forth under the heading “— Anti-dilution Adjustments” below. If the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a 
warrant is adjusted, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the share prices immediately prior to such adjustment, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of 
which is the number of shares deliverable upon exercise of a warrant immediately prior to such adjustment and the denominator of which is the number of shares deliverable 
upon exercise of a warrant as so adjusted. The number of shares in the table below shall be adjusted in the same manner and at the same time as the number of shares issuable 
upon exercise of a warrant. If the exercise price of a warrant is adjusted, (a) in the case of an adjustment pursuant to the fifth paragraph under the heading “— Anti-dilution 
Adjustments” below, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the unadjusted share price multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the higher of the 
Market Value and the Newly Issued Price as set forth under the heading “— Anti-dilution Adjustments” and the denominator of which is $10.00 and (b) in the case of an 
adjustment pursuant to the second paragraph under the heading “— Anti-dilution Adjustments” below, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the unadjusted 
share price less the decrease in the exercise price of a warrant pursuant to such exercise price adjustment.

Redemption Date (period to expiration 
of warrants)

Redemption Fair Market Value of shares of Common Stock
£10.00 11.00 12.00 13.00 14.00 15.00 16.00 17.00 ³18.00

60 months 0.261 0.281 0.297 0.311 0.324 0.337 0.348 0.358 0.361
57 months 0.257 0.277 0.294 0.31 0.324 0.337 0.348 0.358 0.361
54 months 0.252 0.272 0.291 0.307 0.322 0.335 0.347 0.357 0.361
51 months 0.246 0.268 0.287 0.304 0.32 0.333 0.346 0.357 0.361
48 months 0.241 0.263 0.283 0.301 0.317 0.332 0.344 0.356 0.361
45 months 0.235 0.258 0.279 0.298 0.315 0.33 0.343 0.356 0.361
42 months 0.228 0.252 0.274 0.294 0.312 0.328 0.342 0.355 0.361
39 months 0.221 0.246 0.269 0.29 0.309 0.325 0.34 0.354 0.361
36 months 0.213 0.239 0.263 0.285 0.305 0.323 0.339 0.353 0.361
33 months 0.205 0.232 0.257 0.28 0.301 0.32 0.337 0.352 0.361
30 months 0.196 0.224 0.25 0.274 0.297 0.316 0.335 0.351 0.361
27 months 0.185 0.214 0.242 0.268 0.291 0.313 0.332 0.35 0.361
24 months 0.173 0.204 0.233 0.26 0.285 0.308 0.329 0.348 0.361
21 months 0.161 0.193 0.223 0.252 0.279 0.304 0.326 0.347 0.361
18 months 0.146 0.179 0.211 0.242 0.271 0.298 0.322 0.345 0.361
15 months 0.13 0.164 0.197 0.23 0.262 0.291 0.317 0.342 0.361
12 months 0.111 0.146 0.181 0.216 0.25 0.282 0.312 0.339 0.361
9 months 0.09 0.125 0.162 0.199 0.237 0.272 0.305 0.336 0.361
6 months 0.065 0.099 0.137 0.178 0.219 0.259 0.296 0.331 0.361
3 months 0.034 0.065 0.104 0.15 0.197 0.243 0.286 0.326 0.361
0 months —  —  0.042 0.115 0.179 0.233 0.281 0.323 0.361

 

The exact fair market value and redemption date may not be set forth in the table above, in which case, if the fair market value is between two values in the table or 
the redemption date is between two redemption dates in the table, the number of shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued for each warrant exercised will be determined by 
a straight-line interpolation between the number of shares set forth for the higher and lower fair market values and the earlier and later redemption dates, as applicable, based on 
a 365 or 366-day year, as applicable. For example, if the volume weighted average price of the shares of Class A Common Stock as reported during the 10 trading days 
immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants is $11.00 per 
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share, and at such time there are fifty seven (57) months until the expiration of the warrants, holders may choose to, in connection with this redemption feature, exercise their 
warrants for 0.277 shares of Class A Common Stock for each whole warrant. For an example where the exact fair market value and redemption date are not as set forth in the 
table above, if the volume weighted average price of the shares of Class A Common Stock as reported during the ten (10) trading days immediately following the date on which 
the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants is $13.50 per share, and at such time there are thirty eight (38) months until the expiration of the warrants, holders 
may choose to, in connection with this redemption feature, exercise their warrants for 0.298 shares of Class A Common Stock for each whole warrant. In no event will the 
warrants be exercisable in connection with this redemption feature for more than 0.361 shares of Class A Common Stock per warrant (subject to adjustment). Finally, as 
reflected in the table above, if the warrants are out of the money and about to expire, they cannot be exercised on a cashless basis in connection with a redemption by us 
pursuant to this redemption feature, since they will not be exercisable for any shares of Class A Common Stock.

This redemption feature differs from the typical warrant redemption features used in some other blank check offerings, which typically only provide for a 
redemption of warrants for cash (other than the private placement warrants) when the trading price for the shares of Class A Common Stock exceeds $18.00 per share for a 
specified period of time. This redemption feature is structured to allow for all of the outstanding warrants to be redeemed when the shares of Class A Common Stock are trading 
at or above $10.00 per share, which may be at a time when the trading price of our shares of Class A Common Stock is below the exercise price of the warrants. We have 
established this redemption feature to provide us with the flexibility to redeem the warrants without the warrants having to reach the $18.00 per share threshold set forth above. 
Holders choosing to exercise their warrants in connection with a redemption pursuant to this feature will, in effect, receive a number of shares of Class A Common Stock for 
their warrants based on an option pricing model with a fixed volatility input. This redemption right provides us with an additional mechanism by which to redeem all of the 
outstanding warrants, and therefore have certainty as to our capital structure as the warrants would no longer be outstanding and would have been exercised or redeemed. We 
will be required to pay the applicable redemption price to warrant holders if we choose to exercise this redemption right and it will allow us to quickly proceed with a 
redemption of the warrants if we determine it is in our best interest to do so. As such, we would redeem the warrants in this manner when we believe it is in our best interest to 
update our capital structure to remove the warrants and pay the redemption price to the warrant holders.

As stated above, we can redeem the warrants when the shares of Class A Common Stock are trading at a price starting at $10.00, which is below the exercise price 
of $11.50, because it will provide certainty with respect to our capital structure and cash position while providing warrant holders with the opportunity to exercise their warrants 
on a cashless basis for the applicable number of shares. If we choose to redeem the warrants when the shares of Class A Common Stock are trading at a price below the exercise 
price of the warrants, this could result in the warrant holders receiving fewer shares of Class A Common Stock than they would have received if they had chosen to exercise 
their warrants for shares of Class A Common Stock if and when such shares were trading at a price higher than the exercise price of $11.50.

No fractional shares of Class A Common Stock will be issued upon exercise. If, upon exercise, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share, 
we will round down to the nearest whole number of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued to the holder. If, at the time of redemption, the warrants are 
exercisable for a security other than the shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the warrant agreement, the warrants may be exercised for such security. At such time as 
the warrants become exercisable for a security other than the shares of Class A Common Stock, Berkshire Grey (or a surviving company) will use its commercially reasonable 
efforts to register under the Securities Act the security issuable upon the exercise of the warrants.

Redemption Procedures.    A holder of a warrant may notify us in writing in the event it elects to be subject to a requirement that such holder will not have the right 
to exercise such warrant, to the extent that after giving effect to such exercise, such person (together with such person’s affiliates), to the warrant agent’s actual knowledge, 
would beneficially own in excess of 9.8% (or such other amount as a holder may specify) of the shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately after 
giving effect to such exercise.

Anti-dilution Adjustments.    If the number of issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock is increased by a stock dividend payable in shares of Class A 
Common Stock, or by a split-up of common stock or 
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other similar event, then, on the effective date of such stock dividend, split-up or similar event, the number of shares of Class A Common Stock issuable on exercise of each 
warrant will be increased in proportion to such increase in the issued and outstanding shares of common stock. A rights offering made to all or substantially all holders of 
common stock entitling holders to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at a price less than the “historical fair market value” (as defined below) will be deemed a share 
dividend of a number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Class A Common Stock actually sold in such rights offering (or 
issuable under any other equity securities sold in such rights offering that are convertible into or exercisable for shares of Class A Common Stock) and (ii) one minus the 
quotient of (x) the price per shares of Class A Common Stock paid in such rights offering and (y) the historical fair market value. For these purposes, (i) if the rights offering is 
for securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of Class A Common Stock, in determining the price payable for shares of Class A Common Stock, there will be taken 
into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional amount payable upon exercise or conversion and (ii) “historical fair market value” means the 
volume weighted average price of shares of Class A Common Stock as reported during the 10 trading day period ending on the trading day prior to the first date on which the 
shares of Class A Common Stock trade on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way, without the right to receive such rights.

In addition, if we, at any time while the warrants are outstanding and unexpired, pay to all or substantially all of the holders of the Class A Common Stock a 
dividend or make a distribution in cash, securities or other assets to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock on account of such shares (or other securities into which the 
warrants are convertible), other than (a) as described above, or (b) any cash dividends or cash distributions which, when combined on a per share basis with all other cash 
dividends and cash distributions paid on the shares of Class A Common Stock during the 365-day period ending on the date of declaration of such dividend or distribution does 
not exceed $0.50 (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) but only with respect to the amount of the aggregate cash 
dividends or cash distributions equal to or less than $0.50 per share, then the warrant exercise price will be decreased, effective immediately after the effective date of such 
event, by the amount of cash and/or the fair market value of any securities or other assets paid on each share of Class A Common Stock in respect of such event.

If the number of issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse stock split or reclassification of 
share of Class A Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse stock split, reclassification or similar event, the 
number of shares of Class A Common Stock issuable on exercise of each warrant will be decreased in proportion to such decrease in issued and outstanding shares of Class A 
Common Stock.

Whenever the number of shares of Class A Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants is adjusted, as described above, the warrant exercise price 
will be adjusted by multiplying the warrant exercise price immediately prior to such adjustment by a fraction (x) the numerator of which will be the number of shares of Class A 
Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants immediately prior to such adjustment and (y) the denominator of which will be the number of shares of Class A 
Common Stock so purchasable immediately thereafter.

In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock (other than those described above or that solely 
affects the par value of such shares of Class A Common Stock), or in the case of any merger or consolidation of us with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation 
or merger in which we are the continuing corporation and that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of our issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common 
Stock), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the assets or other property of us as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection 
with which we are dissolved, the holders of the warrants will thereafter have the right to purchase and receive, upon the basis and upon the terms and conditions specified in the 
warrants and in lieu of the shares of Class A Common Stock immediately theretofore purchasable and receivable upon the exercise of the rights represented thereby, the kind 
and amount of shares, stock or other equity securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a 
dissolution following any such sale or transfer, that the holder of the warrants would have received if such holder had exercised their warrants immediately prior to such event. 
However, if such holders were entitled to exercise a right of election as to the kind or amount of securities, cash or other assets receivable upon such merger or consolidation, 
then the kind and amount of securities, cash or other assets for which each warrant will become exercisable will be deemed to be the weighted 
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average of the kind and amount received per share by such holders in such merger or consolidation that affirmatively make such election, and if a tender, exchange or 
redemption offer has been made to and accepted by such holders under circumstances in which, upon completion of such tender or exchange offer, the maker thereof, together 
with members of any group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act) of which such maker is a part, and together with any affiliate or associate of such 
maker (within the meaning of Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) and any members of any such group of which any such affiliate or associate is a part, own beneficially 
(within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) more than 50% of the issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock, the holder of a warrant will be 
entitled to receive the highest amount of cash, securities or other property to which such holder would actually have been entitled as a stockholder if such warrant holder had 
exercised the warrant prior to the expiration of such tender or exchange offer, accepted such offer and all of the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such holder had been 
purchased pursuant to such tender or exchange offer, subject to adjustment (from and after the consummation of such tender or exchange offer) as nearly equivalent as possible 
to the adjustments provided for in the warrant agreement. Additionally, if less than 70% of the consideration receivable by the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock in 
such a transaction is payable in the form of shares of Class A Common Stock in the successor entity that is listed for trading on a national securities exchange or is quoted in an 
established over-the-counter market, or is to be so listed for trading or quoted immediately following such event, and if the registered holder of the warrant properly exercises 
the warrant within thirty days following public disclosure of such transaction, the warrant exercise price will be reduced as specified in the warrant agreement based on the 
Black-Scholes value (as defined in the warrant agreement) of the warrant.

The warrants are issued in registered form under a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, and us. The warrant 
agreement provides that (a) the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision or correct any 
mistake, including (i) to conform the provisions of the warrant agreement to the description of the terms of the warrants and the warrant agreement set forth in RAAC’s initial 
public offering prospectus, or defective provision or (ii) adding or changing any provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the warrant agreement as the 
parties to the warrant agreement may deem necessary or desirable and that the parties deem to not adversely affect the rights of the registered holders of the warrants and (b) all 
other modifications or amendments require the vote or written consent of at least 65% of the then outstanding public warrants and, solely with respect to any amendment to the 
terms of the private placement warrants or any provision of the warrant agreement with respect to the private placement warrants, at least 65% of the then outstanding private 
placement warrants. You should review a copy of the warrant agreement, which is incorporated herein by reference and a copy of which is incorporated by reference as an 
exhibit to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, for a complete description of the terms and conditions applicable to 
the warrants.

The warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of shares of Class A Common Stock and any voting rights until they exercise their warrants and 
receive shares of Class A Common Stock.

We have agreed that, subject to applicable law, any action, proceeding or claim against us arising out of or relating in any way to the warrant agreement will be 
brought and enforced in the courts of the State of New York or the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and we irrevocably submit to such 
jurisdiction, which jurisdiction will be the exclusive forum for any such action, proceeding or claim. This provision applies to claims under the Securities Act but does not apply 
to claims under the Exchange Act or any claim for which the federal district courts of the United States of America are the sole and exclusive forum.

Private Placement Warrants

The Private Placement Warrants (including the shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the private placement warrants) were not transferable, 
assignable or salable until at least 30 days after the completion the Business Combination, except pursuant to limited exceptions to our directors and officers and other persons 
or entities affiliated with RAAC Management LLC, and they will not be redeemable by us (except as described under “— Redemption of warrants when the price per share of 
Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00”) so long as they are held by RAAC Management LLC or its permitted transferees. RAAC Management LLC, or its permitted 
transferees, has the option to exercise the private placement warrants on a cashless basis and have certain registration rights described herein. Otherwise, the private placement 
warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the warrants being sold as part of the units in this offering. If the private 
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placement warrants are held by holders other than RAAC Management LLC or its permitted transferees, the private placement warrants will be redeemable by us in all 
redemption scenarios and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the warrants included in the units being sold in this offering.

Except as described under “— Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00,” if holders of the private 
placement warrants elect to exercise them on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its warrants for that number of shares of Class A 
Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants, multiplied by the excess 
of the “historical fair market value” (defined below) less the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the historical fair market value. For these purposes, the “historical fair market 
value” shall mean the average last reported sale price of the Class A Common Stock for the ten trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice 
of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant agent.

Trading Symbol and Market.    Our warrants are listed on the Nasdaq under the symbol “BGRYW”.

Transfer Agent and Warrant Agent

The transfer agent for our common stock and warrant agent for our warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. We have agreed to indemnify 
Continental in its roles as transfer agent and warrant agent, its agents and each of its stockholders, directors, officers and employees against all liabilities, including judgments, 
costs and reasonable counsel fees that may arise out of acts performed or omitted for its activities in that capacity, except for any liability due to any gross negligence, willful 
misconduct or bad faith of the indemnified person or entity.
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EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
We have issued our report dated March 29, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report of Berkshire Grey, Inc. on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2021.  We consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statement of Berkshire Grey, Inc. on Form S-8 (No. 333-
259816).
 
/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
 
Boston, Massachusetts
March 29, 2022
 





 
Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas Wagner, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Berkshire Grey, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of 
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting.

 
   Berkshire Grey, Inc. 
    
Date: March 29, 2022   By: /s/ Thomas Wagner
      Thomas Wagner
      Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)
 
 





 
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Fidler, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Berkshire Grey, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of 
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting.

 
   Berkshire Grey, Inc.
    
Date: March 29, 2022   By: /s/ Mark Fidler
      Mark Fidler
      Chief Financial Officer and Accounting Officer
   (Principal Financial Officer)
 
 





 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Berkshire Grey, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas Wagner, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
   Berkshire Grey, Inc. 
    
Date: March 29, 2022   By: /s/ Thomas Wagner
      Name: Thomas Wagner
      Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)
 
 
 





 
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Berkshire Grey, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark Fidler, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
   Berkshire Grey, Inc.
    
Date: March 29, 2022   By: /s/ Mark Fidler
      Name: Mark Fidler
      Chief Financial and Accounting Officer
   (Principal Financial Officer)

 
 

 
 




